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Ths report includes statements that are forward-looking
inrature Forward-lockang staterments mvolve known and
unknown nisks, uncertantes and other factors whach may
cause the actual resuits, performance or acheverments of
Liberty International PLC to be matenally different from any
future resuits, performance or achevements expressed
orimphed by such forward-lockang statements.

Dividend

The Directors of Liberty international PLC have proposed a final dividend per
ordinary share (ISIN GB0006834344) of 17 6p (2006 — 17 25p) to bang the total
dvidend per ordinary share for the year to 34 1p (2006 - 31 Op)

As a Real Estate Investment Trust {"REIT), Liberty Intemationat is required to
distnbute part of its ncome as a Property Income Distnbution (“PID7) The tax
treatment of a PID s different to that of a nen-PID, PIDs are required to be pad
after deduction of withholding tax unless specific exemptions apply

The 2007 intenm dvdend paid on 4 September 2007 was pad wholly as a PID

The proposed final dividend will be paid wholly as a non-PID, and therefore
will not be subject to deduction of wathholding tax.

The following are the salient dates for the payment of the final dvidend

Tuesday 22 Apnl 2008 Stering/Rand exchange rate struck
Monday 5 May 2008 Ordinary shares listed ex-dmdend

on the JSE, Johannesburg
Wednesday 7 May 2008 Ordinary shares listed ex-dmdend

on the London Stock Exchange
Fnday 9 May 2008 Record date for 2007 final drvidend

in London and Johannesburg
Wednesday 28 May 2008 Dmvidend payment day for shareholders

(Note Payment to ADR holders will be
made on 11 Jung 2008}

South Afncan shareholders should note that, in accordance with the
requirements of Strate, the last day to trade cum-dvdend will be Friday 2 May
2008 and that no dematenalisation or rematenalsation of shares will be possible
from Monday & May to Fnday 9 May 2008 inclusive

No transfers between the UK and South Afncan registers may tale place from Wednesday
23 Aprd 1o Sunday 11 May 2008 inclusne




Liberty International
Introduction

Liberty International PLC is the UK''s third largest listed property company and a constituent
of the FTSE 100 Index of the UK’s leading hsted compantes  Liberty International converted into
a UK Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT") on 1 January 2007

Liberty International owns 100 per cent of Capital Shopping Centres (“CSC"), the premier UK regional
shopping centre business, and of Capital & Counties, a retal and commercial property investment and
development company

At 31 December 2007, Liberty International owned £8 6 billion of properties of which UK regional
shopping centres compnsed 75 per cent and retall property in aggregate 88 per cent Shareholders'’
funds and mnonty interests amounted to £4 7 billon Assets of the group under control or joint control
amounted to £11 O billion at that date

Capital Shopping Centres has nterests in 14 UK regional shopping centres amounting to

126 milion sg ft n aggregate mcluding eight of the UK’s top 21 regional shopping centres with

a market value of £6 5 billion at 31 December 2007 CSC’s largest centres are MetroCentre, Gateshead,
Lakeside, Thurrock, Manchester Amdale, Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow, and The Mall at Cribbs
Causeway, Bnstol In addition, CSC has three major development projects In progress or with planning
permission In Cardiff, Newcastle and Oxford

Capital & Counties owned assets of £2 2 billion at 31 December 2007 amounting to 7 2 milion sq ft
in aggregate Capital & Counties had £664 milion invested in the Covent Garden area including the
historic Covent Garden Market, and £353 milion in Central London, primarnly through the Great Capttal
Partnership, a joint venture with Great Portland Estates plc Capital & Counties acquired 50 per cent

of EC&0O Venues (Earls Court and Olympia Group) in 2007 for a sum that valued the assets at
approximately £375 milion In addition, Capital & Counties has interests in the USA amounting

to £381 milion (2 7 millon sq ft ), predominantly comprising retall assets in California, including the
856,000 sq ft Serramonte Shopping Centre, Daly City, San Francisco

Please note that additional inforration for shareholders relating to the Liberty International Group is
avallable on the company’s website, www liberty-nternational co uk
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Highlights

“Notwithstanding the challenging conditions which emerged in the UK property market in the
second half of 2007, Liberty Intemational has fared extremely well with record occupancy levels
at our UK regional shopping centres and a tremendous contribution from our non-shopping
centre business which has been completely transformed over the last 18 months and now
includes such pnme assets as the Covent Garden Estate in London’s West End.

We have a business of exceptional quality; a high degree of specialisation on prime retaill which
constitutes nearly 90 per cent of our assets; the benefits of scale; and financial strength, with
a 42 per cent debt to assets ratio and long-term fixed rate debt.

The results for the year, including a 6 per cent increase in underlying profit before tax to
£129 million, confirm the defensive ments of our UK regional shopping centres with resiient
income streams and relatively undemanding valuation yrelds

We are weli placed to continue the measured growth of this high quality company.”

Sir Robert Finch
Chairman

Year ended Yeer ended
31 December 31 December
2007 2006
Net rental income +10% £374m £341m
Profit before tax (undertying)* +6% £129m £122m
(Defict)/gain on revaluation and sale of nvestment properties £(279)m £587m
{Loss)/profit before tax £(125)m £903m
Total properties £8,666m £8,232m
Net debt £3,668m £3,063m
Net assets (diluted, adjusted) £4,75Tm £5,002m
Adjusted earmings per share +6% 36.0p 339
Dmdend per share +10% 34.1p 310p
Net assets per share (dluted, adjusted)™ -5% 1264p 1327p

* Before property trading, valuation and exceptonal items

- Net assets per share {diuted, adusted) would ncrease by 104p per share to 1368p at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006 — by 98p 1o 1425p) f adusted
for notional acquistion costs armounting to £330 millon (31 December 2006 - €370 mlion)
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Highlights (continued)

=¥ Stability and resilence of CSC's £6 5 billion prime UK regional shopping centres
— like-for-like net rental Income growth of 3 5 per cent
— high occupancy level of 98 7 per cent
— 138 tenancy changes In year ncreasing rent roll by £7 millon per annum

- Dynamic realignment of non-shopping centres and intemational business with £2 2 billion investment
propertes, including Central London ownership increased to £1 4 bilion
— consolidation of Covent Garden ownership to £664 million
— formation of Great Capital Partnership, now with £654 million of assets (50 per cent owned)
— £375 milion Earls Court and Olympia acquisttion (50 per cent owned)

-» Strong relative valuation performance of Liberty International on a ike-for-ike basis as set out below

Nre months S months
ended

Year ended ended
31 December 30 September 31 December
2007 2007 2007
— UK regional shopping centres -39% +17% +26%
— UK non-shopping centre properties 0.2% +31% +32%
- USA +65% +65% +37%

By companson, IPD monthly mdex caprtal returns for 2007 were minus
10 0 per cent All Property and minus 11 8 per cent Retall

-» Approximately 25 basis points upward shift in valuation yields (ike-for-like assets) in final quarter
of 2007

Aas at Asat Asat As at

31 December 30 September J0Jdune 31 December

2007 2007 2007 206

— UK regional shopping centres 507% 482% 477% 484%
— UK non-shopping centre properties 518% 494% 495% 489%

=» Net asset value per share {diuted, adjusted) reduced by S per cent from 1327p to 1264p, equivalent
to 1368p (2006 — 1425p) adjusted for notional acquisition costs

=¥ Total retum for the year ncluding dvidends of minus 2 2 per cent

=2 Ten year total return (NAV increase plus dividends) of 12 4 per cent per annum compound
(2006 - 15 1 per cent)

= Committed expenditure to complete current development programme around £300 million, Including
— St David's 2, Cardiff, opening Autumn 2009
- Eldon Square South, Newcastle, opering Spnng 2010

-> Disposals of £34C milhon at £37 millon surplus over 31 December 2006 book values, also, CSC's interest
In MetroCentre, Gateshead reduced by 40 per cent for £426 milion consideration, a £16 mullion surplus

=¥ Robust financial postion
- 42 per cent debt to assets ratio
— over £725 millon cash and undrawn committed facilities
— no significant debt matunties before 2011
— debt mostly fixed rate and asset specific
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Summary of investment and

development properties

Market value Revaluabon surplus Net rental income
31 Decamber 31 December
2006 2007 Incresse/ 2008 2007
£m £m £m {Decrease) £m £m Increase
UK regional shopping centres
Lakeside, Thurrock 1,298 6 1,247.9 {56 5) (4 4)%
MetroCentre, Gateshead 1,6250 1,010.0 (437) 42)%
Brashead, Glasgow 7461 730.3 (159) (21)%
The Harlequin, Watford 5236 506.2 (17 0) 33%
Victoria Centre, Nottingham 4411 444.8 35 08%
Chapeffield, Norwich 3540 324.5 (15 1) (4 5)%
Cribbs Causeway, Bristol 3116 206.3 (150) (4 8)%
The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent 3075 278.3 8320 (10 4%
The Chimes, Uxbrdge 2750 261.8 {133 (4 9)%
The Glades, Bromley 2695 257.2 {16 1) (5 6)%
Like-for-like capital and income 55520 5,367.3 (221 1) (4 0)% 2392 2475 3.5%
Arndale, Manchester 4283 4185 (126 29%
Eldon Square, Newcastle upon Tyne 240 1 258.0 {115) (4 2%
St Dawvd's, Cardiff 104 3 1012 {4 3) 4 1Y%
Xscape, Braehead 394 39.8 (24) 62)%
Like-for-like capital 6,364 1 6,174.8 (2519 {3.9)% 267 0 283.2 6 1%
Acquisttions - 77.0 94 (109)% - 1.9
Redevelopments and developments 193 2 229.3 (28 2) (110)% 50 3.7
Total UK regional
shopping centres 6,557 3 6,481.1 (289 5) (4 3)% 2720 288.8 6 2%
UK non-shopping centre properties
Like-for-like capital and income 3800 383.3 15 04% 182 18.5 1.6%
Like-for-like other 4708 4724 27 06)% 85 18.0
Like-for-lke capital 8508 855.7 (12 {0.2)% 267 36.5
Acguisitions - 729.8 (26 5) (3 5% - 18.9
Redevelopments and developments 1558 187.5 (222) (107)% 62 3.7
Disposals 2829 - - - 151 7.0
Total UK non-shopping centre properties
1,289 5 1,773.0 499 (2.7)% 480 66.1 37 7%
US properties*
Like-for-like capital and income 3088 327.7 215 71% 193 177 26)%
Like-for-like other 447 46.2 14 31% 09 1.7
Like-for-like caprtal 3535 3739 229 6.5% 202 19.4
Acquistiions - 6.9 - - -
Disposals 57 - - - 04
Total US properties 3592 380.8 229 6.5% 206 194 {5 8)%
Total Investment properties 82060 8,634.9 (316.5) (3.5)% 3406 374.3 99%

* Like-for-like percentage ncreases are inlocal cumency
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Summary of investment and
development properties (continued)

Property analysis by use and type
Revaluation
Market value surplus
31 December 31 December
2006 2007 % of total Increasa’
£m £m propertes {Decraass)
Regional shopping centres and other retail
UK regional shopping centres 6,557 3 6,481 1 75.1% 4 3%
UK other retall 7808 807.7 9.4% 5 8%
US regional shopping centres 1231 1386 1.6% 11 8%
US other retall 1342 1300 1.5% 27%
Total regional shopping centres and other retail 75954 7,557.4 87.5% 4.0}%
Office
UK busness space 5087 5838 6.8% (15)%
US business space 67 9 786 0.9% 6 2%
Total office 5766 6624 7.7% (0.7)}%
Exhibition
UK exhitition ~ 381.4 4.4% 13%
Residential
US residential 340 337 0.4% 07%
Total investment properties 82060 86349 100.0% (3.5)%
Analysis of UK non-shopping centres and US properties by location and type
Market value Revaluation surplus Net rental mcome
31 Deceamber 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Decernber
2006 2007 2007 Increase / 2006 2007
&m £m £m {Decrease) £m £m
UK non-shopping centre properties
Capco Covent Garden 4915 663.6 (19.49) (2.8)% 97 232
Capco Earls Court - 3814 4.8 1.3% - 101
Capco London (inc Great Capial Partnership) 3232 353.2 (6.0) {1.6)% 165 14.2
Capco Opportunties 2761 220.5 {12.9) 5.3)% 141 122
Capco Urban 1987 154.3 (t71)  (10.1)% 77 6.4
Total UK non-shopping centre properties 1,2895 1,773.0 {49.9) 2.71% 480 66.1
US properties
US retail 257 3 268.6 17.9 7.2% 159 14.1
US business space 67 9 78.6 48 6.6% 42 4.0
US residential 340 33.6 0.2 0.7% 05 13
Total US properties 3592 380.8 229 6.5% 206 19.4
1,648 7 2,153.8 {27.0) {12)% 686 85.5
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Summary of investment and
development properties (continued)

UK investment property valuation data

UK regional shopping centres
Lakeside, Thurock

MetroCentre, Gateshead
Braehead, Glasgow

The Harlequin, Watford

Victoria Centre, Notingham
Arndale, Manchester

Chapelfield, Norwich

Cribbs Causeway, Bristel

The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent
The Chimes, Uxbridge

Eldon Square, Newcastle upon Tyne
The Glades, Bromley

St David’s, Cardiff

Xscape, Braghead

Like-for-like capital
Other

Total UK regional shopping centres

UK non-shopping centre properties
Capco Covent Garden

Capco London (nc Great Caprtal Partnership)

Capco Opportunities
Capco Urban

Like-for-hke capital
Exhibition
Other

Totat UK non-shopping centre properties

CSC locations:
Y 01 Braeshead,

03 The Chimes,

04 Eldon

05 The Glades,
06 The

07 Lakesiude,

“riuding retal park

494.2
1492
160.3

521

855.8

3814
535.8

1,773.0

Xscape,
Braschead (42 730 s m/460 000 5q ft}
02 Chapeffield,
Norwich (49 240 s m/530 000 5 L)
Londge (40 880 5y m./440,000 sq. it}
Square,

Newcestle 80670 95 m/ATE000 5 1)
Eldon Square South
Newcaste estmated opening 2010 {42,550 sq m/488 000 sq ft)
Bromiay (43,020 sq m./483 000 sq. ft)

Harlequin,
Watford (67 450 sq m./726,000 sq ft)

Thumack (133 180 5q M1 43 miion 5q ft)

Nominal equivalent yreld

Neotrental
P g redy

31 Decarnber - 31 December
2006

t ERV

31 December 31 December 31 December
2007 2007 2007

2007 £m £m £m

4 85%
475%
481%
475%
495%
4 96%
500%
474%
500%
5 00%
520%
495%
500%
6 04%

4 84%

447%
493%
553%
503%

479%

Renfrew éleegovv(%ﬂ()m mJ/1 06 mBonsq ft7)

4.90%
4.99%
5.02%
4 95%
5 00%
5.13%
5.20%
5.06%
550%
535%
5.25%
5.40%
526%
621%

5.07% 267.2 2832 328.7
74 5.6 79

2743 283.8 336.6

472%
549%
6 20%
564%

5.18% 385 36.5 502

101
18.1 19.5 36.6

56.6 66.1 86.8

08 The Mall at Cnbbs Causeway,
Bnstol (92,440 s m/2965 000 sq L)
09 Manchester Amdale,
{1300805g m./1 4 miion sq ft)
New Cathedral Street,
Manchester (18,580 sq m/200000 sq ft)
10 MetroCentre,
Gateshead (189 390 5¢ m./2 (4 milon sq )
11 The Pottenes,
Stoke-on-Trent {52,800 sq mJ 566,000 9y 1t}
12 §t. Dawd's,
Cardiff (30 670 sg m/A27 00 = L)
St Dawid's 2,
Cardiff estrnated openng 2009 (89,880 sq m/A675005g ft)
13 Victona Gentre,
Motingrarn (91 140 sg m/081 000 &g ft}
14 Westgate,
Ondford esumated oponing 2011 (689680 sg mJ/750000sq
ON openng)
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Chairman’s statement

Introduction

lam pleased to report that, notwithstanding the challenging conditions which emerged in the UK property market in the
second half of 2007, Liberty intemational has fared extremely well with record occupancy levels at our UK regional shopping
centres and a tremendous contribution from our non-shopping centre business which has been completely transformed
over the last 18 months and now includes such prime assets as the Covent Garden Estate in London's West End

Four key attributes of Liberty Intemational came very much into evidence in 2007 - a business of exceptional qualty, a high
degree of specialisation an prme retal which constitutes nearly 90 per cent of our assets, the benefits of scale and our financal
strength Looking forward, our expenenced property management teams and our low debt to assets ratio postion the group
well to identrfy and crystalise nvestment opportunities emanating from the current market correction

February 2008 15 too early to form a view on the length and the breadth of the turbulence now evident in the property market
as awhole 2007 was certanly a transitional year when, particularly in the second half, nvestor enthusiasm for UK property
diminished rapidly with negative sentiment abounding as the US sub-prime mortgage market contagion spread across the
Atlantic and credit market conditions detenorated rapiclly

Under Intemational Financial Reporting Standards [“IFRS"), we include revaluation movements in our Income Statement
which introduces a considerable degree of volatiity nto our reported profits  After several years of buoyant market conditions,
the second half of 2007 saw a more cautious view of UK property being reflected in valuations While our Income Staternent
for 2007, after a revaluation defict of £316 million reduced by £37 milion of gans on disposals, shows a loss before tax

of £125 million, the underlying profit before tax excluding valuation movements and one-off trading profits Increased from
£122 million to £129 millon and adjusted earnings per share increased by 6 per cent from 33 9p to 36 Op

Adjusted net assets per share reduced by 5 per cent from 1327p to 1264p, gvng a total return for the year including dvidends
of minus 2 2 per cent By way of companson, the IPD monthly index for the year, an ungeared measure, showed a 10 per cent
fall n capttal values and a negative total return of 5 5 per cent The successful relative outcome delivered by Liberty International
in 2007 vindicates our focus over a long peniod on the highest quality real estate, n particular on super-prime and prime
regonal shopping centres, which has generated a compound per annum total return of 12 4 per cent for the last 10 years

In order to address the requrements of nvestors for up-to-date Information on a more frequent basis, we moved to quarterly
reporting with effect from the first quarter of 2007, including external ndependent property valuations This has given
shareholders an excellent nsight nto the unfolding changes in property market condtions in 2007

We moved rapidly in 2007 to take advantage of conversion at the end of 2006 to a tax transparent status as a UK Real
Estate Investmert Trust ("REIT") We recorded £340 million of disposals in 2007 at an aggregate surplus over book values
at 31 Decermnber 2006 of £37 millon as well as £426 million from the 40 per cent reduction in our interest i MetroCentre,
Gateshead at £16 million above book value These were matched by additions of £1,062 million in the year, comprising
development expendtture and strategic acquisttions at our UK regional shopping centres and in Central London including
matenally ncreasing our ownershyp n Covent Garden, purchases by the Great Capital Partnership and the £375 million
Earls Court and Olympia transaction

Property valuations

Evidence remained strong in 2007 that super-prime and prime regional shopping centres, which are well managed and
properly marketed, attract considerable investor interest, such centres are noticeably outperforming secondary centres with
the gap In valuation yields widening as investors factor in the much greater nsks of lower quality assets Furthermore, the yields
apphed by valuers to prime regional shopping centres have proved far less volatile than other pnme UK property asset classes
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Chairman’s statement (continued)

As an illustration of this point, indicatve UK property market valuation yields, as provided by one of our valuers, CB Richard Elbs,
are set out below, together with the notional Impact of these changes on property values over the year

Nobonal mpact
on valuations
31 Decamber 31 December  of yeld shit n
2006 2007 the year
Retaill
Prime shops 400 475 (16)%
Prime shopping centres 475 5.00 (5)%
Secondary shopping centres 550 6.25 (12)%
Prme retall parks 385 4.75 (19)%
Offices
Prime West End of London 375 4.75 (21)%
Frime Crty of London 425 5.25 (19)%

Valuation yields for CSC's UK regional shopping centres increased overall from 4 84 per cent at 31 Decermnber 2006 to

5 07 per cent at 31 December 2007 and were the main contributory factor to an overall like-for-tke valuation deficit of

3 S per cent This benign outcome N the crcumstances confirms the defensive mertts of our UK regional shopping centres,
with resilent iIncame streams and refatively undemanding valuation yelds

Capital & Counties also performed particularly well n valuation terms i 2007 in this envronment, with an overall decrease In
like-for-like valuations of just 0 2 per cent In our UK non-shopping centre properties and an increase of 6 5 per cent in the USA

Suceessful property nvestment requires a long-term perspective While the indications are that upward pressure on valuation
yields in the UK has continued into 2008, we believe that many postive factors for real estate as an asset class are stil relevant,
first, consistent economic growth, secondly, Investor demand for long-term, stable, ncome producing and inflation-proofing
assets to meet retrement needs, thirdly, relatvely berign long-term interest rates, and finally, imited over-supply issues in the
real estate ndustry

While credit market conditions have put upward pressure on lending margins and unsettled UK property investors, one
favourable consequence has been a lowering of Interest rate expectations The 10 year UK interest rate swap fell substantially
in the second half of the yaar from 5 92 per cent at 30 June 2007 to 5 02 per cent at 31 Decermber 2007, below its starting
position for the year of 5 11 per cent Liberty International s relatvely insensitve to nterest rate movements in the short term
as our borrowings are mostly long-term fixed-rate However, the impact of lower nterest rates on the wider UK economy and
property market should be beneficial over tme

We are confident that Liberty International’s concentration on super-prime and prime large-scale and predomnaritly retall real
estate will be advartageous in any overall fight to qualty by UK property investors  Addtionally, the valuation process values
each asset ndvidually and takes no account of the extra portfolio value of our assets which could not now be assembled
inchvidually on any sensible timescale

Furthesmore, although shareholders buying our shares only pay stamp duty at 0 5 per cent on share transactions, the
assumption contained within the valuations is that our assets would be sold Indmdually to purchasers who would pay the full

4 per cent stamp duty land tax applicable to large property transactions and other notional acguistion costs  Adusting for this
factor would increase our net asset value by £390 million, representing 104p per share over and above our published et asset
value per share figure of 1264p producing a more realistic number for shareholders of 1368p

Capntal Shopping Centres

CSC's business has continued to perform robustly Like-for-lke growth in net rental ncome amounted to 3 5 per cent for
the year and the occupancy rate continued at the high level of 98 7 per cent (31 December 2006 - 97 7 per cent) In the year
to date, we have recorded 138 tenancy changes, 7 per cent of 2,021 total retall units, ncreasing the annual rents from these
tenanctes by £7 millon (2006 — 124 tenancy changes increasing rents by £1 5 miflion)
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Chairman’s statement (continued)

Asset management nitatves are a constant feature of the business In particular, the Boardwak development at Lakeside, Thurrock,
of 11 restaurants overlooking the ake and a refurbished cnerma, has traded strongly since opening In June 2007, enhancing actvty
throughout the centre At MetroCentre, Gateshead, we have, with our partners, GIC, acqured the adionng 220,000 sq ft Metro Retall
Park for £82 5 million, increasng our overall ownership to over 2 milion sq ft We have obtained plannng permission for the mtended
upgrade of the leisure and dining facities in the Yellow and Blue Quadrants, with a view to continuing our smprovernent programme,
rmost notably delvered by the successful 370,000 sg ft Red Mall extension which opened in Autumn 2004

CSC's development activities are progressing according to programme with two major projects under way, the 867,500 sq ft
extension of St David's, Cardiff, opening in Autumn 2009, and the 480,000 sq ft extension of Eldon Square, Newcastle, where
the largest phase opens in Spring 2010 In both cases, we have entered nto fixed price construction contracts to ensure
control of costs, we have secured anchor tenants and lettings are In Ine with expectations We anticipate ample retaller
requirements for the attractive and well-configured retall space

The compuisory purchase order nqurry for the 750,000 sq ft Westgate, Oxdord, refurbishment and extension took place n December
2007 and, subject to a savsfactory outcome, we will be n a pasiion to commit to the project n 2008 for an openng n 2011 We are
pleased to have satisfied the prncpal stakeholders that our proposals fit well n this unique and architesturally-sensitive city-centre
location In 2007, we restructured the arrangernenis with our investment partrer, moving our potential ownership from 50 par cent
toan nterest of not less than 75 per cant, the final percentage dependent on the amount our partner elects to contnbute

C8C 1s a retal property business, rot a retaller Our net rental ncome growth is more correlated to rent reviews, typically
on a five year cycle n the UK, and active asset management nmiatves, than short-term fluctuations in retall sales In terms
of rent reviews, 2007 was relatvely quiet with 11 per cent of CSC’s net rental income coming up for review  These reviews
are progressing in Ine with expectations

In terms of the overall retail environment, UK non-iood retail sales, as measured by ONS, continued to grow steadily with year-
on-year growth of 3 4 per cent for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2007 The last quarter of 2007 saw some signs of weakening
in this meassure but successful retallers are continuing ta fook to expand and trade from high quality space such as CSC affers

Capital & Counties

We have continued the dynamic realignment of the business of Caprtal & Counties, with gross assets now increased to

£2 2 billon compared with £1 1 billion as recently as 30 June 20086, the last quarter date before the major acquisition of the
Covert Garden Estate

Caprtal & Counties’ actvities are strongly focused on Central London with over £1 4 billion nvested at 31 December 2007

We contrue to regard Central London as a long-term benediciary of globalisation, with ts waorld-class financial services ndustry
and histoncal, cutiural and residential attractions Three mportant investments now fom the core of our London holdings

First, the Covent Garden Estate, where we have substantally consolidated our ownership during the year Covertt Garden s now
the group’s fourth largest rvestment at £664 milion and we are making good progress working closely with stakehciders on the
strategic plan for the area Second, our 50/50 partnership with Great Portland Estates plc, The Great Capttal Partnerstup, which
has grown to £654 million, of which sorme two-thirds is focused on the Regent Street, London W1, area Third, Earls Court and
Olmpia where we moved decisvely In 2007 to secure 50 per cent ownership and effective control These globally recognised
London landmark venues offer over 1 milllon sg ft of exhibition and conference space with considerable opportunttes to intensify
use The £381 milllon assets of Earts Court and Olympia are fully consolidated at 31 December 2007 reflecting the nature of the
ownership arangements

Through Capeo Urban, our mixed-use development business, the group continues its actvties in other important regonal locations

International

Capco USA 15 an established value-add developer of mixed-use properties with an emphasis on retail Investrent wath total assets
now amounting to £381 miilon Our actmties are focused on California and the business has performed wellin 2007 witha 6 5 per
cent revaluation gan drven by our flagship shopping centre, Serramonte, in the San Francisco bay area This asset continues 1o
provide a number of active management and remodeling opportunities which we are pursuing Capital & Counties USA has
converted to a US REIT, as the company has reached the stage in ts development where US REIT status 1s considered beneficial

Capco International has been formed to support broader group intiatves in the nternational marketplace In 2007, we
subscribed for a 25 per cent interest N an Indian shopping centre development cormpany, Prozone, a 75 per cent subsidiary
of the fast-growing Indian retaller, Provogue In aggregate, we invested £39 mikon in Capco International actvities in 2007
on which we recorded a revaluation surplus of £8 million for the year
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Chairman’s statement (continued)

Corporate responsibility

tam pleased to record that for many years Liberty International has had a strong commitment to Corporate Responsibility (CR),
producing our first full annual report on the subject in 2002 We have reviewed and developed our CR activities year-on-year
and our community programmes have grown with ongeing partnersheps with a number of chartties including Crime Concern
and the Conservation Foundation

Our community programme working near our shopping centres focuses on youth, education and the prevention of crime
and anti-social behawviour, with some excellent local projects in hand A growing strand of environmental awareness intiatves
located on our Covent Garden estate complements our vision to regenerate and restore that unigue urban area Once again,
In 2007 we have devoted substantial time and financial support via our CR partnerships to the benefit of all involved

Our development programme has atways been focused on brownfield land and Braehead near Renfrew, Scotland, forrmerty
derelict ndustrial land by the Clyde, 1 a wonderful example of mixed-use urban regeneration Overall we estimate that our
shopping centres have generated employment directly at the centres for some 50,000 people, n addition to the ndirect
employment opportunities created

In our development activities, we continue to apply the highest construction standards, and operationally at the shopping
centres we have made further major stades in energy sfficiency and waste reduction, with 2007 seeng the realisation of our
goal to measure the carbon footprint of all our directly managed UK shopping centres Work 1s in hand to understand the
factors influencing that footpnnt so that we can take practical steps to reduce it and save on costs as well

As an example of the external recognition of our actvities N the CR field, we are rated as a BITC top 100 company and sector
leader in therr Environmental Index

Dividends

The Dwrectors propose a final dividend of 17 6p per share bringing the fufl year's dvidend to 34 1p (2006 - 31 Op), an ncrease
of 10 per cent Liberty International has always pursued a progressive dividend policy distributing substantially all of the group’s
recurring Income We have shown consistent growth over a long pericd from 4 5p per share in 1985 to 34 1p in 2007

This progressive policy will continue under REIT status but additionally the 2007 dvidend Includes an extra increase out

of the net tax savings from corwversion to a REIT

The group 1s an active developer and has a substantial pool of brought forward capital allowances The required rmirimum
Property Income Distribuiion {“PID") for the year is estimated at around 18p per share, substantially below the dvidend
proposed for the year As the nterm dividend of 16 5p was pard entrrely as a PID, subject to withholding tax for certain
shareholders, we have decided that for administrative smplicty the final dvidend will be paid entirsly as a non-PID dividend
not subject to any withholding tax and the balance of the minmurm PID requirement will, as permitted under REIT regulations,
be met from the current year's deadends

Financial position

Liberty intemational’s financial posttion s strong with gross property assets of £8 6 tilion and net delbt of £3 6 billon providing
a debt to assets ratio of 42 per cent at 31 December 2007 Our debt structures are predominantly long-term n nature, asset
speciic and fixed-rate The first material loan repayment 1s not until 2011

Board and management

Once again my thanks go to my Board colleagues for ther active support during 2007 Along with the non-exacutive directors,
| would like to thank the group's executive direciors and staff both in the UK and the USA for ther fremendous commitrment
and effort We are pleased to have substantially strengthened the overall management team in 2007 with a number of senior
level recrurts to the group

Prospects
Through our exceptional assets, financial strength and quality management, we are well placed to continue on behalf of
shareholders the measured growth of our high quality company

We look forward to opportunities emerging from the unsettled financial and property markets of 2008

Sir Robert Finch
Charman
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Financial review

Liberty International recorded the following significant transactions in 2007:

First quarter

=» Formation of a strategic partnership with GIC Real Estate through the creation of The MetroCentre
Partnership realising £426 milion (accounted for as the disposal of a part interest in a subsidiary with
the creation of a minonty interest)

=¥ Acquisition of the retall element of the Royal Opera House block in London's Covent Garden for
£128 million

Second quarter

=® Formation of The Great Capttal Partnership creating a £460 million joint venture with Great Portland
Estates with Liberty Intemational contrnbuting £299 muflion of assets to the partnership and receving
a balancing payment of £68 million

Third quarter

=» Completion of the acquisition of a 50 per cent interest in the Earls Court and Olympia Group for a net
consideration of £54 millon (accounted for as a subsidiary)

=» Acquisttion of the Metro Retail Park through The MetroCentre Partnership for £82 5 million (group’s share
£49 5 milion)

=¥ Acquisition of further properties by The Great Capital Partnership for £140 milhon (group’s share
£70 million)

=» Acquistion of further properties in Covent Garden for £32 mitlion

Fourth quarter

=¥ Acquisttion of further properties by The Great Caprital Partnership for £20 milion {group’s share
£10 million)

=¥ Further investment in Govent Garden with the purchase of the Covent Garden Restaurants Group
for £22 million and in Manchester with the purchase of properties for £25 million

And over the year as a whole:

> Property disposals (excluding the MetroCentre transaction with GIC) realising £340 miliion at a surplus
over 31 December 2006 values of £37 mulion

Further details of the major tems are shown in the paragraph “Transactions dunng the year” at the end of the Financial review
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Financial review (continued)

Resutts for the year ended 31 December 2007

The results for the year to 31 December 2007 include those of The MetroCentre FPartnership from the date of ks nception,
25 March 2007, and the Earls Count and Olympa Group from the date of completion of the acquission, 24 July 2007, on

the basis of full consolidation as subsidianes The share of profits and net assets attrbutable to the other 40 per cent and

50 per cent interests respectively are shown under minomty interests  The results for the period have therefore been affected
in several ways with the result that they are not directly comparable with 2006, both because of the iInclusion of a new actty
and because of the presentation of both transactions on a consolidated basis Also there 1s a degree of seasonality n the
Earls Court and Olympia business wrth a peak of actwvity towards the end of the first quarter, which is not reflected in the
curent year's results as it was pre-acquistion, and a relatvely quiet perod dunng the summer months, which 1s reflected

In the group results

The income Statement for the year ended 31 Decemibber 2007 shows continung undertying growth, with a 5 8 per cent
increase In underiying profit before tax from £122 3 millon to £123 4 milion, and a 6 2 per cent increase N adjusted earnings
per share

Year ended Year ended
31 Decemnber

31 Decamber
2006
Em Em
Profit before tax (underlying) attnbutable to ordmary shareholders +5 8% 1294 1223
Trading profits 29 328
Minority iInterests (befare tax) (17 -
Profit before tax, valuation and exceptional items 130.6 1551
(Defict)/gans on revaluation and sale of nvestment property (279.1) 5865
Movement n the far value of dervatives 27.0 1635
Exceptional tems (3.3 (2 0)
(Loss)profit before tax {124.8) 903 1
2007 Chaarterly
2007 2006
March June September December December December
Adjusted eamings per share 9.8p 9.0p 7.9p 9.3p 36.0p 339

Like-for-lke met rental income in the group's UK regional shopping centres increased by 3 5 per cent

Like-for-lke non-shopping centre net rental income increased by 1 6 per cent in the UK, and fell by 2 6 per cent in the US
This reflects planned refurbishrment actwvity, a lease expiry in the UK where the property has been subsequently re-let and a
small number of tenant falures Good progress has been made in securing new tenants or with sales where appropnate and
conseguently the full year shows an improvement over the posttion reported at the end of the third quarter

Administration expenses increased from £34 2 millon to £45 2 milion, Including £5 2 millkon from Earls Court and Olympia
since acquisition and approxmately £3 milion from fees related to nvestment and financing transactions durng the year
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Financial review (continued)

Valuations
The overall defict on revaluation and sale of investment properties for the year ended 31 December 2007 amounted to
£279 1 millor, after a gain of £37 4 milken from disposals

Like-for-like percentage gans on revaluation of Investment properties since the preceding year end are summarised as follows

tNina months Six monthis
ended

Year ended endad

31 December 30 Sepiembar 30 June

2007 2007 2007

UK regional shopping centres -3.9% +17% +2 6%

UK non-shopping centre propertes -0.2% +3 1% +32%

USA +6.5% +6 5% +37%
The related weighted average nominal equivalent yiekis were as follows

Asat Asat As at

31 December 30 Septornber Asat 31 December

2007 2007 30.4ne 2007 2006

UK regional shopping centres 5.07% 4 82% 477% 4 84%

UK non-shopping centre properties 5.18% 4.949% 495% 4 89%

For UK regional shopping centres, the small Increase in the average equivalent yield between 30 June 2007 and 30 September
2007 was confined to a few centres with the majority of yields, pnncipally the yields on the larger centres, unchanged from

30 June 2007 In the final quarter of the year these yields increased by a quarter of a per cent on average across all centres
The overall revaluation defict on UK regional shopping centres over the whole year can be analysed between a 0 7 per cent
increase frorm underiying rental growth and a 4 6 per cent deficit from yiekd shift

The percentage valuation movermnents on UK non-shapping centre properties follow a similar pattern, with a similar moverment
in yields in the last quarter However, growth in rental mcome, particularly n the West End of London and Covent Garden
properties, compensated for the movement in yield such that the overall ke-for-like valuation movement for the vear was a
small negatve The overall outcome for the year showed a fall of 2 7 per cent but this partly reflects the realisation of some
substanual valuation gans recogrised earlier n the year through sales in the third and fourth quarter and the absorption of costs
related to purchases made durning the period Sales by this business during the year generated proceeds of £318 8 milion and
a surplus over December 2006 values of £32 4 milion

In the USA the revaluation surplus iIncreased to 6 5 per cent at 30 September 2007 from 3 7 per cent at 30 June 2007 and
was mantaned at that level in the last quarter, stil prmarity driven by the retail properties and, in particular, the Serramonte
shopping centre which showed an ncrease of 11 8 per cent for the year to 31 December 2007

Net assets per share

Adusted net assets per share at 31 December 2007 of 1264p declned by 105p from 1369p at 30 Septermber 2007 and
by 63p from 1327p at 31 Decernber 2006 This represents a tetal return for the year of minus 2 2 per cent, from 1327p
at 31 Decermber 2006 (after taking into account the 2006 final dvidend of 17 25p and the nterm dvidend of 16.5p pad
durng 2007)

Financial position

The group raised £340 million {rorm disposals durng the year (in addtion to £426 million rased from the creation of The
MetroCentre Partnership) and purchased £518 rniflion of imvestment properties in addrtion to the £375 millon of property
acquired through the Earls Court transaction Total addtions for the year, ncluding development expendrture of £169 million,
amounted to £1,062 millon and proceeds from sales, including the creation of The MetroCentre Partnership, amounted

to £766 mililon Net debi increased from £3,063 million at 31 December 2006 to £3,668 million at 31 December 2007
{£3,218 milion  minonty nteresis and other IFRS adustments are excluded)

Liberty International’s financal ratios, ncluding a debt to assets ratio of 42 per cent at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006
— 36 per cent}, remain robust
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Financial review {(continued)

The group's debt 15 analysed below

Baoros ot Sron e Headleases Balane ohets
fm £m £m

Investrnent propertes 8,623 Ba1) (57) 7,925
Other fixed assets 162 162
8,785 {B41) (57) 8,087
Net debt 3,668 {393) (57 3,218
Debt to Assets Ratio 42% 40%

The majority of the group's joint ventures are jointly controlled and the group's policy 1S to use proportional consobdation
whereby only the group’s share of assets and liabilities are consolidated In the group balance shest However, where the
structure of the group’s joint ventures 1s such that the group exercises effective control of the jont venture, as in the case of
The MetroCentre Partnership and the Earls Court and Olympia Group, then all of the assets and labilties of the joint venture
are consolidated in the group's balance sheet with the joint venturer's share of the net assets shown as a minortty nterest

This, together with the presentation of fixed head lease payments under International Financial Reporting Standards, can have
the effect of exaggerating the group's exposure 1o debt as measured by the Debt to Assets Ratic The table above re-presents
the consolidated balance sheet showing only the group's share of assets and net debt and removing the adjustment in respect
of head leases As these joint ventures are more highly geared than the group as a whole the revised presentation shows an
undertying Debt to Assets Ratio of 40 per cent

A further anatysis shows the splt of the underlying balance sheet between secured and unsecured finance

Bal:';Jnoedmeegt Secured Unsecured

£m £m m

investment properties 1,925 6,212 1,713
Other fixed assets 162 - 162
8,087 6,212 1,875

Net debt 3218 3,154 64
Debt to Assets Ratio 40% 51% 3%

The analysis above 1s very mportani when assessing the nisks associated with the group’s debt finance The group has a
refatvely small amount of unsecured debt with the vast majority of the group’s debt being In the form of secured and largely
non-recourse debt The Debt to Asset Ratio on the secured pool 1s around 51 per cent with the resutt that the asset cover
for the unsecured debt 1s considerably higner This means that the group still has considerable capactty to borrow onan
unsecured basis and, based on typical Initig! loan to value and interest coverage ratios, there s also further capacty in the
secured pool The first maturity in the secured pool does not anse untl 2011

At 31 December 2007 the weighted average maturty of the group’s debt was aver 6 7 years and the werghted average cost
of debt was 6 0 per certt (seven years and 5 9 per cent excluding Earls Court debt) The group had undrawn committed
borrowing facilities of £540 million
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Financial review (continued)

Fair value of debt and financial instruments

Long-term interest rates declined In the second half of the year having nsen strongly in the first half The 10 year UK interest rate
swap, a reasonable proxy for our fixed rate hedging strategy, rose rom 5 11 per cent at 31 December 2006 to 5 92 per cent

at 30 June 2007, faling back to 5 02 per cent at 31 December 2007 We recorded a surplus of £27 millon n the year ended

31 December 2007 on revaluation of the dervative financial Instruments used to fix our long-term debt Compared to the
surplus at 30 June 2007 of £251 million, this represents a reduction in the second half year of £224 million

The potential adjustment to net assets per share (diuted, adusted) ansing from the far value of the group’s debt and fnancial
nstruments in recent years, and quarters n 2007, 1s shown below

Far valug

10year ad%;u\‘:;ﬁ a@m

swap {patore tax pence per

% £m share
31 December 2005 451 {17 4 (119)p
31 December 2006 511 {240 2) 64
31 March 2007 535 {121 6) 32)p
30 June 2007 592 47 1 13p
30 September 2007 545 (41 0) (1)p
31 December 2007 502 (187 7) B0p

The group's net borrowngs at 31 December 2007 amounted to £3,668 millon with £556 milhon of fixed rate debt and the
remainder fxed by way of denvative financial instruments  The structure of the group’s hedging nstruments means that on
the fixed elerment of our borrowings the group has a declining interest rate profile (see table below)

Interest Rate Swap Summary
Novonal armount Averaga rate
in effect after £m %
1 Year 3,319 527
5 Years 3,220 516
10 Years 2,543 472
15 Years 2,100 458
20 Years 2,100 458
25 Years 1,625 440

Share buy-backs

Liberty International has shareholder approval to buy-back on-market up to 10 per cent of its shares Afthough the curent
share pnce 1 at a discount to published net asset value, we would expect only to use the buy-back power very selectively
gven the scale of our developrment programme and the long-termn time honzon required to bring major shopping centre
progects 1o fruion During the third quarter of 2007, Liberty Intemational bought 700,000 shares at an average price of
1017p per share
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Financial review (continued)

Transactions during the year ended 31 December 2007
» Strategic partnership with GIC Real Estate realising £426 million

Our wholly owned subsidiary, Caprtal Shopping Centres {“CSC"), entered into an agreement with GIC Real Estate
{“GIC RE") for GIC RE to acqurre a 40 per cent share in CSC's interest n the MetroCentre, Gatesnead for a gross
consideration of £426 millon GIC RE is the real estate nvestrnent arm of the Govemment of Singapore Investment
Corporation and one of the world's leading global real estate investors CSC continues to manage the MetroCentre
The transaction, which completed dunng the second quarter, released capital to enable Liberty International to contirue
to expand its overall business The MetroCentre Partnership is accounted for as a subsidiary undertaking with the
resutts, assets and labilties fully consolidated in the year's results and GIC's participation shown as minonty interests

» Formation of a £460 millon Central London joint venture with Great Portland Estates, ncreased to £654 mullion
at 31 Decemiber 2007

Our wholly owned subsidiary, Capttal and Counties, announced the formation of The Great Caprtal Partnership, a 50 50

jont venture with Great Portland Estates ple (*GPE"), to own, manage and develop a numiber of Central London properties
and to troaden both parties’ exposure n Central London  The Great Capral Partnership had a starting value of around

£460 milion, with Caprtal & Counties contributing £299 millon of nvestment properties and GPE contrbuting £162 miflion
and rmaking a balancing payment of £68 million in cash to Capital & Counties The transaction completed duning the second
quarter GPE 1s responsible for day-to-tlay asset management of the partnership properties  Taking nto account subsequent
acquistions ana revaluations, the parinership had increased 1o £654 milion with no borrowings at 31 December 2007

» Acquisition of a 50 per cent interest in EC&O Venues (Earls Court & Olympia Group)

Caprtal & Counties acquired a 50 per cent nterest n ECRO for a sum that valued the assets at approximately £375 million
The consideration for the 50 per cent interest was £54 rmillion taking into accourt all asseis, debt and other liabilties of the
business The group owns and manages the Earls Count and Olymipia Extibiion Centres in West London and the Brewery,
Chuswell Street, London EC2, with the aim of establishing the venues as landmark leisure destinations, centred around the
core businesses of exhibions, conferences and specral events whilst explonng opportunities to Intensify use The nterest
n EC&O has been accounted for as a subsidiary with the results, assets and liabilibes fully consoldated in the year's results

» Acquisition of the Covent Garden Restaurants Group

Caprtal & Counties acquired the Covent Garden Restaurants Group, owners of the Rock Garden and Tuttons restaurants n
Covent Garden, for a net consideration of £22 million This, together with the EC&O transaction, gave nise to goodwill carried
In the group balance sheet at £27 million
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Financial review (continued)

Development programme

Details of the committed development projects are set out n the table below

Cost to complete as
at 31 December 2007

Development Status tm
Eldon Square, Newcastle (60% interest) 57
Eldon Square West — restaurants and 22,000 sq ft retal  Completed in QOctober 2006
Eldon Square North - bus station and 48,000 sq ft retal  Bus station completed Febyuary 2007

Retall on site, expected opening February 2008
Eldon Square South - 410,000 sq ft retal extension On site July 2007
nciuding 175,000 sg ft Debenhams department store

Expected opening Spring 2010
St David's, Cardiff (50% mterest) 186
967,500 sq ft extension On site Expected opening Autumn 2009
Joint venture with Land Securtties Group PLC
Other developments - CSC 34
Other developments - Capital & Counties 40
Total committed developments 317
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The Dwectors have pleasure in presenting ther
Annual report and the audited financal statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Principal actvities

Dunng the penod the pnncipal actvity of Liberty
Internatonal PLC (“Liberty Intemational™) was that
of an irwestment halding compary Incorporated
in the Unrted Kingdorn whose business is the
making of selected investments with long-term
potential in the property sector predomnantly,
but not exduswvely, in the Unied Kingdom On

1 January 2007, Liberty International converted
nto a Real Estate Investment Trust (*REIT™)

Uberty Intermational’s actvities are focused on its
two maor operating businesses Capital Shopping
Centres ("CSCH, which speciahses n the
ownership, management and development of
regional shopping centres and Capital & Countres,
which engages in commercial and retall property
nrsestment, rmanagenent and development
pamarly :n the United Kingdom but also in the
USA and other parts of the world

Business review

The Charman’s statement on pages 7 to 10,
and the Fnanaal revew on pages 11 o 17
provide detaled information relating to the group,
the operation and development of the business
and the resuits and financial position for the year
ended 31 December 2007 The Financial review,
accounting policies on page 27 and note 21 on
pages 37 to 42 contan nformation on the use
of financial instruments

Directors’ report

Future prospects
Future prospects are dealt with in the Charman's
statement and Francial revew

Dividends

The Drectors declared an intenm ordinary
dmdend of 16 5p (2006 — 13 75p) per share on
26 July 2007, which was paid on 4 September
2007, and have recommended a final ordinary
dmdend of 17 6p per share (2006 — 17 25p)
wiuch will be pad on 28 May 2008 to
shareholders on the register on the Record Date,
9 May 2008 The stering/rand corversion rate
onwhich payment of the divdend in South Afnca
will be calcuated will be fixed on 22 Apnl 2008
The payment wil not be pad as a Property
Income Drstrbution, o “PID" and no wathholding
tax will be deducted Further information is gven
on the contents page The Dwrectors will not be
ofienng a share dvdend alternatve to the 2007
final cash dmdend

Share capntal and control of the company
Detais of the company’s share capital including
changes dunng the year in the issued share
capital and detals of the nghts attaching 1o the
company's ordinary shares are set out in noie 24
onpage 44 Detaills of shares repurchased by the
company during the year are set out in note 24 on
page 44

No shareholder halds secunties carmyng specal
nghits with regards to control of the company
Shares held by the compary’s Employee Share
Owmershup Plan rank pan passu with the shares in
155U8 and have ne specal nghts, but voiing nghts
and nghts of acceptance of any cffer refating to
the shares rests with the Plan’s Trustee and are
not exercisable by the employees

There are no restnctions on voting nghts or

any arangemants by which, with the company’s
co-operation, financial nghts are hetd by a person
other than the shareholder, or any agreements
between shareholders known to the company
which may resut i restrictions on the transfer

of shares or onvoling nghts

The compary 1s not party ta any sgnficant
agreements that would take effect, alter or
termunate following a change of contral of
the company

The compary does not have any agreements
with any Executive Director or employee that
would prowde compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a takeover except that
provisions of the comparty share schemes may
cause options and awards outstanding under
such schemes to vest on a takeover The terms
of appomtment of the non-executve Directors
provde for a payment equal to thewr basic anmugl
fee in the event of change of control in recognition
of the additonal work involved in such an event

Going concem

After making engunes, the Drectors have
reasonable expectation that the comparwy and
the group have adequate resources to continue
in operational exstence for the foreseeable
future For this reason they continue to adopt
the going concern basis n prepanng the
financal statements

Internal control

The statement on corporate governance on
pages 55 to 59 ndludes the Board’s assessment
following a revew of internal controls and
conaideration of the gudance issued by the
Tumbull Committee of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales

Key Risks
The key nsks of the group are as set out nthe
tabls below

Resk Deacrpten Mibgason
Frenoal ndis futher riomebons - interest rete nc Girowup poiicy to éiminate substarinaly 6 exposurne 10 establsh certarty over 1ong tanm cash Sows Hedgng.
nokdednncte 21 on poges 37-42) | ity nsk Effent treasury Manegerent end stnit credt cortrdl
- Market prce sk Reguizr montanng of far value of debt end fnencd nstruments.
- Change rvalue of property portiolo Reguir meriet veluahons, foous onqualty aesats: regubar porticie revews noiuding dertfyng propertes for dispoanl
- Genard econome dawntum Intermel group imits on debit to assets end rienest cover Ras,
Asset managerment nsks ~  Increased voads Pocy of actve terant rmx maragement. Development and remodeling propcts 1o respand 1o chengng
requremerts of etaler ond shopper
— Faiure 1o meet rertd targets Reguar reporing of perorrnance agesst iargets.
vestment/Siretegc nsks - Drnersficabonnto ngw aress of property Retanng end apporing expenenced menagenment leams/overseas represantaives. Secumng 'ocal pertners
use erd gengraphical locabon for overseas mvestime nt bus rstaring & meesure of nduence.
Deveoprment neks - Acquston of stes for developmerd Internd autherty imés for captal egerdiure.
~  Secumng planning consent K Gevelcoments Ploy of austanable diveopmert end megererabon of brownfidd stes. Constiuctive dilogue wihplarrng authonies.
- Commtment to procesd Approvel prooess based on detailed project spprasals.
- Constructon and leting sk Regutar monderng and forecesting of project costs and rertd ncome
PeopleHR nsks - Appontment end reterion of key staff Arnual perforrrancs ard remuneration reviews. Career developrent and successon pkrvrg,
Drsaster/Terronsm naic - Effect of natural dsastertaronst strike on busness contruty Drsaster recovery planin place: Secunty end Heatth & Salety pofioes end procedurnss n shopping
certres/sfioes. Temongt naLrenca 18 n place
Heeth & Safety ~  Pesporsbity for the saisty of wetors 10 shoppng certres Comprehensve Heath & Safety policss e sscunty systems nstalled o shopping centres.
- Impact on reputation of potental crrmrel/ Morteang by Boerd of o ibgation and legal noka,
v proceedings
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Drrectors
The Dwrectors of Liberty International, all of whom
held office throughout the year, are as follows

Chayman
Sir Robert Finch

Executve Directors

D A Aschel, Chuef Executve

A C Smith, Fimance Director

K. E Chaldecott, Managng Drector of
Capital Shopping Centres

' D Hawksworth, Managing Director of
Capital & Counties

R M Cable, Group Development Direcior

Non-Executive Directors

JG Apel

RW T Buchanan

DPH Burgess MBE

G J Gordon {aternate R M Gordon)
1J Henderson CBE

L. James CBE

M Rapp

R Rowtey

N Sachdev

Since the year end, Mr A C Srmith has stepped
down as Finance Director of Liberty International
PLC wath effect from the end ot March 2008

In his place Liberty International has apponted
Mr1 C Durant who will join the group on

17 March 2008

Addtional information relating to the Directors
can be found in Note 36 on pages 48 to 50 on
Drrectors’ interests, in the report on Corporate
Governance on pages 55 to 59, and in the
Drrectors” remuneration report on pages 60 to 64

The powers of the Directors are determined by
UK tegsiabon and the Memorandumn and Articles
of Association of the Compary, together wath

any specfic authonties that may be given to the
Dyrectors by shareholders from time to time, such
as the power to allot shares and the power 10
make market purchases of the company's shares
which are descnbed in note 24 on page 44

Articles of Association

The rues governing the appontment and
replacement of Directors are contaned in the
Compary's Articles of Assocation

Changes to the Articles of Association must be
approved by shareholders in accordance with
the legesiation in force from tme o time

Substantial shareholdings

As at 10 February 2008 Liberty Intermational
had been notified of the following substantial
holdings of voting nghts over ordinary shares
of Liberty International

Directors’ report (continued)

The family interests of Sir Dorald Gordon
77,310,445 shares (21.35 per cent), Old

Mutual plc 18,473,080 shares (5 10 per cent),
Govemment of Singapora Irnvestment
Corporation Pvt Ltd 18,187,506 shares (5 02 per
cent}, Legal & General Investment Management
Limited 15,812,694 shares (4 37 per cent),
Liberty Group Limited 13,021,887 shares

(3 60 per cent) and Stehting Pensioenfonds
ABP 11,622,271 shares (3 21 per cent)

Employees

Employees are employed by Liberty Intemational
directly or by its subsichanes, CSC and Capital

& Countes Liberty International actvely
encourages employes nvolvement and
consuliation and places emphass on keeping its
employees informed of the company's actvhes
and finanaial performance by such means as
employee bnefings and publication to all staff

of relevant information and corporate
announcaments

The annual bonus arrangements help develop
employees’ interest in the company's
performance, full detais of these arangements
are gven in the Direclors' remuneration report
on pages 60 to 64 Note 37 on pages 50 and 52
contans detais of condiional awards of shares
under the annual bonus scheme and bonus
shares currently outstanding, as well as
outstanding optons

Liberty Intemational operates a non-discnrmatory
employment policy and full and far consideration
1S gven to applications for employrment from the
disabled where they have the appropnate skills
and abiities and to the continued empioyment

of staff who become disabled

Liberty Intemational encourages the continuous
development and ramng of s ermployees and
the provision of equal opportuniies for the training
and career development of disabled employeas

Information relating to employees is given in
note 37 on pages 50 and 52

The Liberty International group provides
retirement benefts for the maonty of ts
employees Detals of the group pension
arrangements are set out in note 38 on
pages 52 o 54

The environment

The group has adopted a Corporate
Responsibility (“CR”) strategy and details of the
pokicy and the group’s ams and activities are
gven on the company’s website A summary
boolet 1s also avallable for download from the
website or on reguest from the compary
Secretary’s office

The company recognises the mportance

of miremising the adverse mpact on the
emaronmeant of ts operatons — partcularty
through its two operating busnesses, CSC and
Capital & Counties — and the management of
energy consumption and waste recycling

The compary stnves continLously to Improve is
enmronmental performance  The ervironmental
management system is reqularty reviewed

to ensure that the company mantans ds
commitment {0 environmental matters

Dunng the year, the group made chantable
donations amounting to £270,749 (2006 -
£175,750} No political domations were made
n the year

In addition, the UK shopping centres prowded
the equivalent of £672,000 (2006 - £755,000)
in community support, Ncluding sponsorship
of local causes, support for Town Centre
management and prowsion of free mall space
and services

Credtor payment pohey

The group’s policy and practice is to pay
creditors promptly in accordance with agreed
terms of business

The ratio, expressed in days, between the
amounts nvoiced to the company by its suppliers
in the year endad 31 December 2007 and the
amounts owed to its creditors as at 31 December
2007 was nd days (2006 - nil days), as calculated
In accordance with the requirements of the
Comparies Act

Directors’ disclosure of nformation

o the audntors

Scfar as the Drectors are aware, there 1s no
relevant audit information of which the auditors
are unaware and each Director has taken all
reasonable steps to make himself or hersetf
aware of any refevant audit information and to
estabhsh that the auditors are aware of that
information

Audrtors

The audnors, PricewaternouseCoopers LLP,
have indicated ther wilingness to continue In
office and a resclution seelang to reappoint them
wil be proposed at the forthcorning Annual
General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

The nobice convening the 2008 Annual General
Meeting of the company 15 available on the
company’s website and 15 disinbuted separately
to those shareholders who have electad to
recave hard copies of the Annual report

By order of the Board

S Folger

Secretary 5'“&.%/
7 March 2008
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Company law requrres the Drectors to prepare
financia statements for each financia year, which
gve a true and far view of the state of affars of
the company and the group and of the profit or
lass of the group for that penod In prepanng
those financid statements, the Dwectors are
requered to

{3) sefact sutable accounting policies and then
apply them consstently,

{b) make jdgements and estmates that are
reasonable and prudeant,

(¢} state whether the financid statements comply
with IFRS as adopted by the European Urkon,

{d} prepare the financial statements on the
gang concem basis, unless It 1S Inappropnate
{o presumg that the group will continue in
busingss

The Directors confirm that they have complhed
with the above requrements in prepanng the
financial statemenis

The Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose, with
reasonable accuracy at any tme, the finanad
postion of the company and the group and to
enable them 1o ensure that the finanaal
statements and the Drrectors’ remuneration

report comply with the Companies Act 1985,
and, as regards group financial statements,
Article 4 of the |AS Regulation They are
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and the group and hence for takang
reasonable steps for the prevention and dstection
of fraud and other wregulamies

A copy of the firancial statements of the
company 15 placed on the Liberty International
PLC webste The mantenance and integnty of
the website s the responsibility of the Directors
and the work carned out by the auditors does
not involve consideration of these matters
Accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibiity
for any changes that may have occurred to the
financal siatements since they were inially
presented on the website

Legslation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other
jusdictions

By order of the Board gma@?

S Falger
Secretary

7 March 2008
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We have audited the group and parent comparny

financia statements (the “financial statements'™)
of Liberty International PLC for the year ended
31 December 2007 which compnse the group
ncome statement, the group and parent
company balance sheets, the group and parent
company statements of cash flow, the group
and parent company Statements of recognised
income and expense and the related notes
These financal statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out theren

We have also ardited the information in the
Drrectors’ remuneration report that 1s desenbed
as having been audited

Respective responsibilities of Directors

and auditors

The Dvectors' responsibiities for prepanng the
Apnual report, the Dectors” remunerabion report
and the financial statements in accordance

with applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Urvon are set outin the Statement of
Drreclors’ regponsibilittes

QOur responsibility 1s to audit the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and Intermnational Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) Thes report, iInduding the opmion, has
been prepared for and only for the company's
members as a hody n accordance with Section
235 of the Comparnies Act 1885 and for no
other purpose We do nat, in gving this opinon,
accept or assume responsibiity for any other
purpose o to any other person to whom this
feport 15 shown or into whose hands it may
come save whera expressly agreed by our

paor consant In witing

We report 10 you our opirion as to whether the
financial staternents grve a true and far view and
whether the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Comparves Act 1985 and, as regards the
goup financid statements, Article 4 of the 1AS
Regulabion We alse report to you whether in our
opinion the nformation given in the Directors®
report 15 consistent waith the financal statements

In addition we report to you if, In our opnion,

the company has not kept proper accounting
records, f we have not recerved all the
information and explanations we requie for our
audit, or if Information specified by law regarding
Drrectors’ remuneration and other transactons
15 not disclosed

Independent auditors’ report

to the members of

Liberty International PLC

Ws review whether the corporate governance
staterment reflects the compary’s lance
with the nine prowsions of the Combined Code
2006 specified for our rewew by the Listng Rules
of the Financial Servicas Authonty, and we report
if it does not We are not required to consider
whether the Board's statements on internal
contral cover al nsks and controls, o form an
opinon on the effectiveness of the group's
corporate governance procedures or its nsk

and contrd procedures

We read other information contamed in

the Apnual report and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited financial statements
The other nformation compnses only the
Drrectors’ report, the unaudited part of the
Dwectors’ remuneration report, the Charman's
statement, the Operating and Financial Review,
the Corporate governance staterment and the
other items included in the contents section

We conwider the imphications for our repon

if we become aware of any apparent
rmisstatements or matenal Inconsistencies with
the financial statements Our responsibilities
do not extend to any other nformabion

Basis of audit opmnion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practices Board
An audit ncludes exammaiion, on a test bass,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the finangal statements and

the part of the Directors’ remuneration report
10 be audited

It also inchudes an assessment of the significant
estimates and udgements made by the Dreclors
in the preparation of the financial statements,

and of whether the accountng policies are
approprate to the group’s and company’s
circumstances, consistently applhed and
adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as
to obian all the nformation and explanations
which we conadered recessary n order to
provde us with sufficent endence to gve
reasonable assurance that the financial
statements and the part of the Orectors’
remuneration report to be audited are free
from matenal misstaternent, whether causad
by fraud or other ireguianty or error In forrming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of nformation
n the financal staternents and the part of the
Dwectors’ remuneration report to be audited

Opimion
In our opinion

the group financial statements give a true

and fair view, N accordance with IFRSS as
adopted by the Ewropean Union, of the state
of the group's affars as at 31 December 2007
and of its loss and cash flows for the year
then ended,

« the parent company financal statemenis gve
atrue and far wew, n accordance with IFRSs
as adoptad by the European Union as applied
n accordance with the provsions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the
parert compasw’s affars as at 31 December
2007 and cash flows for the year then ended

» the financal statements and the part of the
Dwrectors’ remuneration report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companses Act 1985 and, as regards
the group financial statements, Articie 4 of the
IAS Regulation, and

the information gven in the Directors’ report
statements

PnecewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Regstered Auditors
London

7 March 2008
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 206
Notes £m £m
Revenue 1 5746 5628
Rental ncome 5467 4931
Rental expenses (172 4} (152 5
Net rental income 1 3743 306
Other income 20 348
(Defiat)/gan on revaluation and sale of investment and development property 3 {279 1) 5865
972 9619
Administration expenses 452 {342)
Operating profit 520 Q277
interest payable 4 (209 3) (1900)
Interest recevable 88 39
Exceptonal finance costs 4 33 (20
Change in far value of dervative financial instruments 270 1635
Net finance costs (176 §) 24 6)
Profit/(loss) before tax (124 g) 9031
Current tax 27 08
Deferred tax {23 8) 8145
REIT entry charge 39 (1564 3)
Taxation 6 {30 4} 6610
Profit/(loss) for the period {155 2) 1,564 1
Loss/lprofit) attnbutable to minonty interests 502 -
Profit/{loss) for the peniod attnbutable to equnty shareholders {105 0) 1,564 1
Basic earnings per share 9 (29 O)p 462 1p
Diluted earmings per share g (26 6)p 444 Op
Weighted average number of shares 9 361 7Tm 338 5m

Adusted earnings per share are shown innote 9
Notes on pages 28 to 54 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Balance sheets

as at 31 December 2007

Grou Gre C Com
2007 00 o0 S00%
Notes fm £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwall 2686 - - -
Investment and development property 10 86228 8,187 1 - -
Plant and equipment 1 12 09 - -
Investment in group companies 12 - - 1,9437 19627
Trade and other recenvables 14 835 814 18 23
Investments 15 510 - - -
8,7851 8,269 4 1,455 1,9650
Current assets
Trading property 13 437 452 - -
Trade and other recevables 14 1553 1138 1,9827 1412 8
Cash and cash equvalents 188 4 3218 04 -
3874 480 8 1,9831 14128
Total assets 9,1725 87502 3,9286 33778
Current liabilties
Trade and other payables 17 (3417} {319 5) (114 4) {123 2)
Tax habities 57 21 - -
Borrowings, ncluding finance leases 18 {152 3) 43 5) - -
Dervative financial nstruments 21 (38) 4 6) - -
(503 5) (369 7) {114 4) {123 2
Non-current habilties
Borrowngs, including finance leases 18 (3,704 0} (3,341 3) (111 3) (308 7)
Denvative financial nstruments 21 {94 0) (1289) - -
Deferred tax provision 22 (737 {40 8) - -
Other provisions 23 (14) 49 01) ©8
Cther payables {87 0) 132 2) (18 17
{3,960 1) 3848 1) (1132 {112
Total habilities {4,463 6) (4,017 8) (227 6) 234 9)
Net assets 47089 47324 3,701 0 3,143 4
Equrty
Called up ordinary share capital 24 1814 1814 1814 181 4
Share premium account 24 a756 9756 9756 9756
Treasury shares 25 (96) {64) (96) 6 4)
Convertible bond resenve 27 21 91 91 g1
Cther non-distnbutable reserves 28 2754 2651 609 619
Retained earnings 26 83,0751 3,307 6 2,4836 1,921 8
Atinbutable to equity shareholders 45070 47324 3,701 0 31434
Minonty interests 2019 - - -
Total equrty 4,7089 47324 37010 3,143 4

These consolidated finanaal statemenis have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2008

D A. Fischel
Chief Executive

AC Smith
Fnance Director

Notes on pages 28 to 54 form part of these consolidated financiat statements
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Statements of recognised
income and expense

G G [+ Com)|

2007 o o0t book

£m £m £m £m

Profit for the penod {155 2) 1,564 1 6850 4765
Actuanal fossesi/gains on defined benefit pension schemes {2.Q) Q7 1.9 a7
Tax onitems taken directly to equity 05 49 04 02
Gans on revaluation of nvestments, net exchange translation differences and other movements 64 46 {10 10
Net Josses) recogrised in equity due to minonty interests en - - -
Net gains/{losses) recogrsed in equaty 42 88 (2.1) 15
Total recogrsed ncome and {expense) for the penod {151 0) 15653 6829 4780
Total recognsed (income) and expense attnbutable to minonty interests 509 - - -
Total recognised income and {expense} for the penod atinbutable to equity shareholders {100 1} 1,5553 682.9 4780

A summary of changes in equity 1s shown in note 29
Notes on pages 28 to 54 form part of these consalidated financial statements
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Statements of cash flows

Gi Gr c Com,
2007 W06 200 Sook
£m £m fm m

Cash flows from operating actvities
Operating profit 520 g277 6399 405 5
Adustments for non-cash items
Unreahsed net révaluation gans on investment property 3165 (558 5) - -
Unreafised gans on transter of rading property - 331) - -
Profit on sale of investment property {37 4) 28 0) - -
Deprecation and amorisation 03 02 - -
Amorisaton of lease incentves and other dwect costs {1 €) 103 - -
Cash flows from operations before changes in working caprtal 3208 3186 6389 405 5
Change in trade and other recenvables 64 (109) (596 8) {8703
Change in trading property 85 97 - -
Change in current asset investments (392 30 - -
Change in trade and other payables (685 1) 05) 137 (3 5)
Cash generated from operations 2276 3196 58 468 3)
Interest pad (222.0) {198 6) 57 (110
Interest receved 98 29 663 340
Tax pad {129) {66) - -
Cash flows from operating actvities 2.5 1176 117 4 {445 3)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase and development of property {575 5) 653 9 - -
Sale of property 4592 127 3 - -
Purchase of subsidiary comparies {800} - - -
Sale of nvestments and other fixed assets - - - 150
Sale of Interests i jont ventures and subsidiary companes - - 82 1863
Cash flows from investing activities (196 3) (526 6) 82 201 3
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue and repurchase of shares {31) 3414 (31) 3414
Borrowings drawn 3826 902 0 - -
Borrowings repad (1970 (486 0) - -
Equity dwdends pad {1221) 97 4) {122 1) (97 4)
Cash flows from financing actrties 604 660 0 {1252 244 ()
Net (decrease)increass in ¢ash and cash equivalents (1334) 2510 04 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 3218 708 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1884 3218 o4 -

Notes on pages 28 to 54 form part of these consolidated financial statements
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Accountmg convention and basis

of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, as adopted by the Europsan Urson
(tFRS7), IFRIC interpretations and with those
parts of the Companies Act 1985 apphcable to
compares reporting under IFRS The Dvectors
have taken advantage of the exempton offered
by Section 230 of the Companies Act not to
present a separate Income statement for the
parent compary

The financial statements have been prepared
under the histoncal cost conveniion as modified
by the revaluation of properties, avalable-for-sale
investments, financial assets and babilitties held
for trading A summary of the more important
groun acoounting policies 1s set out below

The preparaton of financial statements m
conformity with generally accepted accounting
prnaiples requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and habities at the dats of the financial
statements and the reperted amounts of reverues
and expanses dunang the reporting penod
Although these estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of the amount,
event or actions, actual results ulhmatety may
differ from those estmates Where such
judgemenis are made they are ncluded wihin
the accounting pdicies below

IFRS7, ‘Financial instrurnents  Drisclosuras’,

and the complementary amendment to IAS1,
‘Presentation of financial instruments — Capital
disclosures’ were adopted dunng 2007

This introduces new disclosures relating to
financial Instrumerts These do not have any
impact on the dassification and valuation of the
group or company’s finanaial Instruments, or the
disclosures relating to taxation and trade and
other payables At the date of approval of these
financial statements, it 1s not anticipated that any
standards or interpretations in 1ssue but not yet
effective will have a matenal impact on the
fnancial statements

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financid nformation

inciudes financid information 0 respect of the
company and its subsdiary undertakangs
Subsichary undentakings are those entities n
wisch the group has the ability to goven the
firancial and operating policies, whether through
amgjonty of the voling nghis or otherwise

The group's (nterest N jomntly controlled entites are
accounted for using proportional consolidaton
The group's share of the assets, labidties, income
and expenses are combined with the equivalent
items in the consolidated financial statements on
aline-by-line basis

The separable assets and labiiies acqured in
a business combination are measured at ther
estimated far value at the date of acquasition
Asy excess of the farr value consideration,
iIncluding any costs directly attnbutable to the
acqusition, over the far value of the assets and
habilives acqured 1s recogrused as goodwil

Principal accounting policies -

group and company

Goodwill

Goodwil ansing on acquisition of group
undertalangs 1s camed as an intangible asset
at cost less accumulated impawment iosses

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties owned or
leased by the group which are held for long-term
rental ncome and for capital appreciation

The group has electad 1o use the far value model
Investment property 1S Intially recogrused at cost
including transaction cests and subsequently
revalued at the balance sheet date to far value
as determined by professonally qualified external
valuars on the basis of market value Market value
15 armved at after deducting notronal acquisiion
costs In accordance with IAS 40 - “investment
Property”, property held under leases s stated
gross of the recognised finance lease habdity

Gans or losses ansing from changes in the fair
value of Investment property are recogrised in
the Income statement of the penod in which they
anse Depreciation 1s not prowded in respect of
nvestment properties iIncluding ntegral plant

When the group redevelops an exsting
investiment property for continued future uss as
anwwvestment property, the property remains an
nvestment property measured at far value and s
not reclassified Interest 1s capitalised (before tax
rehef), on the basis of the average rate of interest
paid on the relevant debt outstanding, untl the
date of practcal completion

When the use of a property changes fom that of
trading to investment, that property 1s transferred
at far value, with any resulting gan being
recogmised as property trading profit

Development property

The group has elected to uss the far value

modet as reliable estmaies are available

Property under davelopment and land are intially
recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at
the balance shest date to far value as determined
by professionally quabfied external valuers

Cost ndudes interest and other directly
attributable outgoings, except in the casa of
properties and land where no development is
imminent, n which case no Interest 1s ncluded

In accordance with IAS 16 — “Property, Plant

and Equpment”, gans and losses ansing from
changes in ihe far value of development property
are dealt with In reserves 1o the extent that far
value exceeds cost and are otherwse recognised
nihe ncomes siatemem Upon completion,
development property to be held for long-tem
rental ncome and capital appreciation are
transierred to nvestment property

Leases

Leases are clasafied according to the substance
of the transaction Alease that transfers
substanually all the nsks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee s clasafied as a finance lease

All other leases are normally classiied as
operatng leases

~ group as lessee

Inaccordance with IAS 40, finance and operating
leases of vwestment property are accounted for
as finance leases and recognised as an asset
and an obligation {o pay future nunikmum lease
payments The mvestment property asset 1s
ncluded in the balance sheet at far value,

gross of the recognised finance lease habxdity
Lease payments are alocated between the liabiity
and finance charges so as to achieve a constant
fnancing rate

Other finance leased assets are capitalised at the
lower of the far value of the leased asset or the
present valus of the minimum lease payments and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
the useful Ife of the asset

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to the ncome statement on a straight-
e basis over the lease teem

- group as lessor

Assats leased out under finance leases are
recogresed as recevables at the amount

of the group’s net nvestment n the ieases
Finance lease mcome 1s allocated to accounting
penods SO as to reflect a constant rate of retun
on the net nvestment

Assets leased out under operating leases are
included n nvestment property, with rental
income recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 1s depreciated to its residual
value on a straight-ine basis over its expected
usefu Iife of up to five years

Trading property

Property and land held for sale are included

in the balance sheet at the lower of cost and
net realisable value Cost consists of direct cost
axcluding interest

Investments

Investments are dassified as avalable-for-sale
wnwvestrnents or trading investments dependent
on the purpose for which they were acquired

For listed imvastments, far value 1s the bid market
histed value ruing at the balance sheet date

Avallablg-for-sale nvestments, being investments
intended to be held for an indefinite penod, are
revalued to far value at the balance sheet date
Gans or losses ansing from changes in far value
of available-for-sale nvestments are ncluded

in the revaluation reserve except to the extent

that losses are attnbutable to mparment, In
which case they are recognised in the income
statement Upon disposal, accumuated far value
adustments are ncluded 1IN the income staternent

Trading swestments, acquired pnnapally for the
purpose of generating a profit from short-tem
fluctuations in prce, are included N current assets
and revalued to far valug Reatised and urrealised
gans or kosses anaing from changes in far value
are inciuded n the ncome statement of the penod
in which they anse

Interests n subsidiary undertakings
Interests m subsdiary undentalangs are camed
in the company’s balance sheet at cost

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carmed in the
balance sheet at far value For the purposes

of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents compnse cash on hand, deposits with
banks, other short-term, highly igund nvestments
wath onginal matuntes of thvee months or less
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Revenue recognrtion

Property revenue consists of gross rental income
calculated on an accruas basis, together with
sales and services as principal in the ordinary
course of business, excluding sales of mvestment
properties Rental ncome recervable n the penoad
from lease commencement to the earlier of lease
expiry and any tenant option to break 1s spread
evenly gver that penod Any mcentive for lessees
to enter nto a lease agreemant 1s spread over the
same pencd

Contingent rents, being those lease payments
that are not fixed at the Inception of a lease, for
example Ncreases ansing on rent reviews, are
recorded as income in the penods in which
they are earned Rent reviews are recognised
as income, based on estmates, when it 1s
reasonable 1o assure they wil be recenved

Where revenue 15 obtained by the sale of
properties, it1s recognised when the significant
nsks and returns have been transferred tc the
buyer This wall normally take place on exchange
of contracts unless there are condihions attached
For conditional exchanges sales are recogrised
when these conditions are satisfied

Revenue in respect of nvestment and other
income represants investrment Income, earned
on an accruals basis and profits or losses
recognised on investments held for the short term
Dridends are recognised when the shareholders’
nght tc recenve payment has been established
Interast ncome 1s accrued on a time bass, by
reference to the pnncipa outstanding and the
effective nterest rate

Exceptional tems

Exceptional lems are those significant tems
which are separataly disclosed by wirtue of therr
size or naidence (o enable a full understanding
of the group’s financal performance
Transactions which may give nse to exceptional
items are prnncipally gains or losses on disposal
of investmenrts, subsdanes and earty terrmination
of debt nstruments

Income taxes

The charge for current taxation s based on the
results for the year as adusted for tems which
are non-assessable or disallowed 1t s calculated
using rates that have been enacted or
substantvely enacted by the balance sheet date
Tax payable upon realisation of revaluation gans
racognised n pnor penods s recorded as a
current tax charge with a release of any
associated deferred taxaton

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet
liability method in respect of temporary differences
between the carmying amount of assets ard
liabiities in the financia statements and the
cormesponding tax bases used in computation of
taxable profit, with the exception of deferred tax
on revaluation surpluses where the tax basis used
1S the accounts’ histonc cost

Deferred tax 1s provided on all temporary
differences, except N respect of unremitted
eamings from investments N subsidianes and jont
ventures where the tming of the reversal of the
temporary difference 1s controlled by the group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Principal accounting
group and company

Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantally enacted by
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset i1s realised or
the deferred tax habiity 1s settled It 1s recognised
I the Income statement except when it relates
to tems credited or charged directly to equty,

in which case the deferred tax s also dealt with
n equity

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be
avalable aganst which the temporary differences
can be utiised

Deferred taxation assets and labiities are offset
onty when they relate to taxes fevied by the same
authonty, with a legal nght to set off and when
the group Intends to settle them on a net basis

Pensions

The retrement benefit iabilty recognsed in

ihe balance sheet ts the present value of the
defined benefit obligations, fess the far value of
plan assets, adjusted for past serice costs The
defined benefit cbligation and current service cost
are calculated annually by ndependent actuanes
using the projected unit credit method Actuanal
gains and losses are immediately recognised in
the Statements of recogrised income and expense

The cosis of defined contnbution schemes and
group personal plans are charged aganst profits
in the year n which they are incured

Share-based payments

The cost of granting share optrons and other
share-based remuneration 1o employses and
Direciors 1s recogmised through the income
staternent with referance to the far value at the
date of grant In the case of options granted,
far value 1s measured using an option prcing
model and charged over the vesting penod of
the options Own shares hetd In connection with
employee share plans and other share-based
payment arrangements are treated as treasury
shares and deducted from equity

Provisions

Provsions are recognised when the group has

a current obhgatbion ansing from a past event and
it 1s probable that the group will be required to
settle that obligation Provisions are measured

at the Directors' best estimate of the expenditure
requred to settle that obligation at the baance
sheet date

Foreign currencies

The assets and labiites of foreign entrties are
translated Into stering at the rate of exchange
ruling 2t the balance sheet date and ther income
staternent and cash flows are translated at the
average rate for the penod Exchange differences
ansing from the retransiation of the net nvestent
In foreign enbiies are dealt with N reserves

Transactions in currencies other than the
group’s functional cumency are recorded at the
exchange rate prevaling at tha transaction dates
Foreign exchange gains and losses resuiting
from sattlernent of these transactions and from
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities
denorninated in foresgn currencies are recognised
In the Income statement except when qualifyng
as hedges, in which case they are dealt with

IN reserves

olicies -
&)ntinued)

Debt instruments

Debt nstruments are recogrised inmially at
their issue proceeds, net of transachion costs
Debt nstruments are subsequently stated at
amorised cost using the effectve yield method,
with the difference between net proceeds and
redermption value recognised in the ncome
stalerment over the penod of the bomowings
On garly termination of debt nstruments, all
unamortised transachion costs are recognsed
immediately in the income statement

Derwvative financial instruments

The group enters into denvatve transactions
such as interest rate swaps and forward foreign
exchange contracts in order 10 manage the
nsks ansing from its actvities Denvatves are
recorded at far value based on market prices,
estmated future cash flows and forward rates
as appropnate

The group apples hedge accounting to is forward
foreign exchange contracts where they meet the
relevant crtena for hedging a net investment n

a foresgn operation Changes in the far value of
such denvatives that are designated and effective
as hedges are recogrised directly i reserves,

to be transferred to the income statement in the
penod dunng which the exchange movement

on the hedged item 1s racogrised In the income
statement Ay neffective portion is recogrised
immediately in the Income staternent as a finance
cost When a hedging nstrument expires, 1s sofd
or no longer qualfies as a hedge, the cumulatve
gan or [oss remans in reserves until the hedged
itemn 1s recogrised n the Income statement

The group does not apply hedge accounting to

its interest rate swaps Any change in the far value
of such denvatives 1s recogrised immediately

In the ncome statement as a finance cost

Equity nstruments

Equty instruments 1ssued are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs

When the group’s own equity instruments are
repurchased, consideration pad s deductad from
equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled
Where such shares are subsequentty sold or
reissued, any consideration receved 1s included
i equty

Compound mstruments

At the date of issue of compound instruments,
the fair value of the liatyiity component 1s
estmated using the prevaling market interest rate
for simidar nor-compound debt The difference
between the proceeds of issue and the far vaue
of the hakxlity, the embedded opton ic convert
into equity, 1s ncluded N equity [ssue costs are
apportioned between the hability and equity
components based on thew relative intial camyng
values The habiity element of compound
instruments 15 subsequently measured using

the expecied interest rate method The value

of the equsty component is not remeasured in
subsequent penods
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Notes to the accounts

1 Segmental reporting
(a) Business segments

For management puposes the group s orgarsed indo operating dvaions, of which the two targest are UK shopping cenlres and other commerad properties.

2007
UK Other
shopping  commercial COther Group
centres properbes  Exhibibon  acthibes Total
Em £m £m £m £m
Revenue 4248 1263 24.7 {12} 5746
Rent recervable 3348 988 247 - 458 3
Servce charge income 576 93 - - 669
Other income 193 22 - - 215
4117 1103 247 - 5467
Rent payable (22 3) 31 - - {25 4)
Service charge and other non-recoverable costs (100 6) (318 {14 6} - (147 0}
Net rental ncome 2888 754 101 - 3743
Property trading profits 15 14 - - 29
Other income - 03 - {12 (09)
{Defiaty/gan on revatuation and sale of mmvestment and development property (284 5) Q6 48 - (219 1)
Segment result 58 777 149 {12 a7 2
Unallccated administration costs (452
Operating profit 520
Tota assets 6,692 ¢ 19055 4179 157 1 9,1725
Told habiities {3,108 6) (1,106 5} {282 5} 340 {4,463 6)
Net assets 3,5834 7990 1354 191 1 4,7089
Other segment tems
Capital expenditwe 2268 4584 3766 - 1,061 8
Depreciaton/amortsation - Q3 - - 03
2006
UK Other
shoppng commercal Exhbt 101111; G'rl'athl
tre opertes Iton actr otal
e E?'ﬁ o £m £m fm
Revenue 4211 1382 - 25 5628
Rent recenvable 3204 798 - - 4002
Service charge Nncome 516 156 - - 67 2
COther income 159 g8 - - 257
387 9 1052 - - 493 1
Rent payable 232) 38 - - 270
Service charge and other non-recoverable costs 927) {32 8) - - {125 5)
Net rental ncome 2720 686 - 3406
Property trading profits/fosses) {0g) 3286 - 10 328
Other income - 05 - 15 20
Gan on revaluation and sale of rwvestment and development property 4707 1158 - - 5865
Segment resuft 7419 2175 - 25 G619
Unallocated adrministration costs (342)
Operating profit xR77
Total assets 67823 1,736 0 - 2319 8,750 2
Total kabilites 3,179 4) 930 1) - 917 4,017 8)
Net assets 3,602 9 8059 - 3236 47324
Other segment tems
Capita expenditure 2519 487 3 ~ - 7392
Deprecaion/amortsation - 02 - - 02
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

1 Segmental reportmg contnued

(b) Geographical segments Revenue Total assets Capital expendihnre
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
fm jag £€m £m £m m
United Kingdom 5340 5109 8,756 4 8,3604 1,048 5 7351
Urited States 406 519 4161 3898 123 41
5746 5628 8,1725 87502 1,061 8 7392

2 Operating leases
The group sams rontal Income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under operating leases

In the United Kingdom the standard shopping centre lease 1s let for a term of 10 to 15 years, erither at market rent or, for tumover based feases, at a

munimum rent generally set at 80 per cent of market rent Standard lease provisions include service charge payments, recovery of other direct costs and
review every five years edher to market rent or, for turmover leases, to B0 per cent of market rent Standard tumover based leases have a tumover percentage
agreed with each lessee which is appled to a retal unt’s annual sales and any excess between the resutbing turnover rent and the minimum rent 1S recavable
by the group In the Unsted Kingdom standard commercial leases vary considerably between markets and locations but typically are let, for a term of five

to 15 years, at market rent wath provisions to review to market rent every five years Typically, singa let properties are leased on terms where the tenant 1s
responsible for repars and running costs, and mutti-let properties are leased on tenms including service charges In the United States leases are typically of
shorter duration, sometimes with renewal options

The future mmimum lease amounts racenvable under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows ZOE?TTI' 20£0n§
Not fater than one year 372 3924
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,2988 1,385 1
Later than five years 1,664 5 1,8618

3,324 4 36383

The income statement includes £7 2 milion (2006 - £8 5 million) recogrised in respect of expected ncreased rent resulting from outstanding revews where
the actual rent wil only be determined on settlement of the rent review

3 {Defic)/Gain on revaluation and sale of investment and development property 208; 2%?“5
{Deficsti/gain on revaluation of investment and development property (316 5) 5685
Gain on sale of nvestment property 374 280
(Deficrt)/gan on revaluation and sale of Investment and development property {279 1) 586 5
4 Finance costs 2007 2006
£m £m
Interest payable
On bank overdralts and loars 2118 1854
On convertible detat €9 76
On obligations under finance leases 87 56
Gross mterest payable —recuring 224 4 198 6
Interest capitalised on developments (151) {8 6)
Interest payable 2093 1900
Costs of termination of financia instruments 20 -
Issue costs watten off on redempbon of loans 13 20
Exceptional finance costs 33 20

Interest 1s capitalised, before tax relief, on the basis of the average rate of interest paid of 6 25 per cent {2006 - 6 25 per cent) on the relevant debt, apphed
to the cost of developments dunng the year
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

P 2007 206
5 Profitf{Loss) before tax podl o
Profit{Loss) before taxaton s amved at after charging
Staff costs {see note 37) 318 296
Depreciation 03 a2
Auditors' remuneration 08 07
Remuneration pad to the company’s auditors for non-audit work 04 02
A f ) 2007 2006
more detaled analyais of auditors” remuneration 1s provded below Rt 0
Remuneration to the pnncipa auditor in respect of audt fees
Statutory audit of the company and consolidated accounts 490 450
Rermuneration to the pancipal auditor in respect of other services
Statutory audit of subsidiary accounts 224 145
Statutory audit of the pension funds 8 8
Other services pursuant to legslation 70 70
Corporate finance advisory semces 21 50
Taxation agusory senaces 84 51
Other services 248 10
1,145 784
Remuneration to other auditors compnses
Statutory audt of UK subsidianes 92 -
Tax senaces to UK subsidianes 20 -
Statuiory audi of US subsidiary 114 109
Tax services to US subsidary 78 81
T REIT enf
§ Taxation Curent Deforred g 2007 2006
em £m £m £m em
Tax on non-excephonal tems 27 {05} - 22 120
Tax on exceptional items and property disposals - - - - 18
Other exceptional tax - - 39 39 1221
Valuation tems
Imvestment and development property - 87 - 87 (848 1)
Dervatve financal instruments - 156 - 156 512
27 238 39 304 6610
2007 2006
Taxation charge for the financial year rold P
Current UX corporation tax at 30% (2006 — 30%) on profits 60 276
Pnor year tems — UK corporation tax 34 02
26 278
Overseas taxation {ncduding £0 7m (2006 - £ni) of pnor year items) 01 18
Cument tax on profits excluding exceptional items and property disposals 27 2946
Deterred tax
Oninvestment and development property 87 (8481)
On danvative financial instruments 156 512
On other temporary differences ()] (17 6
Deferred tax on profits excluding exceptiond tems and property disposals 238 (8145
Tax charge/{credit) on profits excluding exceptonal tems and property disposals 265 (784 9)
REIT entry charge 39 1543
Exceptional current tax credit - 322
Tax on exceptonal tems and property disposals
—curent tax - 18
— deferred tax - -
Exceplional tax and tax credit on exceptona items and property disposals - 304
Total tax charge/(credrt) 304 6610
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

6 Taxation continued
Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the penod Is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30 per cent) The differences are explained below

2007 2006
£m £m

Profit{l oss) before tax {124 8) 903 1
Profit/{Loss) on ordinary actviies muitiplied by the standard rate n the UK (30%) 374 2709
UK capria allowances not reversing on sale 82 04
Disposals of properties and investments 10 {2 5)
Tax relief on tems only appeanng in subsidiary accounts - 32 2)
Pnor year corporation tax items 2n 02
Pricr year deferred tax items 25 11
Bxpenses disallowed, net of capiaised interest (329 (4 6
REIT exemption — corporation tax (317} -
REIT exermption — deferred tax 1081 (1.041 G}
REIT exemption ~ entry ¢harge 39 154 3
Utiisation of losses brought forward 10 -
Overseas taxaton 08 03
Reduction in deferred tax following cut in corporate tax rate 7 -
Total tax charge/(credit) 304 {661 O)
Tax iterns that are taken drectly to equty are shown in the Statements of Recogrised Income and Expense
7 Profit for the financial year attributable to shareholders of Liberty Intemational PLC
Profits of £685 0 milion are dealt with in the accounts of the holding comparty in respect of the year (2006 — £476 5 midlion) No income staterment i1s
presented for the company as permitted by Section 230 Companies Act 1985

2007 2006
8 Dividends £m £m
Ordinary shares
Prior penod final dwdend pad of 17 25p per share (2006 - 15 25p) 624 511
Intenm dradend pard of 16 5p per share (2006 — 13 75p) 597 463
Dmdends paid 1221 a7 4
Proposed dnadend of 17 6p per share (2006 - 17 25p} 636 62 4
The dwvdend proposed by the Board 1s the final dwdend in respect of 2007 and 1s not acoounted for until it has been approved at the Annuat General
Meeting The amount will be accounted for as an appropnation of retaned eamings In the year ending 31 December 2008
Details of the shares in 1ssue and dividends waved are given in notes 24 and 25

2007 2008
9 Eamings per share mullion milion
Wexghted average ordinary shares in 1ssus 3628 3400
Weighted average ordinary shares held as treasury shares and by ESOP 11 {15)
Woeighted average ordmary shares i issue for calculation of basic earnings per share 3617 3385
Werghted average ordinary shares to ba issued on conversion of bonds and under employee incentive arrangements 147 150
Weighted average ordinary shares in 1ssue for caleulation of diluted eammgs per share 3764 3535
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

2007 2006
9 Earnings per share continued o o
Eamings used for calculation of basic eammgs per share (105 0) 1,564 1
Reduction in interest charge from conversion of bonds, net of tax 50 53
Earmings used for calculation of diluted eamings per share {100 0} 1,569 4
Basic earnings per share {pence} (29.0)p 462 1p
Diluted eamings per share (pence) {26 6)p 444 Op
Earnings used for calculation of basic earmings per share (105 0) 1,564 1
Add back exceptional finance costs 33 20
Add back REIT entry charge a9 1543
Less other exceptional tax - {30 4)
Add back/{less) gain on revaiuation and sale of investment and development properties 2791 (586 5)
Less far value movement on demvative financial instruments (27 0) {163 5)
Add back/{less) daferred tax in respect of investment and development properties 42 (787 2)
Add back deferred tax in respect of demvative financd instruments 156 512
Add back/(ess) deferred tax on capital allowances 45 B0%
Less gan on transfer of rading property to investment property net of tax - (28 5)
Less amounts abave due 1o minonty interests (48 3) -
Eamings used for calculation of adjusted earnings per share 1303 1146
Adjusted eammngs per share {pence} 36 0p 3359
Earmings used for calculation of adjusted earnings per share 1303 1146
Reduction in interest charge from conversion of bonds, net of tax 50 53
Earnings used for calculation of adjusted, diluted earmings per share 1353 1199
Adjusted, diluted earnings per share {pence) 359 33 9%
Leasehok
10 Investment and development property Froehold % yg;z Total
m £m fm
At January 2007 45394 34877 8,187 1
Additions 424 9 6369 1,0618
Disposals (157 4) (1460 {303 4)
Foreign exchange fuctuations 62 - (63
Deficit on valuation (155 4) (161 1) (316 5
At 31 December 2007 48054 3.8174 86228
Leasehold qver
Freehold 50 years Total
£m £m £m
Al 1 January 2006 3904 7 3,0331 6,937 8
Additions 496 2 2430 7392
Disposals 2y’ {1429 (1169
Transfers from trading properties 924 163 1087
Foreign exchange fluctuabions 402 - {402)
Gan on valuation 3490 2095 5585
At 31 December 2006 4,599 4 34877 8,187 i
As at As at
31 December 31 Decamber
2007 2006
£m £m
Balance sheet camying value of investment and development properties 8,622.8 8,187 1
Adjustment in respect of head leases and ncentives 121 189
Market value of investment and development properties 8,6349 8,206 0
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

101 devel UK us Total
nvestment and development property continued & e o

Geographical analysis

At 31 December 2007 8,2455 3773 8,622 8

At 31 December 2006 78335 3536 8187 1

Includad wathin investment and development properties 1s £13 8 millon (31 December 2006 - £3 3 million) of interest capitalised on developments and

redevelopments In progress

The group’s interests N investment and development properties were valued as at 31 December 2007 by ndependent external valuers in accordance with
the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of RICS, on the basis of market value Market value represents the figure that would appear n a hypothetical contract

of sale between a willing buyer and a wiling sefler

11 Plant and equipment Accumulated 2007 2006
Cost depreciaton Net Net
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 7B 69 09 06
Additions 06 - 06 05
Charge for the year - 03 03} 02)
At 31 December 84 72) 12 09
Plant and equipment nclude vetrdles, fixtures, fittings and other office equipment
12 Investment in group companies c Com
g obo0Y s
£m £€m
Al 1 January 1,9627 20928
Additions - 1000
Disposals {(190) (230 1)
At 31 December 1,943 7 19627
Investment in group compankes includes equity and debt nstruments
Gi ha Group shar
Joint ventures roup sl 20(;9.' oup 2002
£m £m
Summarnised mcome statements
Gross renta income 200 39
Net renial ncome 172 27
Property trading profits - 114
({Defict)/gan on revaluation and sale of investment and development property (189) 49
Administration expenses (10) 08}
Nat finance costs 01) (16)
Tax - 09
Profit/{loss) after tax (28) 157
Summarised balance sheets
Non-current assets 6587 2847
Current assets 265 26 1
Partners’ loans 25 44 5
Current iabiities (32 6) (102)
Creditors amounts faling due aiter more than one year (80 4) 49 3)
Net assets 5747 2058

All jant ventures are held equally wath ather joint venture investors on a 5050 basis Jont venitures are accounted for n the group accounts using

proportional consolidation The group's share of the assets, liabdites, income and expenditure shown above are inciuded I the consolidated financial
statements on a line-by-ne basis In the UK, jont ventures compnse the Xscape Braehead general partnership, the St David's bmited Partnership and
The Great Capital Parinership The Xscape Braehead general parinership was established n 2004, for nvestment in the Xscape Lasure Scheme at
Brachead, Renfrew, Glasgow and has a 31 December year end The St Dawd's bimited Parinership was established in 2004 for investment in the exsting
St Davd's shopping centre, Cardiff, and development of a 867,500 sq fi retal-led mixed-use extension, and has a 31 December year end The Great
Capital Partnership was established dunng the year to own, manage and develop a number of Central London properties and has a 31 March year end

Al other joint ventures are regstered in the Uneted States and are in the business of property investment  Full detals of all jont venturas will be attached

to the company's Annual Return to be fled with the Registrar of Comparves
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13 Trading property G%g Gzra.)pé
£m £m

Undeveloped sites B7 452
Complsted properties 70 -
437 452

The estimated replacement cost of trading properties based on market value amounted to £46 1 million (31 December 2006 — £49 9 milion)

Gl Gre C Com
14 Trade and other recevables 5316? 28'-102 m%g %&
£m £ £m fm
Amounts fallmg due within one year
Rents recevable 273 261 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 1,976 1 1,.3852
Dervative financal instruments 204 70 - -
Tax recoverable - - 03 152
Other recevables 604 423 18 13
Prepayments and accrued Income 472 384 45 i1
1563 1138 1,982.7 1.4128
Amounts falling due after more than one year
{Other recenvables 179 122 18 23
Dervatve financial instrumerits 50 140 - -
Prepayments and accnued income 606 552 - -
835 814 1.8 23

Amaounts owed by subaidiary undentakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and for amounts falling within formalised loan agreements, interest bearning

15 Investments Group Group
2007 2006

£m £m

At 1 January - -
Additions 433 -
Revaluation of investments (dealt with in reserves) 77 -
At 31 December 510 -

Investments are designated as available-for-sale and held in the balance sheet at farr value with changes in far value included in equaty

16 Business combinations

On 24 Juty 2007, the group acqured 50% of the share capital of Earls Court & Olympia Group (‘EC&07) which owns and manages the EC&0 Centres in
West London and the Brewery, Chiswell Street, London EC2 The group owns exhibition venues and provdes conferencing and bangueting senaces fo
extebiion and conference organisers This business contnbuted net revenues of £5 0 milion, and a net loss of £3 O milon Had the acquisition occurred on
1 January 2007 the net revenue woud have been £27 2 rmullion with net profit of Cnd

On 7 December 2007, the group acqured 100% of the share capital of the Covent Garden Restaurants Group (‘Restaurants’) which trades as licensed
restaurants, bars and mugc venues This business contnbutad net revenues and net profit of £nil, and had the acquisibon occurred on 1 January 2007 the
net revenue would have been £6 3 milion waith net profit of £0 4 mifion

These amounts have been caloulated by adiusting the resulls of the subsidianes to reflsct the group's accounting polices

Group
Purchase consideration £m
Cash pad 909
Drrect costs relating 1o acqusition 36
Total purchase consideration 94 5
Fair value of assets acqured (67 9)
Goodwill 266

The goodwall 15 atinbutable to the value of the operating businesses, pnmarily the Restaurants The goodwill will be impared over tme in the course of
reaisng the development potential in locations from which the businesses currently operate
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16 Business combmations continued
The assets and kablities ansing from the acquissbon are as ollows

Total
Fair value Acquiree's
carrying value
£m
Non-current assets
Investrnent and development property 389 8 3888
Goodwill - 301
Plant and equipment - 17
Trade and other recenables 18 12
lvestments 01 01
Current assets
Trade and other recervables 190 190
Cash and cash equivalents 42 42
Current Labilties
Trade and other payables (29 4) {28 0)
Tax habies )] omn
Borrowangs, ncluding finance leases - (10 1)
Group intercompany balances {101) 00
Non-current habtltes
Borrowings, ncluding finance leases (249 9) {249 9)
Denvative financid nstruments 61 00
Deferred tax pravision (115 9
Other provisions 00 02)
Net assets 1194 1503
Mmonty interests (515
Net assets acquired 679

There were No business combinatons in the year ended 31 December 2006

From 25 March 2007 The MetroCentre Partnership has been consolidated as a subsdiary £240 millon of caprital was introduced into The MetroCentre
Partnership by a thwd party compnsing partner's caprital and loan The et proceeds receved were split between hability and minonty interest components,
with the carmyng value liabilty component being the farr value of similar debt obtained from the market, as follows

Em
Net proceeds of partnershyp capital from thed party 240
Mionty interests (197
Liabihity at the date of the balance sheet 43
The effective interast rate on the hability component was 6 85 per cent
G Gre [~ Com
17 Trade and other payables ésuug 2&% omgg; ﬁ
m £m £m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed lo subsicary undertakings - - 1026 1187
Other taxes and socal secunty 683 B0 11 07
Other payables 557 916 - -
Rents receved 0 advance 1040 K7 - -
Accruals and deferred income 1137 932 107 38
N7 3195 1144 1232

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertalings are unsecured, payable on demand and interest beanng

Liberty Intemational PLC 35



Notes to the accounts (continued)

G Gr C Com
18 Borrowings, including finance leases guog % om%¥ %g
fm £m £m £m
Amounts faling due within one year
Secured borrowngs
Bark loans and overdrafts 1188 129 - -
Commercial mortgage backed secunties {(*CMBS?) noles 274 242 - -
Gross short-term debt 1462 371 - -
Finance lease obligatons €1 64 - -
Amounts falling due within one year 1523 435 - -
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Secured borrowings - non recourse
CMBS notes 2015 1,1743 1,124 1 - -
CMBS naotes 2011 6337 639 7 - -
Bartk loan 2017 1172 - - -
Bank loans 2016 652.2 5129 - -
Bank loan 2014 - 1756 - -
Bank loans 2013 2512 2510 - -
28286 27033 - -
Other secured borrowings
Debentures 2027 2261 2258 - -
Other loans 4289 1895 - -
34836 3.11886 - -
Unsecured borrowings
CSC bonds 2013 266 265 - -
CSC bonds 2009 34 413 - _
35416 3,186 4 - -
£111 3 milion (2006 — £111 3 milion) 3 85% convertible bonds due 2010 1113 1087 1113 1087
Gross fong-term de 3,6629 32951 1113 087
Finance lease obligations 511 462 - -
Amounts falling due after more than one year 3,704 0 33413 113 1087
Total borrowings, including finance leases 38563 3384 8 1113 1087
Cash and cash equvalents (188 4) (3218 {0 4) -
Net borrowings 3,667 9 30630 1109 1087
Certan borrowings of the group's property subsidianes are secured by charges on specific property assets of thosse supsidianes
Gi G c Comn
The matunty profile of gross debt (exduding finance leases} 1s as follows 5‘&;1; 28‘52 ﬂmpﬂ); m
£m £m £m £m
Whally repayable within one year 1462 371 - -
Whoally repayabie in more than one year but not more than two years 789 418 - -
Whally repayable in more than two years but not more than five years 1,11214 9513 1113 1087
Whally repayable in more than five years 24519 23020 - -
3,799 1 33322 1113 1087

Certan borrowing agreements contain financal and other condiions that, f contravened, could alter the repayment profile
The group has vanous undrawn committed borrowng facdities  The faciibes avallable at 31 December in respect of which all condidions precedent had been

mat were as follows

2007 2006
£m £m
Expinng in more than two years 5400 5100

These undrawn tacities are avalable at fioating rates based on UBOR plus apphcable margn
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19 Convertible debt

3.95 per cent convertible bonds due 2010 (“the 3 95 per ¢ent bonds”)

On 16 October 2006, the company issued £240 mion nominal 3 95 per cent bonds raising £233 4 milllon after costs The holders of the 3 95 per cent
bonds have the option 1o convert ther bonds into ordinary shares at any time on or up to 23 September 2010 at 800p per ordingry share, 2 CONVErSIcN
rate of 12 5 ordinary shares for every £100 nominal of 3 85 per cent bonds The 3 95 per cent bonds may be redeemed at par at the company's option
after 14 October 2008, subject to the Liberty intemational ordinary share pnce having traded at 120 per cent of the conversion pnce for a speafied penod,
o at anytime once 85 per cent by nonend value of the bonds ongnally issued have been converted or canceled Unless othenwise converted, cancalted
or redesmed the 3 95 per cent bonds will be redeemed by Liberty International at par on 30 September 2010

Bondholders had the option to requere redemption of outstanding bonds at par on 30 September 2007 No bondholders exeraised the option to
redeern bonds

The net proceeds recewed from the intal issue of the corvertible bonds was spit between the labiity element and an equity component, reprasanting
the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability Into equity as follows

Group and company

2007 2006
£rm £m
Net proceeds of convertible bonds issued 2335 2335
Equity component {19 6) (196)
Liabiity at date of issue 2139 2139
Cumutatve amortisation 192 166
Cumulative conversions {121 8) (121 8)
Liability at 31 December 1113 1087
The effective Interest rate on the labilty element at 31 December 2007 was 3 95 per cent (2006 - 7 1 per cenl)
G Gry
20 Finance lease obligations ;316;; 280%
£m £m
{2) Minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due
Not iater than one year 61 64
Later than one year and not later than five years 244 260
Later than five years 1101 122 4
1406 1548
Future finance charges on finance laases {83 4) (102 2)
Present value of finance lease habilites 572 526
(b} Present value of mimimum finance lease obligations
Not later than one year 61 64
Later than one year and not later than five years 213 233
Later than five years 298 229
57 2 5286

Fnance lease liablibes are in respact of leasehold investment property Many leases provide for payment of contingent rent n addition to the rents above,
usually a proporbon of net réntal income

Finance lease habdites are effectvely secured obligations, as the nghts to the leased asset revert to the lessor n the event of default

21 Financial mstruments

Treasury policy

The group enters into denvative transachons such as interest rate swaps and forward foregn exchange conracts n order to help manage the financial nsks
ansing from the group's actmties The man nsks ansing from the group’s financing structure are interest rate nsk, hquidity nsk and market pce nsk, the latter
nrespect of both nterest rates and foreign exchange  The policies for managng sach of these nsks and the panapal effects of these pocies on the results
for the year are summansed below

Interest rate nsk

Group debt cames both fixed and floating interest rates. Bank loans and CMBS notes are typically at loating rates Enked to LIBOR for the refevant currency
Bond debt and other capital markets debt 1s generdlly at fixed rates The group’s palicy 1s to eliminate substantally all exposure to nteres! rate fluctuations in
order to establish certanty over long-term cash flows. Short-term debitors and creditors and investments are not directly exposed 10 nterest rate nsk
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21 Fmancial nstruments continued

Liqudrty nsk

The group's policy 1s 1o seek to optimise its exposure to Bquidity nsk by balancing its expasure to Interest nsk and to refinancing nsk In effect the group
seeks 10 borrow for as long as possible at the lowest acceptable cost At 31 December 2007, the matunty profite of group debt showed a wesghted
average matunty of seven years (2006 - exght years) The group regularly revews the matunty profile of its financial babdites and seeks to avad bunching
of matunies through the reqular replacement of facities and by uaing a selection of matunty dates Re-finanaing nsk may be reduced by re-borowing pnor
to the contracted matunty date, effectively switchung liquidity nsk for market nsk The group waill often pre-fund capital expenditure by arranging facilties or
raising debt n the capital markets and then placing surplus funds on deposit until required for the project Efficient treasury management and stact credit
control minimuse the costs and nsks assoaated with this policy wihich ensures that funds are avalable to meet commutments as they fall due

The 1ables below set out the matunty analysis of the group’s financial labiities based on the undiscounted contractua obligations to make payments of
interest and 10 repay pnncipal including notional prncipal in the case of gross settled foreign exchange contracts) Where interest payment obligations are
based on a floating rate the rates used are those mplied by the par yieid curve for the relevant currency Whiere payment obligations are in foreign currencies
the spot exchange rate nding at the balance sheet date 15 used

Group
2007
Withmn 1 year 1-2 years 2.5 years aver 5 years Totals
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Interast  Pringipal Interest  Principal interest  Principal Interest  Principal Interest  Principal
Secured borrowings —
NON-FECONSe (190 9) (319) {1559) {39 6) (424 1} 7313 (3105) (2,1374) {(1,0814) (25402)
Other secured borrowings {49 4) {114 3) {451) (102} (1179 (276 Q) {356 9) (307 8) (569 3) (708 3)
Unsecured borrowings (81} - {71) {318) {99) {1113) 09 {26 6) (26 0 {169 5)
Finance lease obkgations - 61 - 6 1) - (183 - {1101} - (140 &)
Tax and other payables - (4 - (309) - {56 1) - - - 927)
Interest rate dervatves payabile (25) - (17 6) - (35 1) - {164 3) - {2195 -
Other denvatives payable (103 {301) {136) {10 0) (82) (125 8) - - (321} {1657)
{261 2) {188 1) {239 3) {128 4) (5952) (13186) (8326) (25819) (1,9283) @4.2170)
2007
Withtn 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 yeara over 5 years Totals
£m £m £m m £m £m £m £m Em £m
Intsrest  Pnncipal Interest  Principal Interest  Principal Interest  Prncipal Interest  Principal
Interest rate denvatves
receivable 290 - 13 - 60 - 497 780 -
Other denvatves recenvable 74 345 76 101 201 12586 - 351 1702
284 345 B89 101 261 1256 497 - 1131 1702
2007
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years over 5 years Totals
£m £m £m £m €m £m €m £m £m £m
Interest  Pnncipal Interest  Principal Interes!  Pnincipal Interest  Prncipal Interest  Prncipal
Interest rate dervatves net 185 - {16 3} - {(291) - {114 6) - {141 5) -
Other dervatives net {29) 44 60 o1 119 - - - 30 45
156 44 {22 3) 01 (172) - {114 6) - {1385} 45
2007 Deduct
Total Finance Non-cash
Reconciliation to Gross Debt principal lsases amorhsabon  Gross debt
Matunng in 1 year (247 7) 61 27 (238 9)
Maturing in 1-2 years {87.5) 61 26 {78.8)
Matunng in 2-5 years (1,1369) 183 64 (1.1123)
Matunng in more than 5 years (257923 1101 73 (2,461 9)
Tax and other payables - - - 92.7
(4,051 3) 1406 190 (3,799 1)
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21 Financial mstruments continued

Liquidity nsk continued
Group
2006
Withn 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 yoars over 5 yoars Jotals
£€m £m £m £m £m £€m £m £m £m £m
Interest Prncipal Intorest Principal Interast Princpal Interest Prncpal interest Princpal
Secured borrowings —
NON-reCOLr'se: (160 5) 31 6) (1632) @19 (78 1) {731 1) (3437} (1.9832) (7455 (2.777 8}
Other secured bamowings 319 & 5) @17 84 919 617 (384 5) 3232) 5400 (398 8}
Unsecured borowings {8 6} - 885 - (155) (1529 {28 (26 6) (35 5) (179 5}
Finance lease obligations - {64 - 61} - (19 9} - (122 4) - (154 8)
Tax and other payables - (2 1) - @B80) - {94 2) - - - (1343
Interest rate denvatves payable 4 6) - a1 - 20 1) - 2753 - (304 1) -
QOther dervatives payable 60 92 Oy 13 (307} 08) {102) - - 87N (1329
(2122 {137 6) (208 9 (1151) (2064 (1,0v00) (1.0063) (24554 (1,6338 (3.7781)
2006
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years over 5 years Totals
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m fm £m £m
Interest Principal Interast Princpal Interast Prncipal Interest Prrcipal Interest Principal
Interest rate denvatives
recenable 68 - 11 - 191 - 120 461 -
Qther dervatves recesvable 75 106 3 16 345 13 102 - - 104 1510
14 4 106 3 127 345 204 102 120 - 595 1510
2006
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2.5 years over 5 years Totals
m £m £m £m m £m m £m £m £m
Interast Prncipal Interest Princpal Interast Prncpal Interest Prncpal Interest Princpal
Interest rate denvatves net 23 - 70 - {10 - (263 3) - 255 0) -
Orther derwvatives net 09 143 03 3s 05 - - - 17 181
32 143 73 38 ©5 - (263 3 - (253 3) 181
206 Deduct
Total Finance Non-cash
Reconciiation to Gross Debt princpal lbases  amortsation Gross deibt
Matunng in 1 year (1778 64 54 (166 &
Maturng in 1-2 years (46 5) 61 28 (37 6)
Matunng in 2-5 years (9655 199 77 {837 9}
Matunng in more than 5 years (2,455 5) 122 4 81 {2.325 0}
Tax and other payables - - - 1343
36453 1548 24Q 3.3322)

Liberty Intemational PLC 39




Notes to the accounts (continued)

21 Financial instruments continued

Liquidity nsk continued
Company
2007
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years over 5 years Totals
£m £m E£m £m £m Em £€m £m fm £m
Interest  Pnncipal Interest  Pnncipal Interest  Pnncipal Interest  Principal Interest  Principal
Secured borrowings -
NOM-recourse - - - - - - - - - -
Cther secured borrowings - - - - - - - - - -
Unsecured borrowings 44 - (4 4) - 449 (1113 - - (132 {1113
Finance lease obligations - - - - - - - - - -
‘Taxand other payables - 18 - - - - - - - (18)
Interest rate denvatives payable - - - - - - - - - -
Other denvatives payable - - - - - - - - - -
{44) (18} 44 - 44 (113 - - (133 (1131}
Company
2008
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 yers over b years Totals
fm £m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
Interest Principal nterest Principal Interest Princpal Interest Principal Interest Principal
Secured borrowngs —
NON-recourse - - - - - - - - - -
Other secured borrowings - - - - - - - - - -
Unsecured borrowings (44) - 44 - B8 (1113 - - (176 (1113
Finance lease obligations - - - - - - - - _ _
Tax and other payables - (17) - - - - - - - (17
Interest rate dervatives payable - - - - - - - - - -
Other denvatves payable - - - - - - - - - -
@4 (17 4 4) - B88) (1113 - - (178 {1130
Market pnce nsk

The group 1s exposed to market pnce nsk through interest rate and currency fluctuations

Interest rates

The group’s policy s to substantally elminate nsk in respect of changes in interest rates such that over the longer term changes N interast rates will have fittle or
ne impact on group cash flows As a consequence, the group 1s exposed to market prce nsk N respect of the farr value of its fixed rate financial nstruments

The approxmate mpact of a 50 basis point shift upweards in the level of nterest rates would be a postive moverment of £186 9 milkon in the farr value of

dervatives The approxamate impact of a 50 basis point shift dowrmwvards in the level of interest rates woud be a negatwve movernent of £204 9 millon in the far
vatue of dematves Mavements n the far value of denvatnes are dealt with n the ncome staterment In practice, a parallel shit n the yield curve 1s highly undikety
However, the above sensitnty analysis 1s a reasonable flustration of the possible effect from the changes in slope and shifts in the yeld curve that may actusly
occur Because the fixed rate denvative financial nstruments are matched by short-term floating rate debt, the overall effect on group cash flow of such a
movement would be very small

Foreign exchange B

The group held investments in the US duning the year The group seeks (o minimise market price nsk in respect of foreign exchange movements

The group's policy s, as far as practical, to hedge the net nvestment in non-stering assets This s done by borrawing in foreign currencies and through
entenng iNto cross-currency interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts The approxmate mpact of a 10 per cent appreciation in forexgn

currency exchange rates would be an increase of £8 8 millon in group reserves  The approximate impact of a 10 per cent depreciation in foreign currency
exchange rates would be a decrease of £7 2 mithon in group reserves
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21 Financaal mstruments contmued

Capntal structure

The group seeks 1o enhance shareholder value both by Investing in the business so as to improve the return on INvestment and by managing the caprtal
structure The group uses a mix of equty, debt and hybind financial instruments and ams to access both debt and equity capital markets with maxmum
efficiency and fiexiility The key ratios used to montor the capital structure are the debt to assets ratio and the nterest coverage rato  The group ams not
to exceed an underhying debt to assets ratio of 50 per cent and to mantain nterest cover above 160 per cent

Dunng 2007 the underiang debt to assets ratio rose from 36 per cent to its maxmum for the penod of 40 per cent at 31 December 2007 Over the same
penad the interest coverage ratio reduced from 170 per cent to 165 per cent at the year end hawng reached a maxamum dunng the penod of 176 per cent
Financtal assets

Finanoia assets are disclosaed in notes 14, 15, 16 and below

The group has no significant concentration of crecdit nsk as exposure s spread aver a large number of counterparties and customers

Exposure to credit nisk 1s imited by investing iquid funds and entenng into denvative financial nstruments wath counterparties who have a high percentage
tier one capital and strong credit rabngs assigned by nternational credit rating agencies

The group is exposed to credit nsk in respect of ds trade receivables  The amowunts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful
recewables As at 31 December 2007, trade recenvables of £27 3 millon (2006 — £.26 1 milion) were past due but not mpared These relate to customers
for whom there s no recent hstory of default

G Gi
The ageing analysis of these trade recevables 1s as follows 58“0? zrgbg
£m £m
Up to three months 206 205
Three 1o six months 67 56

Penodically the group enters into equety-inked denvative “contracts for difference™ The market value of the equiies underying such contracts
at 31 December 2007 was £1 4 mifion {2006 — ) The market value of these contracts is £0 3 mithon {2006 — £nify and the dfferences are cash
settled monthly

Total financial assets and habilties

The table below sets out the group's accounting classification of each dass of financial assets and habiities, and ther far values at 31 December 2007
and 31 December 2006

Othar Total
denvat Available Amortised carrying
at farr value for sale cost value Fair value
£m £m £m £m £m

2007

Cash and cash equvaents - 1884 - 1884 1884
Borrowings due within ong year - - {152 3) {152 3) {1523}
Borrowings due after one year - - (3,704 0) (3,704 0) {3,860 6)
Cenvatve assets 254 - - 254 254
Dervative habilites {97 8) - - (97 8) (97 8)
Other assets - 510 980 1490 1490
Other labibhes - - {259 3) {259 3) (259 3)
2006

Cash and cash equivalents - 3218 - 3218 3218
Borrowings dug within one year - - 43 5} 43 5) {43 5)
Borrowings due after one yaar - - {3,341 3) 3,341 3) {3.5557)
Denvatve assetls 210 - - 210 210
Dervative abilites (1335) - - (133 5) (133 5)
Other assets - - 699 699 699
Cther iabiltes - - 312 5 312 5) 3125

The far values of quoted borrowings are based on the askang pnce The far values of borrowings, denvatives, finanaal instruments and other financial
assels and iabiilies are estmated using appropnate yield curves at 31 December each year by discounting the future contractua cash flows to the net
present values
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21 Fnancial mstruments contmued

Fair values of financial instruments

Fnancial assets and Eabliies compnse long-term borrowings and other payables, denvative instruments, cash, recervables and investments The far values
of financtal assets and habiftes have been established using the market value, where avallable For those nstruments without a market value, a discounted
cash flow approach has been used Where no amount 15 disclosed in the table below, thereis no matenal dfference between the balance shest valus and
the far value

Group
2007 2006
Balance Balance
shaet value Farr value sheet value Far value
£m £m £m £m
Debentures and other fixed rate loans
Sterling
C&C 5 562% debenture 2027 2261 320 2258 3488
CSC 6 875% unsecured bonds 2013 266 262 265 254
CS5C 5 75% unsecured bonds 2009 314 1S5 413 420
US doltars
Fixed rate loans* 1610 1606 1640 169 1
4451 5603 457 6 5853
Converuble bonds - fixed rate {note 19) 1113 1527 1087 1954

* Local currency balance sheet value USE320 4 million, weighted average nierest rate 5 84 per cent {2006 - US$321 O millon S 68 per cant)

The adjustment in respact of the above, after credit for tax relief, to the diluted net assets per share {which does not requrre adjustment for the far value
of convertible bonds) would amount to 21p per share (2006 - 24p)

Denvative financial instruments Group
2007 2006
£m £m
Non-current assets (note 14) 50 140
Current assets (note 14} 204 70
Current liabilities (38) {6}
Non-current kabiities (94 0) (1289

724) (112 5

Interest rate swaps
The notional pncipal amount of the outstanding swap agreerments at 31 December 2007 15 £5,428 miffion (2006 - £4,724 milion) The table below
summanses the nterest rate swaps in effect on or after 31 December 2007

Aver;
Notional contracet’gg
pmcgil rate
%
Sterling - pay fixed and receve floating
Effective on or after
1year 3,319 527
5years 3.220 516
10 years 2,543 472
15 years 2,100 458
25 years 1,625 440

The net nterest payable or recevable on interest rate swaps s settled quartery or sem-annually Curmency and interest rate Swap agreements are
held by the group to hedge the net investment n the US Under these contracts which expire 1n 2008 and 2012 the group pays fixed rate US interest
at 4 83 per cent (wenghted average) and receves fixed rate Sterhing interest at § 31 per cent {weighted average)

The far value of the net investment hedge at 31 December 2007 is an asset of €4 7 milkon (2006 - asset of £21 5 milhon)
Al 31 December 2007, the net exposure to foreign currencies was US$76 2 milion (2006 — US$80 9 mithon)
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22 Deferred tax llabilities

Income taxes

Under IAS 12 (Income Taxes), provision 1s made for the deferred tax iabiity associated with the revaluation of ivestment properties at the corporate tax rate
expected to apply to the group at the tme of use For those properties qualfying as REIT properties the relevant tax rate wall be O per cent (2006 - 0 per
cent), for other UK properties the relevant tax rate will be 28 per cent {2006 — 30 per cent) and for overseas properties the relevant tax rate will be the
prevaling corporate tax rateé in that country

The deferred tax prowsion on the revaluation of nvestment properiies calculated under 1AS 12 15 £35 8 milton at 31 December 2007 (2006 — £32 1 mullion)
Thes 1AS 12 calculation does not reflect the expected amount of tax that would be payable if the assets were sold The group estmates that calculated on
a disposal bass the liabilty 1s £86 8 mulion at 31 December 2007 {2006 — £49 1 milion) f upon sdle the group retained all the capital allowances, which

15 withn the control of the group, the deferred tax provision In respect of capital allowances of £49 9 million may also be released, and further captal
allowances of £25 9 milion may be avalable to reduce the amount of tax payable on sale

Where gains such as revaluation of development properties and other assets and actuanal movements on pension funds are dealt wath in reserves, any
deferred tax 15 also dealt with i reserves

31 December rsed  Acquesibon of ised 31 By ber
Movements in the prowision for deferred tax s Ra:nog < qurs! b Heogg" 006'300;
£m tm Em £m £m
Ravaluation of rvestment and development property 321 42 - 5 358
Capial allowances 318 45 149 (13} 459
Dervative financial Instruments 322 156 19 - (147)
Cther temporary differences g1 05 52 7 27
Net deferred tax provision 408 238 116 25 737
31 December Recogrusad  Acquisition of Racognised 31 December
2005 i roome sEbsbdianes M equity 2006
£m £&mn m £m £m
Revaluation of investment and development property 817 4 {787 2) - 19 321
Capital alowances 957 BoY) - B0 318
Dervative financial instruments (83 4) 512 - - (32 2)
Cther temporary differences 265 (176) - o2 a1
Net deferred tax provsion 856 2 814 5) - 09} 408
Al deferred tax balances are expected to be recovered afler more than ore year
G G c Com
23 Other provisions for habilities and charges fzglog QFS'-OPé m%}; %
£m £m £m £m
Al 1 January 49 68 08 18
Net charge for the year 32 03 - -
Cther movements {©3) 22 {on 10
At 31 December 14 49 o1 08

Of the above prowisions for habiliies and charges, £1 4 milion falls due after more than five years {2006 — £5 3 million between two and five years)
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24 Share capital and share premium Company and Group
2007 2006
£m £m

Authonsed

500,000,000 ordinary shares of 50p each 2500 2500
Share Share
capial premum
£m £m
At 31 December 2005 - 337,772,673 ordinary shares of 50p each 1689 653 5
Shares i1ssued 125 3221
At 31 December 2006 and 2007 - 362,772,673 ordinary shares of 50p each 1814 9756

Duning 2006, the company 1ssued 25 milion shares at £13 50 with a nominal value of £12 5 million, raising £334 6 mitkon after costs

FUll details of the nghts and obligations attaching to the ordinary shares are contained in the company's Arlicles of Assocation These nghts include an
entitlement to receve the comparny’s report and accounts, to atiend and speak at General Mestings of the Company, to appoint proxes and to exercise
voting nghts Holders of ordinary shares may also recewve dwidends and may receve a share of the company's assets on the company's iquidation
There are no rastrichions on the transfer of the ordinary shares

At 19 February 2008, the company had an unexpired authonty to repurchase shares up to a maemum of 35,577,267 shares with a nominal value
of £17 8@ million, and the Directors had an unexpired authonty to allot up to a maximum of 82,227,766 shares with a nominal value of £41 1 million

Included within the 1ssued share capital as at 31 December 2007 are 570,180 ordinary shares {2006 — 1,106,525) held by the Trustee of the Employes
Share Ownership Plan (*ESOP™) which 1s operated by the company (note 25) The norminal value of these shares 1s £0 3 milion (2006 — £0 6 mullion}

25 Treasury shares and Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)

During the year the company purchased a total of 700,000 shares (0 2% of issued share capital) with a nomingl value of £0 4 milion for an aggregate
consideration of £7 1 million vath & view to increasing net asset value per share These shares are held as treasury shares

The cost of sharas in Uiberty International PLC purchased in the market and held by the Trustee of the Employee Share Ownershep Plan (ESOP) operated
by the company 1s also accounted for as treasury shares

The purpose of the ESOP 15 to acquire and hold shares which will be transferred to employees in the future under the group's employee Incentive
arrangements as descrbed in note 37 and the Drector's remuneration report on pages 60 to 64 Dradends of £0'.3 milion (2006 - £0 6 mition) have been
waved by agreament

Gompany and Group
2007 2006
Shares 2007 Shares 2006
Million £€m Mition £m
At 1 January 11 {6 4) 24 (132)
Acqurred in the year 08 (79) 01 (10)
Disposed of on exerase of options {o86) 47 (14) 78
At 31 December 13 {9 6} 11 64
26 Retained earnings
G Gr C Com)|
2007 06 D00y b0k
£m £m £m iy}
At 1 January 3,3076 1,856 6 19218 1,456 3
Retained profit/loss) {227 1) 1,466 7 562.9 3791
Actuanal gans/{losses) on defired benefit pension schemes {2.0) 07 (15 o7
Tax on items taken direclly io equity 05 49 04 02)
Other movernents {39) (11 5) - 859
At 31 December 3,0751 3307 6 2,4836 19218
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27 Convertible bond reserve Company and Group
2007 2006
£m £m
At 31 December 91 g1
28 Other non-distributable reserves Capital
redermption Trarslkaton
reserve resane Other Total
£m £m £m £€m
Group
At 31 December 2005 615 12 1955 258 2
Foreign exchange - 19 - (19}
Other movements - - as 88
Al 31 December 2006 615 0N 2043 2651
Foreign exchange - 20 - 20
Revaluation of investments - - 77 77
Other movements - - 18 46
At 31 December 2007 815 27 2166 2754
Capial
redemption Translation
reserve resarve Other Total
£m £m £m £m
Company
At 31 December 2005 615 - 853 1468
Foresgn exchange - 10 - 10
Other moverments - - (859} (859
At 31 December 2006 615 10 0 8) 619
Fareign exchange - 03) - 03
Cther movements - 07N - 07
At 31 December 2007 15 - (0 6) 609
[+ Com
29 Summaries of changes in equity Ggguol_; 6;58"0"@ ompany %E
£m fm £m £m
Opening equity shareholders' funds 4,7324 2,9331 3,1434 24214
Issue of shares 47 342 4 47 342 4
Cancellation of shares {79 {10) {79) (1Q
4,7292 3,274 5 3,140 2 27628
Total recognised income and (expense) for the penod (100 1) 1,565 3 6829 4780
. 4,629 1 4,829 8 3,8231 3,2408
Dradends paid {122 1) 97 4 {122 1) 97 4)
Closing equity sharehclders’ funds 4,507 0 47324 3,701 0 3,143 4
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30 Net assets per share

Notes to the accounts (continued)

2007 2006
Net assets per share (baig) 1246p 1308p
Net assets per share (diuted, adjusted) 1264p 1327p
2007 2007 2006
Net asaets Shares Net assets Sharas
£m million £m milion
Basic 45070 3615 47324 3617
Adustments
Far value of denvative firancial nstruments 724 - 1125
Urrecognised surplus on trading properties 24 - 47 -
Tax on the above {15.4) - {32 1) -
Deferred tax on revaluation surpiuses 358 - 321 -
Deferred tax on capital alowances 499 - 318 -
Minonty interests on the above (159 - - -
Adusted 4,636 2 3615 4,881 4 3617
Eftect of diution
On conversion of bonds 1413 139 087 139
On exercise of options 97 10 123 15
Dihrted, adjusted 4,757 2 3764 5002 4 3771

31 Caprtal commitments

At 31 December 2007, tha group was contractually committed to £317 O million (2006 - £127 0 millon} of future expendture for the purchase, construction,
development and enhancement of investment property

The group’s share of joint venture commitments indluded above at 31 December 2007 was £190 mition (2006 - £9 O mdion}

32 Contingent habelties

At 31 December 2007, there were na contingent iabidties of which the Directors are aware (2006 — nil), either of the group or of the jont venturas n which

the group holds an investment
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33 Principal subsidiary undertakings

Company and prncipal actmty Class of share capstal % heid
Capat Shopping Centres PLC™ (property) and is prncipa subsidiary undertakangs Ordinary shares of 50p each 100
Braehead Glasgow Limited {property) A" Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
“B” Ordinary shares of 1 3 Eurcs each 100
Braghead Park Investments Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Braehead Park Estates Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Chapeifield LP Limited {property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC Hartequin Limited {property) Orciirary shares of £1 each 100
CSC Lakesde Limited (property) Crdinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC Enterpnses Limited (commercial promobion) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC MetroCentre Lirmited {property) Crdinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC Properties Investments Limited {property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC Bromiey Limited {property} Ordinary shares of €1 each 100
CSC Pottenes Limited {property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Capttal & Counties Limited~ (property) Ordinary shares of 25p each 100
Capital & Counties Debenture PLC (financing) and its pnncipal subsidiary undertakings Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
C&C Properties 2027 Limuted (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Cheimsford Property Irnvestments Limited {property) Ordinary shares of ©1 each 100
WRP Management Limuted (property Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC (Eldon) Square Limited (property) Ordinary shares of ©1 each 100
Pottenes (GF) Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
C8C Propertes UK Limited {property) and s prncipal subsidiary undertalang Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
C_C Greenwach Linited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Capital & Counties CG Limnisted (property) Crchnary shares of £1 each 100
Capvestco Limited (property and financing) (Jersey) and s pnncipal subsidiary undenakings Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
C&C Properties Jersey Umited (property) (Jersey) Crdinary shares of £1 each 100
C&C Properties No 9 Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
CSC Uxbndge (Jersey) Limited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Capital Enterpnse Centres {Jersey) Limited {property) (Jersey) “A" Ordinary shares of £1 each 1007
“B" Ordinary shares of £1 each 40
Belside Limited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Curley Umited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Staventon Limited {property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Uberty International Asset Management Limeted” {asset management) Ordinary shares of €1 each 100
Liberty International Group Treasury Limited” {reasury management) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100
Matterhom Capital EC&0 Limited” (holding company} and tts principal subsidiary undeniakings “A” Ordinary shares of €0 01 each 5
Earls Court & Clympia Group Limited” {inancing) and its pnnaipal subsidiary undertaking Ordinary shares of £1 each 100#
Ears Court & Olympa Limited {venues) and its pancipal subsidiary undertakings Ordinary shares of £1 each 1004
Earls Court Limited {venues) Ordinary shares of €1 each 100#
Otympra Linited fvenues) Ordinary shares of £1 each 1004#
The Brewery by ECS&0 Limited (venues) Crdinary shares of €1 each 100#
CaC {US) No 1, Inc " {property} (USA) Class A Common Stock of US$1 par value, £1 face value 100
Class B Common Stock of US$1 par value, £20,000 face value 100

* Shareholdngs i companies markad " are held by ntarmediate subsidiary undertalangs except for Capital Shopping Centres PLC where 82 5 per cent s hedd by Liberty
intermational PLC, and 17 5 par cant held by Liberty Intematioral Financial Sarvices Limited

70 per cent affective interest Mald
™ 100 per cant of "A" Ordinary shares representing 50% of the ssued share capital held
# 50 per cent effectve group nterest

The compares Isted above are those subsidiary undertakangs whoss results or financial position, n the opinon of the Directors, pancpally affected
the figures i the company's annual accounts A full list of related undertalangs will be annexed to the company's next annual return

Companies are incorporated and regstered n England and Wales unless otherwise stated All subsidiary undertakings have been includad i the
consolidated results
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34 Related party transactions

Transacbons between the company and ds subsidanes, which are related parties, have been elminated on consolidaton for the group
Key management compensation 15 disclosed in note 37

Sigrificant transactions between the parent company and its subsidianes are shown below

2007 2006
Subsicliery Nature of transaction £m fm
TAl Investrents Limited Dwvdend 30.5 224
Liberty Intermnational Holdings Linited Dodend 427 313
Condust Insurance Holdings Limated Dwdend 30 242
C&C Propertes UK Lid Dmdend 661 247
C&C Management Servces Limitad Dradend 01 01
Capital & Gounties Austratia (Holdings} Limited Dwdend 06 148
Capital & Counties Debenture PLC Cridend 901 -
Greenhaven industnal Properties Lirited Dmdend 50 -
Capital Shopping Centres PLC Dradend 3874 3015
Interest recawvable on bonds - 168
Re-charges 42 23
Capstal & Counties Limited Investment income - -
Re-charges 16 10
Interest payable 03 (14)
Liberty International Group Treasury Limited interest recevable - 191
Significant balances outstanding between the parent company and its subsidianes are shown below
Amounts owed by Amounts owed to
subsidianes aubsidianes
2007 2006 2007 2006
Subsidiary £m £m £m m
Liberty International Group Treasury Limited 1,802.1 1,109 - -
CA&C (Australia) Holdings Limited - - - “4q
Capital & Counties Lmited 131 129 (600) 600}
Condust Insurance Holdings Limited 160 160 - -
Liberty International Holdings Limded 1328 1328 - -
TAl Investments Limited - - {42 6) (42 6
Capital Shopping Centres PLC 40 28 - -
Liberty International Asset Management Limded - 07 -
Capcount Trading Limited - - - 23
Greenhaven Industnal Properties Limited - - 79
CA&C Properties UK Limited - - - 14
35 Directors’ emoluments
The details of ndmdugl Drrectors’ remuneration and pension benefits as set out in the tables contaned in the Directors’ remuneration report on
pages 60 to 64 form part of these financial statements Details of gans made on exercise of share options are contaned in note 36
36 Directors’ mterests
(a) In shares and bonds in Liberty Intemational Group Companies
The number of ordinary shares of the company in which the Directors were bensficially nterested were
2007 2006
JG Abel 112,117 112,117
RWT Buchanan 37,088 37.088
D PH Burgess 19,250 19,250
RM Cable 22,432 18417
KE Chaldecott 44,237 44,237
RG Finch 19,712 15,712
D.A. Rschel 362,289 337,290
G J Gordon 1,530,000 1,530,000
I D Hawksworth - -
IJ Henderson 10,000 10,000
L James 10,700 140,700
M Rapp 7,929 7.929
RO Rowley 1,000 1,000
N Sachdev - -
AC Smih 147,716 166,970

Mr G J Gordon purchased 25,000 ordnary shares of the company on 13 February 2008 As at 26 February 2008, there had been no other changes n the

nterests of each Dwrector snce 31 December 2007
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36 Directors' mterests continued

Liberty International PLC ordinary shares of 50p each
Condiional awards of shares have been made under the company’s annual borus scheme

The awards compnse “restncted” shares and “addibonal” shares, the latter equal to 50 per cent of the restncted and Share Incentive Plan sharas (see below)
combined These shares will be redeased two and four years respectively after the date of the award provided the indmdual Director has remained in serice

Awards to Executve Directors under the scheme to date have been as follows

At At

Market price at Market priceat 31 December 31 December

Award date award {pence)  Vestng date vestng (pence) 2006 Lapsad Vested Awardad+ 2007

RM Cable 06/03/2007 1205 01/03/2011 - - - 2,863 2,863
01/03/2006 1089 01/03/2010 2,503 -~ - - 2,593

164032005 ars 010312000 1,323 - - - 1,323

010372004 728 01/03/2008 1,648 - - - 1,648

01A03/2003 565 (1/03/2007 1204 1.925 - 1,925 - -

06/03/2007 1205 01/03/2000 - - - 5477 5477

0140372006 1009 0140372008 5,187 - - - 5,187

16/03/2005 978  01/03/2007 1204 2,339 - 2,339 - -

K E Chaldecott 06/03/2007 1205 01/03/2011 - - - 3,112 3,112
01/03/2008 1089 01/03/2010 2,866 - - - 2,866

16/0G/2005 978 01/03/2009 1,380 - - - 1,380

01/0G/2004 728 01/03/2008 1,700 - - - 1,700

01/03/2003 565 01/03/2007 1204 1,925 - 1,925 - -

06/03/2007 1205 01/03/2009 - - - 5975 5975

01/03/2006 1099 01/03/2008 5732 - - - 5,732

16/06/2005 978 01/03/2007 1204 2,454 - 2,454 - -

DA Fschel 06/03/2007 1205 0140372011 - - - 9952 9,952
01/03/2006 1099  01/03/2010 9,218 - - - 3,218

16/03/2005 978 (01/03/2009 2,001 - - - 2,001

01/0G/2004 728 (01/03/2008 3815 - - - 3,815

01/03/2003 565 01/40G/2007 1204 4779 - 4,779 - -

06/03/2007 1205 01/03/2009 - - - 19,656 19,656

01/03/2006 1089  01/03/2008 18.437 - - 18,437

16/03/2005 978 01/03/2007 1204 3,695 - 3,695 - -

AGC Smith 06/03/2007 1205 01/03/2011 ~- - - 3,112 3,112
01/03/2006 1098 01/03/2010 4232 - - - 4232

16/03/2006 978 01/03/2009 1,132 - - - 1132

01/03/2004 728 (01/03/2008 2.215 - - - 2215

01/03/2003 565 (1/03/2007 1204 2,549 - 2,549 - -

06/0G/2007 12056 017032009 - - - 5975 5975

01032006 1039 01/03/2008 8,463 - - - 8,463

16/03/2005 978 (01/03/2007 1204 1,958 - 1,958 - -

+ Bonus shares n respect of the year ended 31 Decemnber 2006 awarded n February 2007 Detais of bonus shares awarded n respect of the year ended 31 December 2007
are gven n the Dreciors’ remuneration report on page 54

Awards are also made under the company’s Shars Incentive Plan (SIP} The SIP shares can be released three years after the dats of the award prowded
the indmdual Director has remained in employment but the shares must be held in trust for a further two years n order to qualfy for tax advantages The
dwvidend payable in respect of the shares hald in trust 1s used to purchase additional shares, known as Dividend Shares, which are also

held in trust

Parinershp,
At rmatchng and At
31 Decamber ddend 31 December
2006 Vested Lapsed Awarded+ shares 2007
AM Cable 3,443 - - 248 259 3,850
KE Chaldecott 3,443 - - 248 259 3,950
D A Fischel 3,443 - - 248 259 3,850
I D Hawksworth - - - 248 & 254
AC Smith 3,443 - - 248 259 3,950

+ SIP shares n respect of the year ended 31 December 2006 awarded n February 2007 Detads of SIP shares awarded n respect of the year endad 31 December 2007 are gven
n the Brectors' remunerabion report on page 64
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36 Drrecters’ nterests contmued

{b} In share options in the company
The following Directors had options to subscnbe for shares in the company

Held at Hedd at
Year Optonprce 31 Dacernbgl Granted Exercsed 31 Dacemt:r
Dwector ganted {pence) 2006 nyear n year 2007 Exarcable batwean
The Liberty Intemational PLC
Incentive Share Option
Scheme 1999
R M Cable 2004 698 25,000 - 25,000 - 19/02/07-19/02/14
K.E Chaldecott 2004 698 25,000 - - 25,000 19/02/07-19/02/14
D.A. Fischel 1999 475 21,000 - 21,000 - 11/08/02-11/08/09
2002 545 69,496 - 69,496 - 20/02/05-20/02/12
2003 565 50,000 - 50,000 - 21/02/06-21/02/13
AC Smith 2003 565 40,000 - 40,000 - 21/02/06-21/02/13
The Liberty International PLC
Executive Share Option
Scheme 1999
D A Fischel 2002 545 5,504 - 5,504 - 20/02/06-20/02/12

Mr B A. Fischel exercised aptions on 4 September 2007, at a market prce of 1172p per shars, at which tme the difference between the exercise price and
market price was In aggregate £920,375 Mr A.C Smith exercised options on 28 September 2007, at a market pnce of 1153p per share, at which tme the
diference between the exercise pnce and market pnce was In aggregate £235,200 Mr R M Cable exarcised options on 11 December 2007, at a market
prica of 1142p per share, at which ime the difference between the exercise pnce and market pnce was I aggregate £111,000

The aggregate gains made by Directors on the exercise of options)s £1 3 milion (2006 — £2 0 million)
The market pnce of Liberty International ordinary shares at 31 December 2007 was 1077p and dunng the year the pnee vaned between 1010p and 1397p

(e} Mr GJ Gordon purchased 25,000 ordnary shares of the company on 13 February 2008 No other Director had any deafings in the shares of any group
company between 31 Decernber 2007 and 12 February 2008, being a date less than one month pnor e the date of the notice convening the Annual
General Meeting

Other than as disclosed in these accounts, no Director of the compary had a matenal interest n any contract (other than senace contracts), transaction o
arangemnent with any group comparny dunng the year ended 31 December 2007

37 Employees’ nformation 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m
Group Company Group Company
Wages and salanes 26 60 246 60
Soaal secunty costs 32 09 33 10
Other pension costs 20 0% 17 10
318 78 296 BO

At 31 December 2007 the number of persons employed by the group was 672 (2006 — 384) and by the company was 77 {2006 — 84) The average numnber
of persons employed dunng the year was

2007 2006

Number Nurnber

Liberty Intematonal PLC 80 B4
Capital Shopping Centres 214 336
Capita & Counties 213 a5
507 515
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37 Employees’ mformation continued

Key management* compensation 2007 2006
ern o
Salanes and short-term employee benefits 55 52
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 05 04
Share-based payment 23 09
Other long-term payments 09 11
92 76

" Key management comprises the Drecicrs of Liberty International and Caprtal 8 Counties the Exscutve Drectors of Gaprtal Shopping Centres, the Company Secretary and

General Corporate Counsel of Liberty Internatonal PLC and the President of C&C USA Inc
~ Figure revised to nclude bonus provision n respect of USA Stock Apprecaton Rights Plan
Share options

Options to subscnbe for ordinary shares under the Liberty Interational Holdings PLC Incentive Share Option Scheme 1990, the Liberty International PLC
Incentve Share Option Scheme 1999 and the Liberty Intemational PLC Executrve Share Option Scheme 1999, were outstanding as set out below The
vesting penod of the options 1s three years and all schemes are equity settled Exercise 1s subyect to meeting an earnings per share (“EPS”) performance
condiion The perfarmance condition requires smoothed eamings growth equal to or greater than 5 per cent per annum {or, if greater in any year, 120 per
cent of the percentage mcrease in the Retall Price Index) over a mnimum three year companson penod “Smoothed” eamings excludes exceptional and
frading profits above a certain fevel If the option remains unexercised after a penod of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire Furihermore,

options are forfeited 1f the employee lsaves the group before the options vest

2007 2006
Weighted Wexghtad
average average
exercise BXerCISe
Number pnce Number price
At 1 January 1,193,586 613p 2430310 581p
Options granted - - - -
Options exercised (488,565) 633p (1,221,724) 548p
Options exprredAzpsed - - (15,000 698p
At 31 December 705,021 599p 1,193,586 B813p

The average share price dunng the year was 1164p (2006 - 1155 5p) All 705,021 of the cutstanding options at 31 December 2007 (2006 — 1,193,586),

were exercisable (2006 — 685,154)

The options outstanding at 31 Decernber 2007 were exercisable between 419p and 698p per share and have a werghted average remanng contractual fe

of six years
Price

per share Org:;ag
Date of grant Scheme pence number  Exarcisable betwoen
12 March 1999 1890 419 17,500 2002 and 2009
11 August 1999 ISOS 1999 475 7,000 2002 and 2009
3 March 2000 1308 1999 406 45,000 2003 and 2010
22 February 2001 ESOS 1599 512 6,798 2004 and 2011
22 February 2001 1505 1999 512 35983 2004 and 2011
20 February 2002 ESOS 1999 545 365 2005 and 2012
20 February 2002 1508 1999 545 27,500 2005 and 2012
6 March 2002 1SOS 1999 567 119,709 2005 and 2012
21 February 2003 ESOS 1999 585 8,992 2006 and 2013
21 Febwuary 2003 1508 1999 565 167,242 2006 and 2013
19 February 2004 ESOS 199G 698 8,594 2007 and 2014
19 Fetruary 2004 1S08 1993 698 270,338 2007 and 2014
Total 706,021

There wera no options granted dunng 2007 or 2006
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37 Employees’ information contmued
Share awards
Conditional awards of Addrional and Restncted shares are made under the company's annual bonus schemes

Awards are also made under the compary’s Share Incentive Plan (SIF) The SIP shares can be released three years after the date of the award provided
the indradual employee has remained in employment but the shares must then be held n trust for a further two years in order to qualify for tax advantages
The dvidend payable in respect of the shares held i trust is used to purchase addiional shares, known as Drvadend Shares, which are also held in trust

The number of share awards granted in the year as at the date of grant are set out below

2007 2006
Number Number
Annud bonus scheme
SiP 28,403 28,128
Restncted 90,256 96,239
Addonal 59,209 59,676
The far values of share awards were determined by the market pnce of the shares at the date of grant
The numnber of awards outstanding at 31 December 2007 are shown below
Annual bonus schema SIP Restrictad Additonal
2002 Liberty International 17,6214 - -
2003 Liberty International 16,710 - -
2004 Liberty International 19,870 - 32,968
2005 Liberty International 18,718 - 28,363
2008 Liberty International 20,893 80,686 48,481
2007 Liberty International 24,553 86,117 54,985
Total 118,265 166,803 164,827

A total of 570,180 ordinary shares were held by U Share Ptan {ersey) Limited at 31 December 2007 for the purposes of satisfying the future exercise
of options and provision of shares on matunty of conditonal awards under the annual bonus schemes A further 241,927 shares including Parinership,
Matching and Dmdend Shares) are held by Capita IRG Trustees Ltd as trustee for the SIP

The total expenses for share-based payments for the group were £0 8 million (2006 - £2 1 rmutlion)

38 Pensions

(a) Current pension arrangements

The group operates a number of pension schemes in the United Kingdom and the USA, the assets of which are held in separate trustee-adminstered funds
The group's curreni policy 1s to largely prowide future retirement banefits through defined contnbution arrangements  Consequently group personal pensions
were established in 1997/98 for new and some existing employees and previous schemes closad and, with one exception, wound up

The one older arrangement not wound up was the Liberty International Group Retirement Benefit Scheme {“the U Scheme”), which was closed to new
members, but continues to accrue future servce benefits for those employees who were members at date of closure It s a funded defined benefit scheme
and 15 not contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2F)

in July 2007, Liberty Intermational acqured a 50 per cent interest in the Earls Court & Olympia group ("EC80), whose resutts are being conschdated with
Liberty Internatonal EC&O has a hybnd pension scheme compnang an ongoing money purchase section and a final salary section which was closed to
new members N 2000, but contnues to acerue future senvce benelits for those employees who were members at date of clasure The final salary section
15 a ftunded defined benefit schema wiwch is contracted out of S2P

The igures in thes report relate to the full year for the LI Scheme and the sx monith penod for ECR0O

(b) Pension costs

(1 The LI and EC&0 Schemes - defined benefit schernes The retrement benefit Babity recogrsed in the batance sheet 1s the present value of the
defined benefit obligations, less the far value of the Scheme assets, adjusted for past servce costs The defined benefit cbigation and current sernce cost
are calculated annually by an independent actuary using the prosected unit method  Actuanal gains and losses are immediately recognised in the statement
of recogrsed income and expense The pension costs and balance sheet tems for the year endad 31 December 2007 have been based on the resulis of
the last valuation of the Schemas at 5 Apnl 2007, sutably adiusted for different methoddlogy, rolled forward to 31 December 2007 and adjusted for the
different financial conditions applying at that time

Amounts recognised in income i respect of the Schemes 2%?"7' 2%?3"
Current serace cost 09 08
Interest cost 2.7 21
Expected return on Schemes' assets (33 (2 5)
03 04
Actuanal {gans) and losses immediiately recognsed in the statemenis of recogrised Income and expense 2.6 {07

* Full year for L Scheme and helf year for ECRO Scheme
- 1 Scheme only
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33 Penstons continued

Whitst the actuanal gans and losses i respect of the Schemas are dealt wath i the statement of recogrised ncome and expanse, the difference
between the notional interest cost on the Schemes' Babilites and the expected retum on the Scheme's assais s ncluded in the group's net interest cost
For the year ended 31 December 2007 this amounts to a credt of £0 6 mion {2006 - £0 4 milfion) Of the current service cost for the year, €0 9 milkon

{2006 - £0 8 milion) has been included in adminstrative expenses

Amounts recogmised in the consolidated balance sheet 2%’"-: 2082
Far value of Schemes’ assets” 590 469
Present value of Schemes' labilities’ (59 2) 46 5)
Pension asset/{liability) {02 04
The amounts attibutable to ECA0 at 31 December 2007 are assets of £100 million and kabiives of £11 2 milion
The pension asset/fiabiity} 1S ncluded in the balance sheet in provissons for labilibies and charges
Movements in the far value of Schemes’ assets 203"{' 208“5
At 1 January 459 422
EC&O assets at 30 June 100 -
Expected retum on Schemes’ assets 33 25
Excess asset fosses)gans (18 15
Empioyer contnbutions pad 24 19
Member contnbubions pad o1 o2
609 483
Benefits paid {19 (14)
Schemes’ assets at 31 December 590 469
The weghted average assels allocations for the year end were as follows
31 De ber 31 December
Asset category oemzoo; 2005
%
Equies 60 51
Index-nked gits 18 20
Property 6 9
Corporate bonds 12 1R
Cash 4 9
Total 100 100
Movements in the present value of Schemes'’ labilities 203; 2082
At 1 January 465 440
ECE&O habilities at 30 June 100 -
Current servce cost 09 08
Employee Contnbutions 02 02
Injerest cost 27 21
Actuanal losses a8 08
611 47 9
Benefits pad (19) (14
Schemes’ hiabilties at 31 December 592 465
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38 Pensions contmued
The main economic assumptions used to calculate the present value of the Schemes'’ fiabiities at 31 December were as follows
31 December 31 December
2007 2006

Yo
{per annum) fper arnum)
Drscount rate 56 51
Rate of inflation 32 28
Earmings ncreases s2* 48
Incraases to pensions i payment 32 28
Increases to deferred pensions before payment
left before 1 January 1985 32 28
left after 31 December 1984 32 28
Expecied return on Schemes' asseis 70 62
4 7 per cent for ECA0 members
2007 2008
£m Em
Actual return on Schemes’ assets in the year 15 40

Mortalily assumptions are based on standard tables prowded by the Institute of Actuanes using nsurance company data updated from time to ime to
refiect current trends The standard tables currently used by the LI Scheme are the PAS2 {year of birth) medium cohort and those usad by the ECRO
Scheme are the PADD {year of birth) medium cohort tables Both standard tables make aliowance for fulure mprovements in longewty basad on the year
of irth of each member

To develop the expectied long-term rate of retum on asseis assumphon, the company considerad the cusrent leval of expected retuns on nsk free
nvestmenis {pamanly government bonds), the hustoncal leval of the nsk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolo 1s invested
and the expectations for future returns of each asset dass The expected annual return for sach asset dass was then weighted based on the target asset
allocation and asset values of each section to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumpton for the portfole This resuted In the
selection of the 7 O per cent assumption at 31 December 2007

Detals of expenence adustments for the year to 31 December

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Far value of Schemes’ assets (E£m) 590 469 4272 363 338
Prasent value of Schemes’ habilites (E£m) (592 {46 5) {440y 369 (340
Surplus/(deficit) in the Scheme (£m) 02 04 (18 {08) 0
Difference between the expected and actual raturn on Scheme assets
Amount (Em) {18) i5 26 08 18
Percentage of Schemes’ assets (31%) 32% 62% 22% 55%
Tetal gains and (osses)
Amount {£m} {2.6) 07 26 {05) 31)
Percentage of present value of Schemes' labilites {4 4%) 1 5% (5 9%) (1 4%} G 1%)
Expenence gans and Josses) on Schemes' liabtities
Amount {£m) (11) 05 {1 o] 09
Percentage of the present value of the Schemes’ labiites {1 9%) 11% (2 5%) (2 8%) 26%

The group has no significant exposure to any other post-retrement benefit obligations
The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be pad to the Schemes dunng 2008 15 £2 5 milion

i} Defined contnbution amangements The penson charge in respect of the other schermes are the actual contnbutions pad  These amount to
£1 0 miion, (2006 - £0 8 milion) in respect of the other UK penaion schermes (including £0 for ECRO from acquistion) and £0 1 milion 2006 - £0 1 millien)
for the US scheme
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The company 1$ requrred to comply with

the “Combined Code - Pnnciples of Good
Govermance and Gode of Best Practice” issued
by the Financial Reporting Counci n 2003 and
rewsed and resssued in 2006

The framewaoark of corporate governance
The Board's overnding objectve 1 to ensure that
the group delivers long-temm sustainable growih
nretuns for its sharsholders

Liberty Intemational recognises that corporate
governance 1 not an end in iself but an mportant
means to an end The Code contans no defirsbon
of corporate governance  The first supporting
prncipie it containg, at provision A1, reads

as follows

“The Board's role is to provide entrepveneunal
leadership of the company writhin a framework
of prudent and effectve controls which
enables nisk to be assessed and managed

The Board should set the cormpany’s strategic
anms, enswre that the necessary financial and
human resources are i place for the company
0 meet its ohyectives and review management
performance The Board should set the
company's values and standards and ensure
that its obligations to its shareholders and
others are understood and met ”

The Board believes that any system which 15
adopted must also be geared to meeting the
necessary standards of accountabibity and prokuty
and considers that the processes which it has
adopted do so

The Board 15 accountable to the company's
shareholders for the good conduct of the
company's affars and the information and
statemnents sat out below descnbe how the
prnciples contaned in the Code are applied by
the company The company's interna procedures
are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board
and the vanaus relevant Board Committees

The policy papers which are the foundation

of those procedures specify responabilites and
levels of responsibibty They cover all aspects of
the company's actvties including those relating
to financial, operational and comphance controls
and nsk management

The company has also demonstrated a strong
commitment to high standards of Corporate
Respongibiiity, detadls of which are set

out in the Charman’s statement on pages 7
to 10 and on the company’s website, and has
been included in the FTSE4Good isting, the
JSE SRl indax and other important indices

Statement of compliance

The Board befieves that, as demonstrated by
the iInformation set cut n this section together
with the statemnents and procedures refarred to
in the Diractors” temuneration repont on pages
60 to 64, the company has, throughout the
acoounting penod under review, applied the
prnciples and complred with the provisions set
out in Section 1 of tha Code

Relations with shareholders and the
nvestment communrty

The company seeks to develop regular dialogue
with indwidual and institutional shareholders

Corporate governance

through meetings and announcements and
constructive lason with private shareholders

who also have the opportunity 1o attend and

put questions at the company's Annual General
Meeting The company has a comprehensve
website on which up-to-date information
avalable to all shareholders and potental nvestors.

The company has a strong investor relations
programme The Charman, Chef Executve and
Finance Director am to meet major shareholders
and analysts at least twice a year to discuss the
results of the group, to learn of any concerns

that may have ansen and fwathin the appropnate
constraints) to respond to any quenes they may
have The Non-Execulve Dirgctors may attend
such meeiings The Chief Executve and Finance
Dwrector maintan fie notes of Al meetings with
investors and provide a il brefing to the Board
Investor relations, and reperts from the company’s
brokers on megtings wath investors, are a reguiar
agenda item at Liberty Internatonal Board
meetngs. in additon analysts’ and brokers' reports
are arculated to the Board on a frequent basis

The Board

The Board 1s responsible not only to all
shareholders but to its other stakeholders for

the effective contral and proper management

of the Uberty International group A descnption
of the company’s actiaties over the last year s
contained in the Chawrman's statement on pages
7 10 10 and in the Financial review on pages 11
to 17 Certan matters have been reserved for
decision by the whole Board and a schedule
sating out a hst of these 1s regularty reviewed

In other cases the Board has delegated ds
authonty under clearty defined conditions to
techrical Committess of the Board It has been
the Board's custom over many years to ensure
that major deasons are taken after a resterative
process which involves exarmination and review at
several levels In part, this examination and review
process 1s dealt with by the Board Committees
mertioned below

At the year end, the Board consisted of the
Chairman, Sir Robert Fnch, five Executve and
nine Non-Executive Directors The Board's views
on the ndependence of the Non-Executive
Dwectors are set out on page 58

The saparate roles of the Chairman Sir Robert
Finch and of the Chief Executve Mr D A Fischel,
ara recognised and prescnbed by the Board

The Bxecutive Directors have servce contracts
which have a nolice penod of 12 months Non-
Exacutive Directors are apponted for three year
penods and ther continuing service thereafter 1s
subyect to revew by the Board

MrDPH Burgess was appanted as Serwor
Independert Drrector n 2004

In accordance waith the Articles of Assocation,
Birectors are subject to retrement and re-election
by shareholders, at least every three years

The Board met seven tmes in the year to consider
all aspects of the comparny's affars and any
further informaton whech it requested from
management Additonal meetings are armranged
when necessary and Directors are kept reguiary

informed of the up-to-date business posibon of

the group The Charman and Executve Directors |
regularty contact the Non-Execuive Drectors to [
discuss speafic matters, typically of a sirategc

nature, and regular informal meetings are held

with the Non-Exacutive Dvectors The Charman

of the Audit Committes, Mr Burgess, holds regutar '
meetings with the Internal Auditor, to monitor

and progress matters between scheduled Audit
Committee meetings Mr Burgess also meets

regularty wath the Chairman and Chief Executve

between Board meetings Mr Buchanan holds

reguiar mestings with the Cheef Executve and the
Company Secretary to progress remuneration

matters between schedued Remuneration

Commutiee meetings, and Mrs James holds

regular meetings with the Company Secretary and
Personngl Manager to monitor human resources

155065 Within the group, prowding advice when

requred Other Non-Executives provide input

from time to time on speaific property 1Issues

In the context of the Board's overnding objective
1o deliver long-tarm sustanable returns for ts
shareholders, the Board discusses and makes
decisions relating to, but not imited to strategy,
top management performance, retention,
remunerabion and succession, financial measures
and performance, acquisitions and disposals,
other capital expenditure and controls, ngk
management, corporate reputation mncluding
shareholder commurication, and the Board's
own effectivenass It also receives reports on

ihe proceedings of its Committees Each Board
Committee’s established authonty imits are
reviewed on an annual basis by the Audit
Committee and, subsequently, by the full Board

The Charrman's role 15 to ensure that the Board's
discUsSIONs go nte any matter put before it in
adequate depth and in an appropnately focused
way, that the opinons of & the Directors are taken
Into account and accorded proper weight, and
that all the Board's deaistons are supported by
adequate and tmely information

Matiers relating to corporate governance are

kept under regutar review by the Audit Committee
aswel as by the iuf Board Matiers relating to
corporate responsibility are also kept under
reguar review by the CR Committee as well as
by the Board

Al matters whech fall cutside the normal course of
business are carefully recorded and reviewed and
montored by the Chief Executive, the Company
Secretary and General Corporate Gounsal and,

in accordance with the amounts involved, referred
to the relevant Board Commuttee or to the Board
itself The company’s position has always been
that, in the event that a Dwrector has a concern
which cannot be resolved about the running of the
company o a proposed action, such concermn s
recorded i the minutes  The Board conaders that
it has clear and robust procedures for mondonng
the ssgreng of all documents within the group and
the approval of all ransactions, NO matter what
ther size, through formal Board Committees and
formally delegated authonty brmits
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Corporate governance (continued)

A table of attendance of members of the Board/Commuttees dunng 2007 15 set out below:

Nomnaton  CSC Captal  C&C Capial

Audt  Remuneration  and Review Projects Progcts

Board Commitise Commiites Committee Committes Commitiee

{7 meatngs) (4 meetings)  {Smeetings)  (2meetngs)  (Bmeeatings) {5 meetings)

Sir Robert Finch 7 - 2 - -
D A, Fischel 7 - - B 5
JG Abdl 7 - - - 6 -
RWT Buchanan 5 3 5 2 - _
D PH Burgess 7 4 4 2 - -
R M Cable 5 - - - 6 -
K E Chaldecott 7 - - - 6 -
G J Gordon 5 - - - - -
1D Hawksworth 7 - - - 5 5
IJ Henderson 7 - 4 - - -
L James 6 - 5 2 - -
M Rapp 6 - - - 6 5
R Rowley 6 3 - - - -
AC Smith 7 - - - 8 5
N Sachdev 6 - - - - -

The Directors have aways had high levels of
attendance at Board and Commttee meetings
There are a numnber of Important Committee
meetngs between Board meetings and these
are nomally fully attended Mesting papers are
distnbuied n a tmely manner grang Drectors
sufficient ime to consider matters for discussion
In additbon, Dwectors are kept fully nformed of
progress on matters between formal meetings
by way of ad hoc meetings and other
commurecations on a regular basis

The pnncipal business commtment of Sir Robert
Finch, the Charman, 15 his Chairmanship of
Lberty International

Mr Hawksworth 15 a director of AIM-Ested

Japan Residental Investrment Company Limited
No other Execuive Dector of Liberty International
PLC currently serves as a Non-Exscutive

Ciractor elsewhere

The terms of reference for each of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination and Review
Committees descnbed below are avadable on the
company’s website The terms of apponitment for
each of the Non-Executve Direciors are avalable
on wntten request from the Company Secretary
at biberty Intematonal

Capital Shopping Centres Capital Projects
Committee and Capital & Counties Capntal
Projects Committee

Dunng the year, the Gapital Projects Commtiees
for CSC and C&C reviewed all projects and
project expenditure In detad The members of the
CSC Capita Projects Commuttes were Mr Rapp
{Chawman}, Mr Fische!, Mrs Chaldeoott, Mr Cable,
Mr Blis, Mr Hawksworth, Miss Kirby, Mr Perera,
Mr Srmuth, Mr Abed, Mr Bramson and Mr Spnddell

The members of the C&C Caprtal Progets
Commitiee were Mr Rapp (Chairman), Mr Fischel,
Mr Smuth, Mr Hawiksworth, and Mr Yardley

In additon, Sir Robert Finch attended the CSC
and C&C Capstal Projects Committee meetings

in February 2008, the Board deaded to establish
an Investment Commutiee to review al maor
prajects, in place of the Capital Projects
Committees The new Investment Commitiee

13 chared by Mr Rapp, a Non-Execuive
Drrector The members of the Committes are
Sir Robert finch, Mr Fischel, Mr Hawksworth,
Mrs Chaldecott and two other Non-Executve
Drectors

Audrt Committee

The members of the Audit Commttee dunng
the year under review were, Mr Burgess
{Charman), Mr Buchanan and Mr Rowley

Sir Robert Binch attends at the request of the
Committee The Board considers all three
members of the Commitiee have recent and
relavant financial expenence All members are
independent in the Board's opinion

The Audit Commttee 15 respansible for, among
other matters, monitorng the adequacy of the
aroup's firanaal and intemal controls, the efficency
and aptness of the company’s nsk management
and inswance procedures and arrangements,
accounting palices and firancial reporting and
aresponable approach to axation, providing a
forum through which the auditors can report to the
Board and for ensunng the promsion of information
to enable the Board to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the company’s
postion and prospects The Audit Comsmitiee
monitors and reviews the effectveness of the
ntenal audit actviies

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
arg reviewed annually

recommendations on the appointrment,
reappontment or removal of the company’
extemal auditars, To date the Board has always
accepted the Audit Committes’s recommendation

In the event that the Board doas not accept the
Audit Committee’s recommendation, a statement
will be prowded in the comparny's annual report
and accounts

Uiberty International has a policy to ensure that

the prowision of non-audit serwces does not imparr
the extemal auditor’s independence or objecimty
The term “non-audit senacas” does not Include
reference to any advice on tax. The Audd
Commuttee has delegated to the Exacutive

Directors the authonty to contract for non-audit
services with the external auditors subject to
obserng the following gudelines

{a) Executive Dxrectors have the authonty to
commusaon the external auditors to undertake
non-audit work where this s in refabon to
a specific project with a cost not exceeding
the lower of 250,000 of 15 per cent of the
estmated annual level of the auditors’ fees for
the tme being If the cost 1s likely to exceed the
mits mentioned above, the agreement of the
Chairman of the Audit Committee 1s required
before the work 1s commissioned,

{b) when external auditors are considered for
the prowsion of non-audit work, the Executve
Directors must consider whether proposed
arrangements will maintain audt
Independence,

{c) the externd auditors must certify to the
company that they are acting independently
and the Audit Committee or the commissioning
Drector {as apphcable) must be satisfied that
such s the case,

{d} in provding a non-audit senace, extermal
auditors should not

{} audit ther own work,
{1} make management decisions,
(i} create a mutuality of interest, or

(v} find they have placed themsetves in the
rolé of advocate for the company

Corporate Responsibility Committee

Liberty Intermational’s strong commutment to
high standards of Corporate Responsibiity is

the respongbilty of the Chasman and the Board
of Liberty Intemationat and s managed through
a CR Commutiee compnsing Sir Robert Finch
{Charrman), Mr Fischel, Mr Nicoll responsible

for Corporate Responsibiity}, Mr Henderson,

Mr Burgess, Mrs James and Mr Badcock

The CR Managemeni Committee compnses
Dwectors and Senior Executives from all sechons
of the business and reports to the CR Comnultee,
whech in turn reports to the Board
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Nomination and Review Committee

The members of the Nomination and Review
Committee are Sir Robert FAinch (Chairman),
Mr Buchanan, Mr Burgess and Mrs James
The terms of reference of the Nomination

and Rewiew Commuttee are reviewed annually

The Committee 1s responsible for carmying out
an annual performance evaluation of the Board,
its Committees and indvdual Drectors, as well
as making recommendations to the Board on
gppointments to the Board and to subsidiary
Boards and on succession planning 1n 2007
the established practice of a comprehensive
performance evaluation of the Board, ts

Corporate governance (continued)

Committees and indmdual Directors was camed
out by way of detalled questionnarres folowed
by discussion, the resuits of which were
considered by the Nomination and Review
Committee, the Board, and the relevant

Board Committees In addition, the Servor
Independent Director cames out an annual
evaluation of the Chairman

The responses to al questions relating to the
performance of the Board and i1s Committees
were generally highly positive and showed a
continued high level of satisfaction with the
performance of the Board and its Committees

Indeperdent

There 1s a comprehensive induction programime
for new Directors and the Commuttee conssders
the need for exsting Directors to update and
refresh ther slalls and knowledge as part of

the annual performance evaluation exarcise

The Nomination and Review Commitiee has
deterrnined that the curert balance of skills,
knowledge and expenence on the Board

and on the Board Committees 1s satisfactory,
but wall of course be kept under review

The compogsition of the Board, In terms of the
balance of ndependent and non-independent
Drectors, 1s as folows

M Cpinion n
of d

Non-Independent
NN
of d

D A Hschel Executve Director)

RM Cable [Executve Director)

KE Chaldecott {(Executive Drrector)

1D Hawksworth (Executive Director)

A.C Smith (Executve Director)

JG Abel (was Executive Director until Sept 05)
RWT Buchanan (note 1)

DPH Burgess

G J Cordon {representative of major shareholder)

IJ Henderson
L James

M Rapp {note 1)
R Rowley

N Sachdev

AN

AR NN S NN

Total*

I NENENENEN

7

~Code provision A3 2 of the Combined Code on Corporate Goverrance states that * - at least half the Board, excluding the Charman, should comprise Non-Executive Drectors

determined by the Board to be independent”

Note 1 — Mr Buchanan and Mr Repp have each served on the Board for more than nine years Notwithstanding the length of service, the Board consders that
Mr Buchanan and Mr Rapp are sach fully independent and free from any busness or other relationship which could interfere with the exercise of ther ndependent ndgement
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The contimueng independence of each of

Mr Buchanan and Mr Rapp was carefully
congidered and reviewed by the Board dunng
the annual performance evaluation, and the
Nomination and Review Committee also
undertook a separate review specrfically focused
onindependence, taking into account the 1ssue
of Board succession and refreshment

The conclusion of both reviews n 2007 was
that Mr Buchanan and Mr Rapp reman robustly
Indepandent

In forming this view, the Board and the
Normination and Review Cormmittee considered

(8) therr financial ndependence from the company,
(b) ther bustness commitments outside the
company, {c) ther personal character, and {d) ther
expenence as evdenced by ther past and present
careers In partcular, Mr Buchanan is the former
UK Seruor Partner of global business consulting
firn Bain & Company Inc, and became the Dean
of the London Business School n September
2007 Mr Rapp 1s Charrman of Foral Holdings
Lmited The reviews were considered by the
Board to be in depth, speaffic to the ndmdual

and sutably ngorous The entre Board, and
significantty the ndependent Non-Exscutiva
Directors, were unarymous In judging both
Dwrectors as independent

In addition to baing a member of the Audit
Commities and the Nommation and Review
Committee, Mr Buchanan 1s the Charrman of
the Rermureration Comnitiee, a post which he
took up in 2004

Shareholders should also take into account the
compary’s general adherence to high standards
of corporate governance and the active process
of Board refreshment in place, as demonstrated
by the appointment of two independent
Non-Executive Directors in the past three years

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee
are Mr Buchanan (Chairman), Mr Burgess,

Mr Henderson and Mrs James

The Commitiee’s primary responsibiliies are

to determine the remuneration packages and
other terms and condiions of service appiying

to Executive Directors and Serior Executives of
the group and the provision of incentmsation and
performance related benefits to any Executive
Director or employee The Drrectors’ remuneration
report 1s set out on pages 60 to 64

Corporate governance (continued)

Independence of Non-Executive Directors

At the start and at the end of the year at least half
the Board compnsed independent Non-Executve
Directors The Code requires that the Board
should identrfy each Non-Executive Director it
considers to be ndependent Accordingly, detals
for each Dwector are set out below

MrJ G Abe! Mr Abdl joined the Liberty
International Group in 197 2 becoming a Drector
of Caprtal Shopping Centras in 1994 and
Managing Director of Capital Shopping Cantres
in 2001 He became a Non-Executive Director
of Liberty Intemaional i October 2005 Mr Abel
18 not therefore conaidered by the Board to be
fully tndependent

MrRW T Buchanan Mr Buchanan has
served on the Board for more than nine years
and accordingly offers himself for annual
re-elechon by shareholders Mr Buchananis
regarded by the Board as independent and he
has confirmed in writing to the Board that he
knows na reason of which the Board might
otherwise be unaware as to why he should not
be considered independent  Further explanation
regarding the independence of Mr Buchanan s
provided under the sechon headed “Nomination
and Review Commitiee™ above

MrD P H Burgess Mr Burgess was apponied
to the Board in 2001 Mr Burgess 1s considered
by the Board as ndependent and he has
confirmed in wnting to the Board that he knows
no reason of which the Board might otherwise
be unaware as to why he should not be
considered ndependent

Mr G J Gordon Mr Gordon is the son of

Sr Donald Gordon, the former Charman

of Liberty International and a substantial
shareholder Mr Gordon 1s not therefore
considered by the Board to be fully ndependeant
Mr Gordon has served more than nine years and
accordingly ofters himself for annual re-glection
by shareholders

MrtJ Henderson Mr Henderson was apponted
to the Board on 7 February 2005 Mr Henderson
15 regarded by the Board as independent, and

he has confirmed in wnting to the Board that

he knows neo reason of which the Board might
otherwise be unaware as to why he should not
be considered independent

Mrs L James Mrs James was appointed

to the Boardin 2004 Mrs James 1s regarded

by the Board as Independent, and she has
confirned Inwmting to the Board that she knows
no reason of which the Board might otherwase
be unawars as to why she should not be
considered ndependent

MrM Rapp Mr Rapp has served on the Board
for over 20 vears The Board considers that

Mr Rapp 1s fuly independent and s free from

any business or other relationship which could
matenally interfere with the exercise of his
independent judgement, notwithstanding hus
length of servce Mr Rapp has confirmed in
wnting to the Board that he knows no reason of
which the Board might otherwise be unaware as
to why he shoud not be considered independent
Further explanation regarding the indspendence
of Mr Rapp 1s prowded under the section headed
“Nomnation and Review Committee” above

MrR Rowley Mr Rowley was apponted 1o the
Board in 2004 Mr Rowey 1s regarded by the
Board as independent, and he has confirmed in
wnttng 10 the Board that he knows no reason of
which the Board might othenwise be unaware as
to why he should not be conaidered independent

Mr N Sachdev Mr Sachdev was appointed to
the Board on 1 November 2006 Mr Sachdev
18 regarded by the Board as indgpendent, and
he has confirmed in writing to the Board that
he knows no reason of which the Board might
othermse be unaware as to why he should not
be constdered independent
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Internal control

Its the Board's responsibiity to oversee the
group's system of intermal control and to keep
its effectveness under review The system is
designed to manage, rather than shminate,

ihe nsk of falure to achisve buainess objectves
and can provide only a reasonable, rather than
absolute, assurance against matenal
misstatement or loss

The Board has established an ongoing process
for identifying, evaluatng and managing the
signficant nsks of the group and this has been

i place throughout the year ended 31 December
2007 and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts 1 1s reguiarty
reviewed by the Board and it comphes with

the 1999 Turnbull Commiftee's internal control
gudance for Directors

Liberty International has an internal audit funcbion
The Internal Auditor reports to the Audit
Committee and, in addition, has reguiar mestings
with the Chairman of that Committee

The Board regularly recerves detaled reports
setting out key performance and business nsks
from the indimdual business units, together with
financial reports Monitonng of key indicators
allows the Board to consider control 1Issues
The Board receves reguiar reports through the
Audit Commuttes from both the ntemal audi
and compliance functions, which may include
recommendations for improvernent

The internal audit function cames out an annual
review of iflemal controls, which includes a
group-wide certification that effeciive internal
conirols are in place and ars bang operated
effectively The Internal Auditor carmes out a
programme of venification of the certification
and reports his findings to the Audit Commitiee

Internal financial reporting

Key mnternal financial reporting procedures,
whuch exist wathin the wader system of control,
are descrbed under the following headings

Financial information The group has a
comprehensive system for reporting financial
resuits to the Board, sach business unt prepares
regulzr financial reports wath compansons aganst
budget The Board reviews these for the group
as a whole and takes action when appropnate

Major investments All major investments

of tha group, whether n the ordinary course

of busness or of an exceptiona naturs, are
reviewed by at least one Commeties of the Board
and by the Board ntself before being authonsed
and mplemented

Group treasury The group has a centralised
treasury function which reports 1o the Board

on areguar basis The reports provde detads of
counterpartes, miterest rate and foregn exchange
nsks and dervatives Additional information on this
subyect s gvenin note 21 on pages 37 to 42

Corporate governance (continued)

Operating unit financial controls Key controls
over majr finanaial nsks include reviews aganst
performance indicators and exception reporting
The operating units make regular assessments

of therr exposure to mapor finanaal nsks and

the extent to which these nsks are controlled
These assessments are considerad and reviewed
by the Board and by regular internal audt wats

The Board has conducied a revew of the
effectiveness, on the basis of crtena set out In the
Turnbull Committee’s Guidance for Diractors —
“internal Control and Fnancial Reporting” issued
in 1999, of systermns of ntemal financal contrdl for
the year ended 31 December 2007 and has taken
nto account matenal developments which have
taken place since the year end

Non-compliance with the Combmed Code
It1s the opwreon of the Board that Liberty
International fully complied with the prowisions of
the Code for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2007

D P H Burgess
Senvor independent Drector on behalf of
the Board

7 March 2008
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s pnnaipal
responsibility 1s to detesmine remuneration for the
goup’s Executive Directors and senior executves
The Commitiee 1S conshiuted under terms of
reference lai down by the Board These terms
are designed 1o enable the company to comply
with the requirements relating to remuneration
poticy contaned in “The Combined Code on
Corporate Governance” {"the Code™ The Code is
rssued by the Finanaal Reporting Councl The ful
terrns of reference of the Committee can ba found
on the Liberty International website and copies are
available on request

The members of the Remuneration Commuttes
dunng the 2007 financial year were Mr Buchanan
{Chairman), Mr Burgess, Mr Henderson and Mrs
James The Chairman, Chief Executrve, and
Company Secretary attended meetings by
invtation and prowided advice to the Committee to
help t make informed decisons  No drector was
present when his Or her own remuneration was
beng discussed Dunng the vear, the Commities
met five times

The Committee also recenved nformation and
indepandent adwice from Kepler Assocates, an
external consultancy, who were appointed by the
Committee Dunng the year, Kepler Associates
provided advice to the Committeg on market
trends, incenive design and other remuneration
matters Kepler Associates does not aduse the
company on any other matters

Remuneration policy for Executive Directors
The company's remuneration paicy ams to
attract, motvate and retain high calibre executives
by rewarding them with competitive compensation
and benefit packages These packages are linked
to both business and indmvidual performance in
determining pokcy. the Remuneration Committee
has grven full consideration 10 the best practice
provisions of the Code  The Remuneration
Commuttes has complied with the pnnaples and
provisions of the Code in developing remuneration
polkcies These policies align directly the interests
of Executive Directors and semor staff wath the
pertormance of the company and the interests

of shareholders Thers s no formal requirement
for Dvectors to hold shares in the company
However there 1s an expectation that Directors
will want to own shares Indeed the maonty

of Dwrectors, both executive and non-exective,
do own shares in the company

The key objectives of Uberty International's
remuneration policy are to

* Algn executive and shareholder interests

Reward executives pnmanly for results

Atiract and retain high quality ndwduals

Prowde value for money for shareholders

Deliver upper quartile total remuneration for

upper decile performance

» Follow best practice as far as possible, and
explan any dvergence

¢ Be smple and flexibie

Directors’ remuneration report

Thes report 1s produced n accordance with Schadute 7A to the Companies Act 1985 niroduced by the Drectors’
Ramuneration Report Regutatons 2002 and contans both auditable and non-auditabls information. The nformation
subject 1o awdit 1s set oul n table 3 and table 4 on pages 63 and 64 respecively

The policy and the components of ihe
remuneration package as described below
were appiied dunng the year under revew

The components of the remuneration
package are

{1) Annual base salary and benefits

Salanes of Executive Directors and other staff

are reviewed annually in the light of compettive
market practce, mcluding reference to
comparable data of other companies Iin the

FTSE 100 and the real estate sector The man
alements of the benefits are pension contnbutions,
prvate healthcare and the prowsion of company
cars or cash altematve

(2) Performance-related remuneration
Performance-related components nclude
annual bonus arrangements as well as the
annua review of salanes In the light of Indnadual
and corporate performance The policy 1s to
place emphasis on the performance-related
components of each Drector’s remuneration,
whilst ensunng that the base salary remans
competitve

The aggregate cost of annual bonuses which
may be provided under the group's annual bonus
scheme, excluding employer's National Insurance,
15 not expected to excesd 40 per cent of the
aggregate base salanes of all elighle employees
There 18 no specified maxmum award for the
indradual Directors However, the Commitiee
pays close regard to the overall remuneration
cutture of the company n this respect The
Remuneration Committee decides on the
appropnats level of bonus award for Drectors
each year depending on group results and
indvidual performance [n relabon to the annual
share-based bonuses for Drectors and senior
executves, the Remuneration Committee sets
ngorous and challengng additional performance
critena based on personal and corporate targets
Exceptional performance 1s also rewarded

Bonuses are paid by way of allocation of

cash as well as Reastncted and Additional shares
with a view to ensunng that the group hasin place
effective reward and retention plans

Performance cntena for payments under the
annual bonus arrangements are based on the
achievement of both corporate and indvidual
resutts and obyectives against predetermined
budgets and targets

The corporate performance targets for the annual
bonus amangements are descnbed in the
followmng table

Table 1

Annial bonus targets Comparator

Shareholders’ Funds Pror year
Sharehdlders' Funds

Asset Performancs IPD Monthly Index

Profit before tax, Budget and

valuation, and Prior year profit

exceptional lems

for the year

In addition, each executive 1s evaluated on
both indmdual and overall corporate obiectves
The ndmdud obyectives are talored before

the beginring of each year and include specific
strategnc, financial and implementation goals
Bonuses are set on the achievernent of

those obectves

Mot less than two-thirds of the annual bonus
for Executive Drectors s deterrmired on the
bass of obyectve performance measures,
prmanly financial

Followang the end of the financial year, the
Committee reviews the performance of executives
and the group as a whole, aganst the set
corporate and ndmdual obyectves and then
determines the level of bonus payable

Part of the bonus 1s awarded, at the comparty's
slection, in the form of shares in the company,
condittonal on the Indnduals concerned
remainng n employment for specified penods
The Remuneration Committes decides each
year on the proportion of cash and shares to
be awarded to employees

The conditonal awards compnse “Restncted”
shares and “Addbonal” shares Additonal
shares awarded are equal to 50 per cent of the
Restncted shares and SIP shares (see below)
combined Employess must remain in
employment with the company for penods of
two years after the date of award for Restncted
shares, and four years afier the date of award
for Additbona shares, before such shares

are released

New incentve arrangements

Dunng the year, the Rernuneration Commities
conducted arevew of Liberty Intemational’s
Executve Director and Servor Executve
remuneration, advsed by Kepler Associates
As a resutt of thes review, the Commitiee
conciuded that performance-related incentives
should be changed to suppor the continued
delvery of strong performance s ntended
o introduce a new discretonary performance
related bonus plan to replace the
Supplementary Bonus Plan No further
awards will be made under the Supplementary
Borus Flan

The new arrangaments will be in addition to the
normal annual bonus arangements The new
performance related bonus plan will be nked to
both absolute and relatve shareholder returms
as wel as growth in eamings With this new plan
In place, the aggregate cost of normal annual
bonuses, excluding National Insurance, has
been reduced from a maxamum of 40 per cent
of aggregate salanes in 2006 and 15 not expected
10 exceed 25 per cent of the aggregate base
salanes of all eixgible employees, except in
exceptional orcumstances

itis the company’s policy that a significant
proportion, up to 70 per cent of Executive Director
and Senor Execuinve total remuneration be
performnance-related
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In addibon to supporting the Committee’s
remuneration policy, the key objectves of the
new arangemenis are 1o

&) Algn the nterests of executves with
shareholders,

b) Play a wital role in the retention and recrutment
of talent, and

¢) Encourage additona long-term shara
ownersnp by executives, based on delvenng
supenor performance

The aggregate pool for the plan will be based on
three measures Total Retum on Shareholders’
funds, out-performance of the lovestment
Property Databank (IPD) Capital Growth Index,
and absolute EPS growth

The Commuittes belioves these measures to be
the best mdicatans of success and are abgned
with shareholder value creaticn

To provide further ahgrment wath sharehotders,
Indvdual awards will be deferred nto shares and
released after 2 and 4 years Deferred amounts
would be forfated on resgnation

At the end of the performance penod, the
Remuneration Committee wall allocate awards

on a discretionary basis from the pool based on
indmdual performance but having regard to the
measures descnbed The Committee will consider
Emaronmental, Social, and Governance
performance when determning both the overall
ncentive pool at the year end and the allocation
of the incentive pool 1o ndmduals

It 1s the Committes’s desire to mantain a near
median base salary culture while prowding
ncantives that can deliver an upper quartde level
of total remuneration for sgnificant out-
performance  The net effect 1s to increase the
emphasis on “pay for parformance”

in 2007, the prnciples of the new arrangements
were used by the Remuneration Commitiee to
determune Executrve Director and Senor Executve
bonuses. The Remuneration Commuttee s
satsfied that the 2007 Execuve Director and
Senor Executive bonuses are approprate in the
light of the company's exceptional relatve
performance for the year

In 2007 the Chref Executive’s vanable
compensation was 209 per cent of his base
salary Fusther detals of the Executve Directors
indmadual bonus awards in cash and shares
under the annual bonus scheme for the year
ended 31 Decamber 2007 and the previous year
are st out on pages 53 and 64 and in note 36

Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

{3) All employee share schemes

The comparny has in recent years operated and
provided funds for an Employee Share Ownership
Plan (*ESOPT) whech uses the funds fo purchase
shares reguired under the annual bonus scheme

No options have been granted since 2004

It 18 intended to renew the company’s Share
Option Scheme at the Annual General Meeting
in 2008 as the exasting scheme 15 due 10 expre
in 2009 It s considerad necessary ¢ mantan
option schemes to provide fiexbility 10 the
Remuneration Commuttee both in respect of
exsting and potentia senior execulives and
employees To the extent any options are granted
{6 Executve Directors and Senior Execuives, the
value of these option grants would be taken into
account in determiming the annual Performance
Incentve Plan outcome

The comparty operates a Share Incentve
Ptan (“SIP") for all ehgble employees, ncluding
Executive Drectors, who may recene up to
£3,000 worth of shares as part of ther annual
bonus arrangements The SIP arangements
offer wortiwwhile tax advantages to employees
and to the company Also, as part of the SIP
arrangements, the company offers eligible
employees the cpportunity to participate n a
“Partnership” share scheme, the terms of which
are govemned by inland Revenue reguations

{4) Pensions

Executive Drectors and staff who joned

the comparty pnor to Apnl 1997 continue to
partcipate I the group's defined benefit pension
scheme This scheme provides a pension of up 1o
two-thrds of salary on retrerment, dependent on
length of service and Inland Revenue approved
Imuts. Pengion contnbutions for Executve Drectors
are calculated by reference to base salary

Executive Directors and staff who joined or join
the company after Apnl 1997 are eligble to recene
defined contnbution pension benefits

Mr Fischel and Mr Smith electad for “Enhanced
Protecton” under the Government's “single
fetne it whvch came nito force n Apat 2006
Accordingly they receive a monthly sum, in liew of
any contnbution by the company to ther pension
arrangements On an annual basis this sum does
not exceed the amount of the company's normal
pengsion contnbution on thesr behalf and 1s
presently capped at 24 5 per cent of salary PAYE
and Nl are deducted The cost to the company s
no hgher than the present cost of pension
coninbutions and assocated Iife assurance
premmiums

No aspect of remuneration other than base salary
is pensionable

Deatads of the penston benefils provided
to Executve Dwrectors for the year ended
31 December 2007 are set out on page 64

(5) Service contracts

The company’s policy 1s to provide contracts
terminable on 12 months’ notice or less on either
side Executive Directors have roling senvice
contracts which are terminable on 12 months’
notice on etther side None of the existing serice
contracts makes any prowvision for termenation
payments, ather than for payment in beu of notice
In the evont of the company teminating an
Executive Director’s contract the level of
compensation would be subject to mitigation

if considered appropnate and legally sustanable
No termination payments wers made duing

the year to any former Drectors of Liberty
Internatonal

Table 2

The f senace contracts in respect of
Executive Dwrectors who were in office duning
2007 are rolling senice contracts and therefore
do not have an end date

Date of

commencamant
of conract  Nobee penod
R M Cable” 11 Apnl 2000 12 Months
K E Chaldecott” 6 Apnl 2000 12 Months
DA Fischel 24 June 1999 12 Months
| D Hawkswortht 1 Sept 2006 12 Months
AC Smith 24 June 1989 12 Months

* Coniract with Capral Shopping Centres PLC
1 Contract with Capital & Countes Limited

Remuneration policy for

non-executive Directors

All non-executve Drectors with less than nine
years service have been apponied on fixed temms
of three years, sutyect to renewal thereafter
Thase with more than 9 years service, Messrs
Rapp. Gordon and Buchanan, have a term of one
year Non-executnve Directors each recewved a fes
of £45,000 per annum in 2007 Non-executive
Directars who are members of the Audit
Committee recenved an additional £5,000 per
anrurm and members of the Remuneration
Committee recerved an addiional £5,000 per
annum The Charman of the Audit Committee
recaved £10,000 per annum and the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committes recenved
£10,000 per annum Non-executive Directors
recaved no benefits from therr office other than
fees They are not eligble to partcipate in group
pension arrangements

Non-executve Directors are entitled to recerve
an additonal payment of an amount equa to
ther basic annual fee in the event of a change
1 contral of the company
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

our closest comparator group for this purpose, the FTSE Real Estate Index TSR 1s defined as share pnce growth plus renvested dvidends  For additional

informaton, a graph showing the TSR for Liberty International compared with the FTSE 1001s provided

The followang graph shows the Tota Shareholder Retum (“TSR’) for Liberty Intemational over the five-year penod ended 31 December 2007, compared wath

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) for penod 1 January 2003 to 31 December 2007

Performance graph
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

Directors’ emoluments — Table 3

Drectors’
fees and
Benefits other
Salary and nknd Other remuneration Aggregate Aggregate
senvica contract  (including car Annual {sea notes Drectors” padby  emoluments®  emoluments”
FEATILRERNON allowance) cash bonus below) fous Other foes subsidiares 2007 2006
Name £ £ £ £ [ £ £ b
Charman
Srr Robert Finch® 375,000 22,298 48,878 446,176 427 067
Executive
DA Fischef 430,562 18,880 100,000 103,335 652,877 655,448
KE Chaldecott 287,500 10,762 45,000 343,262 325,101
RM Cable 275,000 18,980 43,500 337,480 307,223
1D Hawksworth® 311,250 18,980 134,500 100,000 564,730 306,346
JI Saggers
{retred 26/10/2006) 343512
AC Smih* 268,750 18,980 100,000 63,156 450,886 382,916
Non-executive
JG Abel 45,000 60,000 105,000 105,000
D Bramson
{retired 31/03/2006) 11,250
RWT Buchanan 45000 20,000 65,000 55,000
DPH Burgess 45,000 30,000 75,000 60,000
G J Gordon 45,000 45,000 45,000
tJ Henderson 45,000 5000 50,000 50,000
L James 45,000 10,000 55,000 45,000
™M Rapp 45,000 40,000 85,000 80,000
RO Rowey 45,000 5,000 50,000 42,500
N Sachdev’ 45,000 45,000 6,667
Total 1,948,062 108,980 423,000 315,369 405,000 170,000 3370411 3,248,030

* Aggregate emoluments excluda share bentses and pensons which are dataded below

1 Sr Robert Finch recened £48 878 under contractual arangements whereby he s entitied to receve each quarter such addtional remuneration that wil purchass 1000
Liberty international ordinary shares

2 M Fischel recenved a payment of £103,335, reprasentng 24% of basic salary in leu of accruing further benefits under the defined benefit scheme

3 Mr Hawksworth was appointed on 15 September 2008 Mr Hawksworth receved a jorng borus of £250 000, £100 000 of which was pad on 1 September 2005 and a further
£100 000 of which was pad n Mareh 2007 A firal sum of £50 000 will be pasd wn March 2008

4 Mr Smith recerved a payment of £63 156 representing 23 5% of basc salary in lleu of acerung further benefits Lnder the defined benefit scheme

5 *Cther foas” nelude a total of £55,000 paid to Mr Abal n connection with consultancy arrangements

6 Mr Sachdev was apponted on 1 November 2006

Sir Donald Gordon retired as Charman on 30 June 2005 Dunng 2007 a total of £350,000 (2006 £350,000) was pad to Sir Donald in connection
with his Life Prasidency and consultancy arrangements

Mr Dawd Bramson ietired from the Board on 31 March 2006 Dunng 2007 Mr Bramson receved £10,000 as Chairman of the Trustess of the
bberty International Group Retrement Benefit Scheme and £5,000 as a member of the CSC Capital Projects Committee

Dunng 2007, Mr Hawiksworth receved a fee of £20.000 in respect of his Non-Executive Drrectorship of AIM sted Japan Resdenual Investment
Compartyy Limated

Benefits provided for the Chairman and Executive Directors relate pnmanty to the provision of a car or car allowance and medical insurance

Full detalls relating to the holding and exercise of share options by Dwectors and the performance conditions relating 1o the opbons are set out in note 36
to the accounts, whch are subyect to audit

Bonuses for Executive Drectors were determined on 7 February 2008 (under the annual bonus scheme for the year ended 31 December 2007) Part of the
bonus entitlement will be taken I cash, part will be awarded in the form of shares under the SIP, and a further part as a condibonal award of shares in the
comparty The SIP shares are held n trust for a penad of five years to qualify for tax advantages The condibonal awards compnse “Restncted” shares and
“Additonal® shares Addional shares are equal to 50 per cent of the Restncted and SIP shares comibined The Restncted and Additional shares will be
raleased respectively two and four ysars after the date of the award, prowided the Dwrector has remained in sece
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Directors’ remuneration report (continued)

The bonus share awards to the Executve Directors were as folows

Narme SiP Rastricted” Additional
D A FRschel 302 53,461 26,882
I D Hawksworth 302 26,580 13,4414
AC Smith 302 - -
K E Chaldecott 302 20,061 10,181
RM Cable 302 4,765 2534

* The rumbers and values of shares shown above are based on a share price of £9 92 per share
The interests of Directors in prevous condittonal awards of ordinary shares under the amnual bonus scheme are detalled in note 36 on pages 48 to 50

Directors’ pensions — Table 4
One Director, Mr Hawksworth, was a member of a money purchase scheme, contnbutions of £74,700 (2006 £21,143 from 15 September 2008) were
made in the year by the company on s behalf Four Directors were members of a defined benefit arrangement, benefits earned being as shown below

Two disclosures on transfer values are required, one 1s defined by the Drrectors’ Remureration Report Reguiations 2002, which nitroduced Schedule 7Amto
the Comparves Act 1985 — see (g) below The other 1s defined by UKLA Listing Rules, denved from the Comparies Act 1985 — see (b) below

The Companiss Act Schedule 7A disclosure shows the difference between the transfer valuation of each Director’s 1otal pension benefit both at the start and
at the end of the year The valuation takes into account, at each such date, the Dwector's age, certain economic factors and financial market conditions, the
bass of calcuaton apphed at that date, and any ncrease inpension In some years, the effect of the change n factors used i the calcuation can cutwengh
the actual iIncrease in pension By contrast, the Listing Rudes disdosure 1s based on the actual increase n pension beneiit n the year and states the transfer
value of the Increase using actuanal factors as at the year end

(a) Disclosures as required by Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985

Increasa n Increase in Increase n
accrued Transfer Transfer ransfer value  transfer vakie
Total pension  pension aver vahig of value of over yesr ouer Yok,
accrued at the year baneiits berefits Increasen less Dvector  less Dvector

31 December {nchud 1 Januar¥ 31Decamber  ranster value  contrbutionst  contrbutonst
2007" nilabon 200 2007 over year 2007 2006
Name £pa £pa £ £ £ g £
RM Cable 55,514 12,844 496,957 812,632 315,675 301,925 86 525
KE Chaldecott 86,420 17,716 701,701 1,123,978 422,277 407,902 117,292
D A Fischel' 155,259 5,691 1,837,342 2431671 594,329 594,329 82,537
ALC Smith’ 83,058 5.850 885,667 1,220,630 334,963 334,963 45223
Total 380,251 42,201 3,921,667 5,588,911 1,667,244 1,639,119 331,577

* The pension entitiement shown 15 that which would be pad annually based on service to the end of the year
t The transfer valuo has been calcutated on the basis of actuanal adwice n accordance with Actuanal Gudance Note GN11 less the Drector's contributions

(b) Addrtional disclosure required under the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authonty

crease naccrued Transfer value of

pension aver the yoar ncrease (less Drector

fexcluding nfiaton) contributions)

Name Epa £
RM Cable 11,308 146,009
K E Chaldecott 15,243 178,511
D A. Fischel' 307 4,453
AC Smih' 3,174 43,485
Total 30,032 372,458

Notes

1 On 5 Apri 2006, Mr Fischel and Mr Smith ceased to acerue further bensfits i the defined bersfit scheme as a result of new pensions lagsiation which ntroduced the sngle
Eetime imt” Mr Fischel and Mr Smith have each since 5 April 2006 recenved an actuaraly determned amount of cash, subject to PAYE and NI deductions, as setout n the
footnotes to Table 4 above i Seu of accruing further benafits under he definad beneafit scheme  Although no additionat benefits have bean accrued, deferred berefits are retated

to curment salary

Dwectors who are members of the Retrement Benefit Stheme have the oplion to pay additonal voluntary contnbutions No contribubons were made
n the year

Robin Buchanan
Charman of the Remunesration Commttee, on behalf of the Board

T Bl
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Five year record 2003 - 2007

Balance sheet
UK GAAP IFRS
2008 2004 2004 2005 2006 2007
£m £m tm £m £m £m
Investment properties
UK shopping centres 3,7603 4,362 9 4,340 58380 6,542 8 6,466 0
Other 8649 9500 048 6 10088 16443 2,156 8
46252 53129 52976 6,937 8 8,871 86228
Cther assats less current labilties 3663 3812 4516 661) 193 4 462
Total assets less current habiities 49915 56941 57492 68,8717 8,380 5 8,669 0
Long-term debt {1,814 4) {2,1188) (2,268 0 (2,970 2) (3,493 7) (37737
Convertible bonds 2339 2354) (2209 (105 4) (1087 (111 3)
Provsions for liabililes and charges {83 8 959 {726 1) {863 0) 457 {7151)
Total shareholders’ funds including minonty nterests 28594 3.2440 25342 2,933 1 47324 4,708 9
Profit and loss account
2003 2004 2004 2005 2006 2007
Em m m Em £rn tm
UK shopping centres 1759 1812 187 4 2356 2720 2888
Other commercial properties 614 640 689 845 6886 754
Exhibition - - ~ - - 101
Net rental income 2373 2452 2563 3001 3406 3743
Propenty trading 45 09 62 116 328 2.9
Other income 108 89 89 26 20 {0o9)
Administrative expenses (24 8) (26 5) {27 2) (29 2) (342) (45 2)
Share of operating profit of jont ventures g1 77 - - - -
Operating profit 2359 2452 244 2 2851 3412 3311
Net nterest payable (131 7 (129 5) (i37 2 (164 2) (186 1} (200 5)
Profit before taxation, valuaton and exceptional items 1042 1157 107 0 1209 1551 1306
Gains on revaluations and sale of investment properties - - 3573 5655 5865 {279 1)
Exceptional profiis 58 426 322 (137) 20 33)
Change n far value of denvative financial nstruments - - @14 (145 8) 1635 270
Profit on ordinary actmties before taxation 1100 1583 4551 5269 9031 {124 8)
Profit for the financial year
attnbutable to shareholders after taxation and minonty interests 806 1246 3321 3663 1,564 1 (105 0)
Ordinary dvdends Frn 840) (81 1) (863) {97 4) (122 1)
Transfers 1o retained profit 28 406 2510 2800 1,466 7 {227 1)
Per share information
2003 2004 2004 2005 2006 2007
Earnings per share before excephional iterns {adjusted) 27 45p 26 02p 27 1p 298p 3390 360p
Eamings per share (basic) (includes exceptional itermns) 26 25p 3932p 104 8p 114 8p 462 1p (29 0)p
Dradends par share 2500n 26.50n 26 50p 28 25p 31 00p 34 10p
Net assets per share {diluted, adjusted) 906p 1017p 1025p 1188p 1327p 1264p
Ordinary shares in 1ssue 318 6m 317 3m 317 3m 335 4m 361 7m 361 5m
Ordinary shares n issue (diluted) 351 7m 352 1m 352 1m 352 Om 377 1m 376 4m
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Shareholder information

Registrars

All enquines concermning shares or shareholdings, iIncluding notification of
change of address, quenes regardingloss of a share certificate and dwdend
payments shoud be addressed to

For shareholders registered n the UK

Capita Regqustrars

The Regstry, 34 Backenham Road

Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU

Telephone 0871 664 0300 {calls cost 10p per minute plus network exiras)
{within UK)

+44 208 639 3399 (outside UK)

Facamile 020 8639 2342

Emal ssd@capitaregstrars com

WwWw Capritarecastrars com

For shareholders registered in South Afnica
Computershare Investor Services (Ply) Lid
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001

South Afnca

Postal address

PO Box 61051

Marshalitown 2107, South Afnca

Telephone +27 11 370 5000

Facsimile +27 11 688 5221

www computershare com

For shareholders holding
Amencan Deposttary Receipts
The Barnk of New York

Investor Senaces

PO Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286-1258
Freephone number within USA.
1-888-BNY-ADRS (1-888-269-2377)
Telephore number outside USA.
+1-610-382-7836

Email shareowners@bankofiy com
hitp./Avaww stockbny com

Payment of dvidends

Shareholders who wish to have ther dvdends paid drectly nto a bank or
bulding society account should complete a mandate form avalable from the
appropnate regstrars

Share price mformation

The latest information on the Liberty Intemational PLC share pnce 15 avalable
on the website www liberty-international co 1k

Web-based enquiry service for shareholders

Found at www capitaregistrars com, shareholders registered n the UK

can use this senace 1o oblan detals of ther shareholdings and dmdends
The shareholder's sumame, Investor Code (found on any correspondence
from registrars) and posicode are requred 10 use this service  Shareholdess
may also use this serace to amend or change ther address and dwdend
mandate detais

Share dealing

Exsting UK shareholders may trade Uberty International PLC shares through
Capita Share Dealing Servicas who provde an easy to use, real-ime ontine,
telephone and postal dealing serace www caprtadeal com telephone

0871 664 0445 (cals cost 10p per minute phus network extras)

Electronic communication

Shareholders’ consent to send or supply communications to shareholders
via the company's website was received at the Annual General Meeting in
April 2007 The company will now be supphying information such as the
Annual and Intenm Report va the website 1o shareholders who have
consentad to such communkcation Shareholders wil be notified by smal
or post when new Iformaton 1s avalable on the webste

Shareholders can at any time revoke a previous instructon in order to recetve
hard copes of shareholder information

UK shareholders may register to recene commumications glectronically by
logging on to the website of the UK Regstrars fwww caprtaregistrars com)
and follovang the instructions given to regster an emall address Once
regstered, shareholders are sent a “Notice of Avallabiity” emal highlighting
that the Annual Report, Intenm Raport or Notice 1s available for vewing on
the website
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Management structure and advisers

Liberty International PLC

Property Companies

Capital & Counties

Sv Donald Gorden  President for Lia

Capatal Shopping Centres

Chairman snd Executive Directors
Sr Robert Fineh, Charman

Dand Fischel, Chef Executive

Awdan Smith, Fnance Director

Rchard Cabla

Kay Chaldecott

lan Hawksworth

Kay Chaldecoti, Maraging Director
Richard Cable Demetopment Drector
Martn ElEs, Constructon Drector

Caroline Krby, Assat Management Drector
Trevor Parera, Commercial Drector

lan Hawksworth, Managng Drector
Gary Yardiey, Chief investrment Officer
Bl Black, Exacutive Drector

Gary Marcuccili Executve Owrector

Non-execirive Diractors

John Absl

Robr Bucharan

Patnck Burgess

Graeme Gordon (Alternate — Richard Gordon)
lan Henderson

40 Broadway, London SWiH 0BU
Telephane 020 7887 4220

Facaimie 020 7887 4225

www capital-shopping-centres co uk

40 Broadway London SW1H 08U
Telaphone 020 7887 7000
Facsmie 020 7887 0000

www capitalandeounties com

Business Units

Group Managers

Covent Garden London

Company Secrotary
Susan Folger

General Corporate Counsel
Hugh Ford

Property Management

Jorathan Ansley, Martn Breeden

Kate Grant Phile Wardle

Centre Management

Bob Tingie

Devalopment & Construchon
Coles, Robert Danks

Chares Forrester Gavn Michel)

Leasng

Jie Lawrence

Beverley Crurchull Andrew Hicks
0207395 3765

Earls Court & Olympia

W eco o Uk
Robn Barton 020 7370 8488

Capco Urban

www capitalandcounties com
Mark Imms 020 7887 7000

Capital & Counties US.A inc

Regrsterod Office

40 Broadway, London SW1H 0BT
Talephone 020 7960 1200
Facsrile 020 7960 1333

General Managers

Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow

www brashead co uk
Peter Beagley 0141 885 1441

Ragesterod Number
3685527

Chapelfield, Norwach

Tumner Nawton President

100 The Embarcadero, Suite 300

San Francisco, Californa CA 94105 USA
Telephona 001 415 423 5100
Facsmile 001 415 421 6021

WWW CEPCOUnt-usa com

Websrte
www berty-international co uk

www chapelfield co uk
Steve Bunce 01603 753340

Group Treasury and Accounting

The Chuimes, Uxbnidge

waww thechimes uk com
Tony Dunn 01895 818400

Mark Kidoa Treasurer
Mike King Financtal Controller

Eldon Square, Newcastie upon Tyne Auditors

www @ldon-square co uk PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
T Lamb 0191 261 1891 Chariered Accountants and
The Glades, Bromley Ragsterad Auditors

www theglades uk com Solicitora

Howard Cidsten 020 8313 9292 Linkters

The Harlequin, Watford

www theharlequin uk com
Michaal Stevens 01623 250292

Lakegide, Thurrock

www lakeside uk com
Steve Chandier G1 708 860087

The Mall at Cnbbs Causeway, Bnstol

www malicribbs com
Jonathan Edwerds Q117 91555655

Manchester Arndale

www.manchesteramdale com
Glen Barkoworth 0364 833 9851

MeatroCentre, Gateshead

www matrocenire uk.com
Barry Tumbull 0181 483 0200

The Pottenes, Stoke-on-Trent

Wi pottenas uk.com
Paul Lancaster 01782 289822

St David's Centre, Carditf

www_stdawdsshopping co uk
Steven Madeley 026 2039 8041

The Victona Centre, Notungham

www victonacantre uk com
Paul Francis 0115912 1111
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The company's website, which
contains further information, is available
at www.liberty-international.co.uk




